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COMPANY PROFILE
AR

Beijing Energy International Holding Co., Ltd. (listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange) is striving to be a leading
global eco-development solutions provider, which is principally
engaged in the development, investment, operation and
management of power plants and other clean energy projects.
As of 31 December 2022, the Group and its associates
owned 107 solar power plants and 21 wind power plants with
an aggregate grid-connected installed capacity of approximately
5,827.24MW, which had total electricity generation volume of
approximately 7,228,582MWh for the entire 2022. In particular,
the Group held 125 power plants with an aggregate grid-connected
installed capacity of approximately 5,603.44MW, which had total
electricity generation volume of approximately 7,141,204MWh.
Our power plant network covers various provinces/autonomous
regions including Hebei, Inner Mongolia, Xinjiang, Qinghai,
Guangdong and Zhejiang, etc.

Under the rapid growth of the clean energy industry, the
Company has attracted many strong investors, including BEH
(an integrated energy service enterprise of Beijing City),
CMNEG under CMG, China Huarong (one of the four major
asset management companies in China), QCCI| (a state-owned
enterprise) and ORIX Corporation (an international large-scale
group providing integrated financial services).

The Group aims at building the most efficient and advanced
clean energy operation and maintenance platform, and
establishing a green ecosphere by employing a low-carbon and
sustainable development model, so as to bring clean energy
into millions of families.

In the future, the Company will continue to seize the historical
opportunities emerging from the transformational changes in
international energy industry. By adhering to the development
concept of “focusing on main business, national layout, and
worldwide development” and with rapid quality development
as the core, the Company will accelerate the construction of
clean energy industrial ecosystem dominated by green energy,
complemented by multiple energy sources and characterised
by smart collaboration, in order to become a firstclass
international clean energy ecological investment operator and
strive to maximize the value of the Company and the interests
of Shareholders.
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COMPANY PROFILE

REVENUE (RMB’MILLION)
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PROFIT (RMB’MILLION)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Ping (Chairman)
Mr. Lu Zhenwei

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Bing
Mr. Su Yongjian
Mr. Li Hao

Mr. Lu Xiaoyu

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Jin Xinbin
Ms. Li Hongwei
Mr. Zhu Jianbiao

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

Ms. Li Hongwei (Chairlady)
Mr. Zhao Bing
Mr. Zhu Jianbiao

Remuneration Committee

Ms. Li Hongwei (Chairlady)
Mr. Su Yongjian
Ms. Jin Xinbin

Nomination Committee

Mr. Zhang Ping (Chairman)
Ms. Jin Xinbin
Mr. Zhu Jianbiao

Risk Control Committee

Mr. Zhang Ping (Chairman)
Mr. Lu Zhenwei

Mr. Su Yongjian

Mr. Li Hao

AUDITOR

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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SOLICITORS
Bermuda

Conyers Dill & Pearman

Hong Kong

Tian Yuan Law Firm LLP

Mainland China
Zhong Yin Law Firm

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd.

China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Development Bank

China Everbright Bank Company Limited

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Societe Generale

The Export-Import Bank of China

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN BERMUDA

Ocorian Management (Bermuda) Limited

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1012, 10/F., West Tower, Shun Tak Centre
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

WEBSITE
http://www.bjei.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BT

Dear Shareholders,

In the past year, BJElI overcame the adverse impact of the
volatile global economic environment, the pressure from
multiple aspects on China’s economy and the recurrence of the
pandemic. By refining the development path laid down by the
“14th Five-Year Plan” based on the principles of establishing
“bases, synergies and internationalism”, the Company formed
the “dual-circle, one-center and one-focus” development layout,
with all businesses achieving remarkable results.

In terms of market development, we construct the “north-
circle” base project in Northeast China, North China and
Northwest China. The approval of the 2.38GW base project in
Tongliao, Inner Mongolia marks an important milestone in the
Company’s new stage of development. The Company’s base
projects currently reserve over 20GW of resources. We build
the “south-circle” gigawatt-level project clusters in the coastal
areas in Southeast China, with construction guidance on new
energy projects in Guangdong, Jiangxi, Yunnan and Hainan
successively obtained. We centre on promoting the green and
low-carbon energy transformation of the capital. The “Green
Power into Beijing” projects in Inner Mongolia and lJilin are
recognised and supported by the local governments. The first
phase of the 60MW centralized photovoltaic project in Dayan,
Mujiayu, Beijing has been successfully filed. We also focus on
the overseas markets in Australia and Vietnam, with current
overseas installed capacity in operation exceeding 600MW and
reserve capacity reaching 1.6GW.
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In terms of business layout, we have expanded from pure
photovoltaic power generation to clean energy (such as wind
power and hydropower), hydrogen energy, energy storage and
integrated energy businesses. The installed capacity of wind
power in operation exceeds 1GW. The capital increase
agreement regarding Baoshan Energy’s approximately 1GW
hydropower project has been reached. The integrated energy
trigeneration project in Yangxi, Guangdong based on the energy
supply of the park has been approved. Three shared energy
storage projects in Shandong and Guangxi have been filed.
Application for the wind and solar energy storage and
hydrogen-produced green ammonia project in Duolun is in full
swing. A new business model of industrial integration focusing
on “agricultural technology + ecological tourism + smart
energy” for “rural revitalisation” will be implemented soon.

In terms of operation management, the first public offering of
photovoltaic REITs in China has been officially launched. The
financing platforms of Sembcorp and other projects are
progressing at a faster pace. New financing instruments such
as ABS, ABCP and industrial funds are being promoted
actively. The financial and capital management capability has
been constantly enhanced. The Company’s financing interest
rates and average cost are reduced. Engineering construction
has made steady and orderly progress. Safety production has
been upheld with stability and solid foundation. The
advantages of scientific and technological management are
prominent. Initiatives to enhance management have been
launched in full scale. Tasks such as risk control and
compliance, team building and corporate culture cultivation all
achieved remarkable results.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
B

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to announce the results
of BJEI for the year ended 31 December 2022:

In 2022, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
RMB4,115 million and net profit of approximately RMB472
million. Total assets amounted to approximately RMB60,328
million with grid-connected installed capacity of 5.8GW. The
aggregate installed capacity of clean energy which was
controlled by the Company and to which the Company was
officially entitled was approximately 12GW. The green electricity
produced throughout the year reached approximately
7,228,582MWh.

Growing together, sharing the same future and embracing the
prosperous era of clean and low-carbon energy.

According to the statistics of CINNO Research, the investment
amount of new energy projects in China reached RMB9.2
trillion in 2022 (including Taiwan). The new energy industry has
become a key investment area in China’s economy.

This is a great era. Rapid development, quality operation, high
utilisation and competitive advantages all bode well for China’s
new energy industry, which has already made many milestone
achievements. In 2022, the newly installed capacity of wind
power and photovoltaic power in China exceeded 125GW,
hitting a record high. The total installed capacity of wind power
amounted to 365GW and that of photovoltaic power reached
393GW, driving the installed capacity of renewable energy to
exceed 1,200GW. The annual generation of wind and

photovoltaic power exceeded 1 trillion kWh for the first time,
accounting for 13.8% of the total power consumption of the
society, which was close to the domestic power consumption
level of urban and rural residents in China.
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On the national level, it has become a consensus to promote
quality development in the new energy industry in China. By
innovating the development and utilisation model of new
energy, accelerating the construction of a new power system
that adapts to the gradual increase in the use of new energy,
deepening the reform of “power delegation, regulation
innovation and service efficiency” in the new energy sector,
supporting and guiding the healthy and orderly development of
the new energy industry, ensuring the reasonable room and
demand for new energy development, maximising the ecological
and environmental benefits of new energy, and optimising the
fiscal and financial policies that support the development of
new energy, the overall planning and layout of the development
of the new energy industry will be completely reshaped to
focus on overcoming the constraints of the power system’s
adaptability to large-scale, high-proportion new energy grid
connection and absorption and the major limitations on land
resources, ushering in a new era of development in the new
energy industry.

High-quality development is based on local conditions. On the
one hand, the Group will accelerate the construction of
large-scale wind power photovoltaic bases focusing on deserts,
Gobi Desert and barren areas, promote the integrated
development of new energy exploration and utilisation and rural
revitalisation, encourage local governments to increase efforts
to support farmers in using their own building roofs to develop
household photovoltaic, and actively promote the development
of distributed wind power in rural areas. On the other hand, in
qualified industrial enterprises and industrial parks, the Group
will accelerate the development of new energy projects such as
distributed photovoltaic and distributed wind power, support the
construction of industrial green micro-grid and the integrated
projects of source, grid, load and storage, promote the
complementary and efficient utilisation of multi-energy, carry out
pilot projects for direct power supply from new energy, and
increase the proportion of new energy power used by
end-users.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
B

High-quality development lies in the utilisation of market
mechanism. By supporting direct trading with users for new
energy projects, carrying out pilot projects for green power
trading, establishing and improving green energy consumption
certification, identification system and publicity system,
improving the green power certificate system, promoting green
power certificate trading, strengthening the effective connection
with the carbon emission rights trading market, and leading the
entire society to consume green power such as new energy.
The Group will improve the compensation mechanism for
peak-shaving and frequency modulation of power supply,
strengthen the flexibility transformation of coal-fired power
units, and the construction of projects in relation to
hydropower expansion, pumped storage and solar thermal
power generation, promote the rapid development of new style
of energy storage, and comprehensively improve the power
system regulation ability and flexibility.

High-quality development lies in improving supporting policies.
The State has further improved the land use control rules for
new energy projects, established a collaborative mechanism
among relevant units such as natural resources authorities,
ecological environment authorities and energy authorities,
encouraged the promotion and application of land-saving
technologies and land-saving models, encouraged the
integrated development of “wind power, solar power and
fishery”, strictly implemented the requirements for the control
of ecological environment in separate zones, coordinated the
arrangement for the use of land parcels, forests, and grasses
for construction projects of large-scale wind and solar power
bases, and incorporated the spatial information of new energy
projects into the “one map” of national land space planning in
accordance with regulations.
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From the macroeconomic perspective, 2023 is also a year for
China to sets its sights on full economic development given
the rapidly diminishing disruption caused by the COVID-19
pandemic, which will promote the improvement of the overall
economic situation, stabilise the expectation of development
and boost market confidence. From the perspective of the
domestic energy industry, strengthening investment in energy
infrastructure, building large-scale wind and solar power bases,
orderly developing key projects for cross-provincial and
cross-regional power transmission channels, promoting the
construction of new power systems, and improving clean
energy consumption and storage capacity will become
important supporting pillars for the expansion of domestic
demand and stabilisation of economic growth. From the
perspective of market segments, adjustment and optimisation
of the energy structure and strengthening the development of
wind power and solar power will be focused in 2023. It is
expected that the newly installed capacity of wind power and
photovoltaic power will reach 160GW in 2023, representing a
year-on-year increase of over 33%. From the perspective of
market competition, the development of new energy power
stations in China has gradually entered the base-based era,
and there are more and more difficulties in terms of
investment amount and construction management. This year,
more than 70% of the investors of new energy power stations
are still state-owned enterprises, and the market monopoly
position of state-owned enterprises will be further enhanced.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
B

Facing all challenges ahead and overcoming all difficulties
encountered to promote the high quality and efficiency of the
Company’s business development.

2023 is a crucial year for China to continue its
implementation of the “14th Five-Year” development plan and
also a breakthrough year for the Company to overcome all
difficulties encountered and start a new chapter of
development. From the perspective of the domestic new energy
development situation, the competition among central
state-owned enterprises is increasingly fierce, which not only
includes the development capability of their projects, but also
the local economic development demands. We will increase our
efforts in self-development in terms of business layout and
improve project implementation capability; in terms of the
development model, we will focus on the trend of multi-energy
integration and integration of industry and finance and study
the development model of industrial synergies with an aim to
form a relatively competitive advantage through integrated
development; in terms of development and innovation, we will

increase resources investment in shared energy storage,
actively participate in green ammonia and other hydrogen
energy industrial sectors, and improve the Company’'s

technological investment and digital transformation speed.

Increase efforts in self-development with a focus on the “dual
circle”. By leveraging the national development idea of new
energy bases with “deserts, Gobi Desert, and barren areas” as
the key areas, the Group will focus on promoting the “north-
line” base projects in regions in Northeast China, North China
and Northwest China such as Harbin and Qigihar in
Heilongjiang, Songyuan and Baicheng in Jilin, Tongliao, Hohhot,
Xilingol League and Ulangab in Inner Mongolia, Fuxin in
Liaoning, Zhangjiakou and Tangshan in Hebei, Hami and
Changji in Xinjiang. The Group will accelerate the application of
the “south-line” cluster projects in Shandong, Jiangsu,
Hainan and Yunnan.

Zhejiang, Guangdong, Guangxi,
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Accelerating the promotion of green and low-carbon
transformation of the capital. The Group will make every effort
to solve all difficulties, with an aim to accelerate the fulfilment
of medium-term compliance of the projects for “Power
Transmission from Inner Mongolia to Beijing” and “Power
Transmission from lJilin to Beijing”, in order to achieve key
breakthroughs. The Group will strengthen its efforts in the
development of the local market in Beijing by following the two
main principles of “doing the best with full capacity” and
“leading as a role model”, and accelerate the implementation
of its existing reserve projects while proactively identifying any
“photovoltaic + smart agriculture” industrial integration
projects, for which, the Group will integrate new energy,
modern agriculture, cultural tourism, health care and other
industrial sectors in different phases to form a new model of
new energy development in the suburban areas of the city,
demonstrating the responsibility of a state-owned enterprise in
the capital.

Focusing on the overseas markets in Australia and Vietham to
achieve in-depth development. The Group will conduct in-depth
research and judgment on geopolitical risks and overseas
investment risks, further focus on overseas investment areas,
and accelerate the promotion of overseas asset securitisation
while promoting the investment and construction of its existing
projects and the development of new projects, striving to
integrate overseas assets to achieve independent listing
overseas.

Enhancing construction capacity to ensure that projects can
commence operation as scheduled. The Group will accelerate
the development of a special construction project management
model, gather the joint efforts of the entire company, give full
play to management efficiency, optimise construction
organisation, and ensure safety and quality; with the focus on
strengthening and improving the professional capabilities of the
engineering construction team, the Group will overcome all
difficulties to commence operation of its projects as
scheduled, so as to achieve breakthroughs in the Company’s
infrastructure construction work.
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Promoting business development in relation to shared energy
storage and wind and solar energy storage and
hydrogen-produced green ammonia. While ensuring that the
existing shared energy storage power stations in Shandong and
Guangxi will be completed and commence operation as
scheduled, the Group will further expand its development
layout of energy storage business in key areas such as
Jiangsu, Zhejiang and Guangdong, strive to enlarge its scale of
energy storage development by increasing capacities with more
than 1GWh, and effectively coordinate the market development
of new energy projects through its development layout of
shared energy storage power stations. The Group will
accelerate the preliminary work of its wind and solar energy
storage and hydrogen-produced green ammonia project in
Duolun and strive to meet the conditions for commencement;
based on the characteristics of wind and solar power
resources, water resources and transportation conditions in
Ulangab, Inner Mongolia, the Group will further expand its
development layout of the green ammonia project.

Speeding up the digital transformation. On the basis of the
overall planning of the Company’s digital information, the Group
will accelerate the construction of a basic framework for digital
management and control, realising internal information
resource integration, data sharing, data analysis, and auxiliary
decision-making, promoting the upgrading of the Company’s
industrial ecology, and fully demonstrating the digital efficiency.
In combination with the construction of the Company’s
comprehensive risk management system, the Group will
accelerate the unified deployment and construction of financial,
contract, investment, engineering and production management
systems based on its capital The Group will
continue to promote the construction of the big data
production and operation centre, and make changes in
management model, which will be gradually improved through
pilot projects and promoted in all aspects to achieve digital
empowerment.

resources.
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Promoting the transformation of the Company’s operation and
management model with in-depth and expended development
layout and a wide range of measures.

The high-quality development of the enterprise is reflected in
various core indicators such as profitability, growth capability,
investment income, capital operation efficiency and debt
repayment capability. In 2023, with the focus on value, the
Company will promote the transformation of its corporate
operation model from the strategy level, aiming to gradually
transform from a new energy operation enterprise that solely
holds heavy assets to a new energy asset investment
management company that pays attention to value, and
explore the path to transform into asset-light operation.

Accelerating the establishment of a corporate credit rating
system. On the basis of the “A” long-term foreign currency
issuer credit rating assigned by Fitch Ratings and the “BBB+”
long-term issuer credit rating assigned by S&P Global Ratings,
the Company will also accelerate its work in relation to
domestic credit rating to obtain an “AAA” long-term corporate
credit rating from Lianhe Credit Rating, so as to completely
improve BJEI's independent financing channels in the domestic
open market, thereby further expanding its financing channels
and reducing its financing costs.

Raising equity funds through multiple channels. New energy
heavy assets with poor liquidity will be gradually transformed
into financial assets with good liquidity. While consolidating the
corresponding financial assets, the Group will continue to
provide management services through production and
operation, and gradually transform from the direct holder of
energy assets to the manager of energy assets, with an aim to
improve the liquidity of assets and realize the integration of
industry and finance; it will focus on promoting the subsequent
issuance of ABS and ABCP with renewable energy subsidies; it
will introduce external equity capital to enhance equity
diversification at project level; and it will promote the

subsequent expansion of publicly offered REITs so as to
actively promote the issuance of equity financing instruments
such as asset-backed notes and perpetual bonds.
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Improving capability in spot power trading. The Group will
accelerate the research and integration of the Company’s
production and operation model, establish a professional team
to study the response measures for national unified power
market construction, and develop a unified spot power trading
management structure of the Company. On the basis of
adhering to the overall planning of the Company and taking
into account the actual situation of different trading
mechanisms existed in various provinces, the Group will
improve its ability of making market-oriented trading strategies
on the provincial level, so as to ensure its first-tier ranking in
the same region and develop a comparative advantage.

Developing and improving the carbon asset management
system. The Group will continue its efforts in the pilot projects
for Chinese Certified Emission Reduction (“CCER”) development
by following mainly the implementation of national policies on
the commencement of CCER development for new energy
projects to seize market opportunities. The Group will actively
carry out CCER professional training, strengthen the dynamic
management of carbon asset project database, striving to
maximize the returns of carbon assets.

Promoting strategic development layout of emerging business.
On the basis of the new energy investment and operation
business, the Group will increase its efforts in research and
analysis of advanced technologies in the upstream and
downstream industrial chain, with the key research areas
focusing on the critical technologies and products relating to
energy storage, hydrogen energy as well as multi-energy
complementation, and make investment for incubation with
industrial funds to further develop core technical capability
within the Company’s system as a new profit growth point
when the scale effect tends to be saturated in the future.
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Focusing on industrial synergy to develop an innovative
development model. Leveraging on its practical experience in
industrial ancillary facilities such as Tongliao Industrial Park,
the Group will study the ways to replicate similar cooperation
model as a “chain leader”; it will promote the establishment
of industrial cooperation platforms, with the focus on the study
of cooperation models for appropriate ancillary industries such
as the high-end manufacturing industry, the advanced
agriculture industry, the cultural tourism and health care
industry, and explore the feasibility of mutual shareholding or
special funds to form feasible operation plans.

Optimisation of corporate structure to meet the development
needs. The Group will give full play to the advantages of the
mechanism of overall coordination and rapid response to
improve its ability in controlling complex situations and solving
complex problems, so as to achieve consistent corporate
development. By continuously learning from the advanced
models of market-oriented enterprises and international
enterprises, and based on the specific management
requirements at different stages, the Group will explore a
reasonable business management model to effectively
supplement the Company’s management and control system,
and pay particular attention to strengthening the overall
management at the development, construction and operation
stages of its projects, and also strengthen its ability in
process supervision and standard systems.

Strengthening compliance awareness to achieve comprehensive
risk management. The Group will accelerate the establishment
of a compliance system to promote the comprehensive risk
management of the Company by incorporating risk control into
all aspects of its business. In particular, with the courage for
rejection, and by taking the risk control of cooperation models
and contract terms as the prerequisite for promoting business,
the Group shall regard compliant process as a rigid constraint
and take the risk management results into consideration when
evaluating its business performance; its branches and
subsidiaries must maintain effective communication with the
management department in advance when carrying out
businesses in order to ensure that all businesses are in
compliance with laws and regulations and reflect BJEl's
fundamental management standard.
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Reinforcing the development of its corporate culture to build up
a sense of unity. Adhering to corporate culture orientation, the
Group will set clear business goals, develop a fair mechanism
and strengthen the incentive effect, creating an excellent
corporate environment and realising the organic integration of
the Company’s interests and its employees’ interests so as to
give full play to individual strength in concerted actions and
demonstrate the spirit of overcoming difficulties and sharing
happiness together, thereby maximizing the overall efficiency of
the team and achieving the goals set by the Company. We will
adhere to the market-oriented talent selection and employment
mechanism, create a fair and impartial atmosphere of
meritocracy, establish an international talent flow mechanism,
and provide a broad development direction and sufficient
development space for all types of talents.

Improving ability in maintaining investor relations. The Group
will further consolidate its foundation, attach great importance
to the management of investor relations, enhance its
capabilities as well as strengthen the sense of social
responsibility and the concept of returning to its shareholders.
The Group will provide adequate protection to its investors for
their legitimate rights and interests from three aspects, namely
investors’ right to know, right to participate, and right to
return, by improving its internal system, optimizing its voluntary
information disclosure indicator system, enhancing its quality of
information disclosure, improving its communication channels
to facilitate the communication with its shareholders, and
focusing on increasing the returns to its shareholders.

In 2022, BJElI overcame various difficulties and achieved its
development goals. 2023 will be a year of opportunities and a
window period for BJEI to continue its rapid development. With
the arrival of the post-pandemic era, China’s determination of
“stabilizing the economy” is clear, and its confidence in
economic recovery and development is even more abundant.
China’s high-quality development has entered a new stage, and
BJEI will also enter a new stage of development.
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Although the journey is long, it will be accomplished if we
move forwards; and the future can be expected if we never
stop moving forwards. Time is running out, and our original
aspiration remains unwavering and our goals remain steadfast.
In this era when a thousand boats set sail in a competition,
the one that strives for the best will be the first, we must
keep up our hard work. Only by being brave enough to stand
in front of the tide and facing all challenges ahead can we
demonstrate our value empowered by our continuous efforts
with no regrets; only by proactively seeking changes and
responding actively can we continuously create room for
development; only by recognizing and assuming our
responsibilities and overcoming all difficulties encountered can
we achieve a better future for the Company.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to all Shareholders who have accompanied
BJEI all over the years and all investors who have shown their
trust in and support to BJEI. Thank you!

Zhang Ping
Chairman

30 March 2023

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
R

BRBER TRIRE TSR > RKATHA -
AR RF o RAIBADORARE R A > IR
BIRIRARESR o EEE T TNGE - BEEE
ol R > FFIRSER R - RS
ISR~ MBI 0 A RERRREEMARRE;
HFIERE EEKRE  RIBEE > 7 EETERIE
HERTR , RAEANEEE W
ZBERRL A BRI RIF R ©

&% AANEAREFE > RORKH —BEH
REERHSURER - EEXFRERENS
fUREE o HiH |

3R
£

e s e S e

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JuntREREIBE A BR A H]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —- % — " 4E4EH);

19



.
September
hA

The largest single distributed photovoltaic project in China
— 59.95MW distributed photovoltaic carport project of
BJEI's Jiangxi Nanchang Jiangling Automobile commenced
grid-connected power generation with full capacity

EERAEROHIVCREE — RERKIAREE1HS
59.95 K RAMINCREWMBEE LB EHPES

BJEI's wind power base projects, namely the 1,000MW
wind power project of Xintong in Kezuo Houqi, Tongliao,
Inner Mongolia, and the 1,380MW wind power project of
Minglong in Horqgin District, Tongliao, Inner Mongolia, were
approved successively, making breakthroughs

RERARREAEMIBEESER N HBERNLEEN
1,000k RLABEER MAE D EENEIDEHZEL380KE
REBEERLRBESIZE

BJEI's 112MW agricultural-photovoltaic
complementary power generation project in Qixia
City, Yantai, Shandong, has officially commenced
the connection to the grid successively

REERLURESEETI2REEMEEBIER
EXFRIREEH A
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2022 HIGHLIGHTS
20224F K5

The 100MW photovoltaic project of BJEI in Aodu of Damao
Qi, Baotou, Inner Mongolia, commenced grid-connected
power generation with full capacity

REBRAR S BREREHET100KRNRNEEZ B EHN

#E

December

+_A

BJEI received its first “A” long-term foreign currency issuer credit rating
assigned by Fitch Ratings with a stable outlook

REERESBEFAE TERRIIINEZTAZETIRAIL  BERE

BJEI received a “BBB+" long-term issuer credit rating assigned by S&P Global
Ratings with a stable outlook

RERRESRE NIRRT RAEEERTRBBB+I K > BERE

BJEI's integrated energy trigeneration project in Yangxi, Guangdong, obtained
approval for its first phase of construction

REERERGEMASEMERGEREE R IREESZE

BJEI obtained the approval for its first “National High-Tech Enterprise”
FEBRER BRKESHEIMEE B

BJEI successfully carried out the issuance of ABCP for the securitization of its
first group of subsidized photovoltaic assets, revitalizing the inventory of
subsidized assets of RMB1 billion

REBREEARBREES S TCHNEERTBERBMNET  BEAREB10
RTFEMMEE

—

The in-depth cooperation between BJEI and Sembcorp Industries Ltd
attained achievements

REEERRABN T ERRATREEERREM

BJEI completed its first “Green Power into Beijing” transaction,
November achieving a breakthrough

38 RERKRTHREZGBERIRS BRIZTIHRK
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The total electriGiig
generation volume for 2022 is
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

R AR B Z

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Ping, aged 55, was appointed as the Chairman of
the Board and an Executive Director of the Company on
21 February 2020. He is also the chairman of each of the
nomination committee and the risk control committee of the
Company. Mr. Zhang served as the assistant to the general
manager, the secretary to the board of directors and group
office director of BEH, which is a controlling shareholder of the
Company; the deputy director of the party-masses work
department, the director of the general manager work
department, the assistant to the general manager, the
secretary of the discipline inspection committee and the
chairman of the labour union of Inner Mongolia Daihai Electric
Power Generation Co., Ltd.* (REGSEEESHERSEEAR);
the manager of the comprehensive management department
and the vice president of Beijing Jingneng International Power
Co., Ltd.* (IR RFERHRIERIHDBRATE); the secretary of
the party committee and the general manager of Inner
Mongolia Daihai Electric Power Generation Co., Ltd.* (R&
N8 BEAREMEAT); the general manager of Beijing
Jingneng Thermal Power Co., Ltd.* (iR REEREBRMDERA
g]); the deputy chairman of board of directors, the secretary of
the party general branch and the general manager of Beijing
Jingneng Power Co., Ltd.* (JERZRFEEHRNDEBREAT), the
shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600578); the executive director and the general
manager of Beijing Jingneng Coal-fired Power Asset
Management Co., Ltd.* (IR FFEREEESEBRAR); the
chairman of board of directors and general manager of Beijing
Jingneng International Power Co., Ltd.* (JERRFEFEFREETRIZD
BIE/AF); and the non-executive director of Datang
International Power Generation Co., Ltd., the shares of which
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 991) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601991). Mr. Zhang has over 30 years of extensive experience
in business management and the energy industry. Mr. Zhang
obtained a master’'s degree in business administration from
Fudan University and a doctorate degree in management from
North China Electric Power University.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lu Zhenwei, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 10 June 2013 and is a member of
the risk control committee of the Company. Mr. Lu is also a
director and the chairman of the board of directors of each of
China Merchants New Energy Group Limited* ({BE#iEREE
APR/AF]) and China Merchants Technology Holdings Company
Limited* (BERBEREEBEBREAE), the deputy general
manager of China Merchants Innovation Investment
Management Limited* (IAEBEIFMEEEERREMEAE), the
general manager of Shenzhen China Merchants Yinke
Investment Management Ltd.* (FRYITiAEBREREEEERR
‘AT]), and the director of New Energy Exchange Limited* (F7AE
TR S FRABR/ATE]). Mr. Lu previously served as a director of
Beijing Huahuan Electronics Co., Ltd.* (L REBEFRHDER
‘AT]) and China KZ High Technology Co., Ltd.* (FERIBS
AR /AT]). From May 2003 to May 2008, Mr. Lu served as
a director of Shenzhen GuoHua Network Security Technology
Co., Ltd.* (FINIHZERZRFEKHDBRAE), the shares of
which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000004). Mr. Lu possesses profound understanding and
unique insights in project financing and business operation and
has more than decades of extensive experience in financial
management, business management and project investment.
Mr. Lu obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from
Shanghai Maritime University and a master’'s degree in finance
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhao Bing, aged 45, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 29 January 2021, and is a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Zhao also
serves as a director and the general manager of Beijing Energy
Investment, which is a direct controlling shareholder of the
Company; the head of financial management department of
BEH, which is an indirect controlling shareholder of the
Company; the chairman of board of directors and the general
manager of Beijing Jingneng International Power Co., Ltd.* (36
RREBIRIERIRNDABRAT); a director of Bank of Beijing
Co., Ltd.* (IEHIRTTRMNDBRAE]), the shares of which are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601169);
and a director of Beijing Haohua Energy Resource Co., Ltd.*
(EREEFERRMHBR/AT) (“Haohua Energy”), the shares of
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601101). Mr. Zhao served as the deputy general manager and
the chief accountant of Beijing Jingneng Power Co., Ltd.* (163
RAEEHRMEBR/AT), the shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600578), successively
from March 2018 to July 2020; the financial controller and the
director of Haohua Energy, successively from March 2017 to
May 2018; the head of strategic investment department of
Beijing Jingmei Group Co., Ltd.* (JERREEBEBRSTAHE)
from June 2016 to March 2017; the head of securities
department of Haohua Energy from June 2013 to June 2016;
the deputy general manager and the financial controller of
Erdos Haohua Clean Coal Co., Ltd.* (S ZHim 2 ERBIEER
B1E/AE]) successively from June 2009 to June 2013; the
deputy head of finance department of Haohua Energy from
November 2007 to June 2009. Mr. Zhao has extensive
experience in finance and management. Mr. Zhao is a senior
accountant graduated from Heilongjiang University of Science
and Technology with a bachelor’'s degree in management, and
received a master’'s degree in finance from Queen’s University
in Canada.
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Mr. Su Yongjian, aged 49, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 25 February 2022. He is also a
member of each of the remuneration committee and the risk
control committee of the Company. Mr. Su also serves as the
head of energy investment department of BEH, which is a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Su served as the
secretary of the party committee and the executive director of
Jingneng Dongfeng (Shiyan) Energy Development Co., Ltd.* (&=
BEEEE (H18) sERZX B A R/AT]); the executive director of
Jingneng Shiyan Thermal Power Co., Ltd.* (RAETIBHEFRE
‘Ad]); the deputy general manager, the general manager, the
secretary of the party committee and the chairman of the
board of directors of Ningxia Jingneng Ningdong Power
Generation Co., Ltd.* (EEREEZEREZEEFREELE); and
the deputy general manager of Inner Mongolia Huaning Thermal
Power Co., Ltd.* (REXHEEHEHFRASE). Mr. Su has
considerable technical expertise in the electric power industry
and extensive experience in operational management. He has
received many awards including the 2020 China Advanced
Entrepreneur, the 2021 Science and Technology Innovation
Leader, as well as the Model Worker and the Quality
Contribution Award of Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region. Mr. Su
is a professorate senior engineer, and received a master's
degree in electrical engineering from North China Electric
Power University.
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Mr. Li Hao, aged 41, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 20 March 2017, and is a member
of the risk control committee of the Company. Mr. Li is
concurrently the executive officer and responsible for Greater
China Group at ORIX Corporation, a diversified financial
services company and whose shares are listed on the Tokyo
Stock Exchange (securities code: 8591) and on the New York
Stock Exchange (trading symbol: IX). Mr. Li has been with ORIX
Corporation since October 2007. He is also a director and the
president of both ORIX Asia Capital Limited and ORIX (China)
Investment Corporation* (BX/1* (FRE) LEHRAE), which
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of ORIX Corporation. Mr. Li has
been serving as a non-executive director of Haichang Ocean
Park Holdings Ltd. since 27 August 2018, whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2255). Mr. Li has
also been serving as a non-executive director and the
vice chairman of Shoucheng Holdings Limited, since
27 September 2018 and 15 February 2022, respectively,
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
697). Mr. Li graduated from the Graduate School of Finance,
Accounting and Law at Waseda University in Japan with a
master’s degree in business administration in finance. He has
more than 15 years of experience in the fields of investment
banking and finance.

Mr. Lu Xiaoyu, aged 53, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 2 November 2022. Mr. Lu
currently also serves as a member of the party committee and
the deputy general manager of Qingdao Chengtou New Energy
Group Co., Ltd.* (BEEWMKRHEREBRERAR), which is a
subsidiary of the Company’s substantial shareholder, QCCI.
Mr. Lu joined the QCCI group in June 2012 and worked in its
capital operation department, financial management department
and strategic investment department successively. He has
extensive experience in financial management. Mr. Lu obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in economics from Central University of
Finance and Economics and a master’'s degree in engineering
from Ocean University of China.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Jin Xinbin, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 31 December 2020.
She is also a member of each of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Jin served
as the general manager of Huaneng Energy & Communications
Holding Co., Ltd.* (ZEREEBERBEFEEREBRAE); the
chairman of the board of directors, general manager and
deputy general manager of China Huaneng International
Economic Trading Company* (FREZERERIRAKE 5 /A F)); the
general manager of Hebei branch of China Huaneng Group Co.,
Ltd.* (MEZEFEEBEABIEAT); the deputy general manager of
Huaneng Raw Materials Company* (ZEFERMEI/AF]); the vice
president of Hebei Product Enterprise (Group) Company* (;AJ1G
YIEMTX (28) A5]). Ms. Jin also served as an external
director of BEH, which is a controlling shareholder of the
Company, from March 2015 to March 2019. Ms. Jin has
extensive experience in management and the energy industry.
Ms. Jin is a professor-level senior engineer. She obtained a
bachelor's degree in metallurgical machinery and equipment
from Northeastern University and a master’'s degree in
economics from Hebei University.

Ms. Li Hongwei, aged 61, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 18 June 2021. She
is also the chairlady of each of the audit committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. Ms. Li currently also
serves as an independent director of China High Speed
Railway Technology Co., Ltd.* (#MNEEFMKRMHEERLR), the
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 000008) and an independent director of People.
cn Co., Ltd.* (AR#HRMHBERAF), the shares of which are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603000).
Ms. Li served as the chief financial officer at deputy general
manager level of Beijing MTR Corporation Limited* (JLRRAE
HEHFRAT); the deputy general manager and general
manager of the finance and accounting department, the general
manager and the chief financial officer (financial controller) of
the securities clearing department of Beijing Securities Co.,
Ltd.* (JbReBSFBREIEAE]); a supervisor of China Asset
Management Co., Ltd.* (ZEEEEEIEHBIRAF]); a member of
financial accounting committee of securities industry of
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Securities Association of China; the manager of the taxation
department of Beijing Xinghua Certified Public Accountants; the
chief financial officer at deputy general manager level of
Beijing Heguang International Jewelry Co., Ltd.* (JERANJEEIRE
ZRkEAFR/AT]); and a consultant of MTR Technical Consultancy
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (B##1iTs5:8 (JEX) BRAE]). Ms. Li is a
senior accountant, certified public accountant of China and
certified tax agent of China, with extensive experience in
financial management and accounting industry. Ms. Li
successively studied political economics in School of
Economics at Beijing College of Economics and obtained a
bachelor’'s degree in economics, and studied industrial
economics in School of Business of Renmin University of
China and obtained a doctorate degree in economics.

Mr. Zhu Jianbiao, aged 49, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 18 June 2021, and
is a member of each of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Zhu currently also
serves as a vice chairman of the board of directors and an
executive director of Shandong Hi-Speed Holdings Group
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 412), an executive director of Shandong Hi-Speed
New Energy Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1250), and an independent
non-executive director of IPE Group Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 929). Mr.
Zhu served as the chief operating officer and a member of
each of the investment decision committee and the investment
management committee of CITIC Private Equity Funds
Management Co., Ltd.* (FEEXKREETEEARAE); the
executive deputy general manager and the chairman of the
investment decision committee of Changsheng Fund
Management Co., Ltd.* (EERESEEFRAT); the chief
inspector and the director of the research and development
department of Golden Hawk Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (&
EEELEEARRAT). He was also a lecturer of faculty of
investment and finance of Guangdong University of Finance
and Economics. Mr. Zhu has extensive experience in private
equity investment, secondary market investment and financial
management. Mr. Zhu graduated from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics in planning & statistics with a
bachelor’'s degree in economics, and holds a master’'s degree
and a doctorate degree in finance from Jinan University.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Zhu Jun, aged 55, was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company on 18 September 2020. He is also the
president of the Group and a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Group. Mr. Zhu joined the Group in March 2020. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Zhu served as the manager of
equipment maintenance department, an assistant to general
manager and the secretary of party branch of Shanxi
Zhangshan Electric Power Co., Ltd.* (LUFEELBEBARSEA
g]) (“Shanxi Zhangshan EP”) successively from April 2003 to
December 2004; the chief engineer and deputy general
manager of Shanxi Zhangshan EP successively from December
2004 to March 2009; the deputy general manager of Guodian
Power Dalian Zhuanghe Power Generation Co., Ltd.* (EIEE
AEHAEEHREEAT) from March 2009 to March 2010;
the secretary of the party committee, an executive director and
the general manager of Beijing Jingfeng Gas Fired Power Co.,
Ltd* JERREWRESEREMEAE) and an executive
director and the general manager of Beijing Jingfeng Thermal
Power Co., Ltd.* (ItRREMEFREIEAE) successively from
March 2010 to June 2018; the deputy general manager of
Beijing Jingneng Clean Energy Co., Limited* (1t R FAEFZAE
BE RN ERASE)(“Jingneng Clean Energy”), the shares of
which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 579), from June 2018 to February 2020; and an
executive director of Jingneng Clean Energy from June 2019 to
May 2020. Mr. Zhu has extensive experience in the energy
industry. Mr. Zhu is a senior engineer in power engineering
technology. He graduated from Electric Power Division of
Faculty of Power of Taiyuan University of Technology with a
bachelor's degree in power plant thermal power and received a
master’'s degree in engineering from School of Power and
Mechanical Engineering of Wuhan University in industrial
engineering.

R AN B il

BEHITE

SEXEE - A+ER R-EBEEFAATA
AEZERETATERERITE - RITSHTEE
BERFTERETWBLARZES - REER
“ETRFE-_AMAKTER - MAREERF]
REENR_BB2=FHAE_FTETNF+ A
%%ﬁﬁmﬁ,@m HBERREEAE (WLEE

LIBEEE ) B AR BB A CIE B
BWERL; R _BEEFE+_AE_FBNEF=

BB EUiEELEEER TIZM  BIARKE;
A TETHNEFE=BE_EZEF-FBSEHE
BHOABTNEEERETAREELE; 1
—§—§¢:H§_§—Aiuﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
RREMREEERESTATERERL T
B EKE ﬁ??“ﬂ%ﬁ@fﬁﬁﬂﬁ
TEE HBKRE, R _E—NE~AE_Z
EEFETHEBEIERREBZRERENRDAR
~E (TRAEBEZERL) (HRRD IR PT =k
£ BRPARSE  579) BIEKIE , R_E—H
ERNBEE_TSERRABEREBZIERH
TEF - REEREFEENHERITERER
%o%%i%%ﬂl&&mﬁﬁlﬁﬁ BE
REAREBTAZBENDREI N REMAEE S
HE, TEREAZEFHEAMHTESRTE
TREEEETRETEM-

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JuntREREIBE A BR A H]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —- % — " 4E4EH);

31



32

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

AR PN B fifi

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Mr. Huang Hui, aged 50, was appointed as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company on 21 February 2020. He is also the
vice president of the Group and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Huang served as an executive
director of the Company; the deputy head of management
division of finance department and head of price control
division of Inner Mongolia Power (Group) Co., Ltd.* (NE 5%
B (EE) BEE{EAE); the deputy manager of finance
department of Beijing Jingneng International Power Co., Ltd.*
(ERREEERAERR (B RAF); the chief accountant and a
secretary to the board of directors of Beijing Jingneng Power
Co., Ltd.* (IERREEEB RN ABRAE), the shares of which
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600578); the chief accountant of Beijing Jingneng Clean
Energy Co., Ltd.* (IERREEBRAERENRMDAERAF), the
shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 579), the chief accountant of its Beijing
branch and a supervisor; the deputy department head of
financial management department of BEH, which is an indirect
controlling shareholder of the Company; a director and the
deputy general manager of Beijing Energy Investment, which is
a direct controlling shareholder of the Company; and a director
of BEH Finance Co., Ltd.* (REEEEMAFHEAE]). Mr. Huang
has extensive experience in finance and management.
Mr. Huang graduated from the Department of Finance of Inner
Mongolia University of Finance and Economics with a
bachelor’'s degree in economics majored in monetary banking,
and received a master's degree in business administration
from North China Electric Power University.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Diversification of Investment Locations and Portfolios

During the Year, the Group, striving to be a leading global eco-
development solutions provider, was principally engaged in the
development, investment, operation and management of power
plants and other clean energy projects.

Power Plant Projects

Starting from 2021, the Group has accelerated the pace of
scale expansion development of clean energy by actively
expanding the management scale of the solar power and wind
power businesses through self-development and mergers and
acquisitions, as well as continuously improving the
management of its clean energy power business. As at 31
December 2022, the Group had 105 (31 December 2021: 97)
solar power plants and 20 (31 December 2021: 7) wind
power plants with aggregate grid-connected installed capacity of
approximately 5,603.44MW (31 December 2021:
approximately 4,168.02MW). As at 31 December 2022,
except for one wind power plant located in Vietnam, the rest
of the power plants of the Group were located in the PRC. The
Group has well-diversified its solar and wind power plants in
the PRC in 23 (31 December 2021: 21) different provinces
during the Year. In addition, as at 31 December 2022, the
Group also held 2 (31 December 2021: 2) solar power plants
and 1 (31 December 2021: Nil) wind power plant through its
associates with a total grid-connected installed capacity of
approximately 223.80MW.

The Group strategically develops, constructs and acquires
power plants to achieve predetermined minimal rate of return
and selects its power plants based on a combination of
factors, including solar irradiation of the site, wind velocity of
the site, applicable FITs, government subsidies, conditions for
local grid connection, electricity transmission infrastructure and
demand for electricity, etc.

Other Clean Energy Projects

The Group owned development rights mainly in hydropower with
an expected capacity of over 5GW. The Company indirectly
holds 75% of the equity interest in the project companies
while the remaining 25% is indirectly held by the People’s
Government of Tibet Autonomous Region. The Group is waiting
for the planning of the PRC government’s ecological red line
before the construction of any hydropower plants.

In the short run, the Group will focus on the development of
solar and wind power businesses, while diversifying its clean
energy portfolios in order to supplement the multi-type energy
supply in the long run.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Electricity Generation

During the Year, the total electricity volume generated by the
power plants held by the subsidiaries of the Company has
significantly increased from approximately 3,879,751MWh for

RAEAFE > KRTNKBATMTEE 2 EELL
E’leluxg’\%éﬁgmﬁ:t—g—_i"f—:)ﬂ E+ E
IEFE 43,879,751k B KIRIZ N E L

the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately 7,141,204JK 5B > BIE4A84% o Fi A% %

7,141,204MWh, or by approximately 84%. All these power ZTILHBEHBL —HBTES o

plants are grid-connected and are generating electricity

steadily.

Table 1: Summary of Power Plants 1 BFELHE

Year ended 31 December
BE+ZA=1+-BLEE
2022 2021

k- k- &
Grid- Weighted Grid- Weighted
connected Electricity average connected Electricity average
Number of installed  generation utilisation ~ Number of installed  generation utilisation
power plants capacity volume hours power plants capacity volume hours
i MEFY i NEFs
HEIHE EHAE ¥EE  MAIR  EEUHE ERAE HEE AN
(MW) (MWh) (Hours) (MW) (MWh) (Hours)
(kE) (KEE) (INE) (kR) (KEE) (B

Subsidiaries MBAE
Solar power plants ARAEEE 105 484244  5974,027 1,353 97 384172 3,797,021 1,404
Wind power plants RAHEZ 20 761.00 1,167,177 2,560 7 326.30 82,730 N/AR@ERAY
125 5603.44 7,141,204 104 4,168.02 3,879,751
Associates HEAT
Solar power plants ABAEEEL 2 23.80 31,858 1,339 2 23.80 30,732 1,291
Wind power plant ek 1 200.00 55520 N/ARERY = — —  N/ARER
3 223.80 87,378 2 23.80 30,732

Total Bt 128  5827.24 7,228,582 106 4,191.82 3,910,483

Note: M -

(1)  Since the electricity volume generated by the newly acquired wind (1) EEE?%EH&E%E’\J}Eﬁ?éEEJ&EEEE’FﬁE’@EE%
power plants was only recorded starting from their respective B U B 5ERL B HARR tasc &% > BARREHAR D
completion dates of acquisition, and the period was less than (Y= &t*ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ¢¥$i’ﬂﬂﬁﬁd\ﬂ§ﬁfﬁﬁftt
one month, the weighted average utilisation hours were not % > BREA o

comparable and therefore not applicable.

The details of the electricity volume generated from each
province for the Year are set out below. For accounting
purpose, the volume of electricity generated by the newly
acquired or constructed power plants during the Year was only
recorded starting from their respective completion dates of
acquisition or construction, as the case may be.
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Table 2: Information of Power Plants by Settlement Types

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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F2:

As at 31 December 2022

REEHEEE

5169 % &

B EM

Year ended 31 December 2022

RZEZZ&+ZB=1-H BEZZ-ZE+ZB=1+-HLEE
Number of Grid-connected Electricity Average tariff
solar power Number of wind installed generation per kWh (net
plants power plants capacity volume Revenue of VAT)
STENR
YN 2] {4 THER
Bit¥E Ei¥E EWAS REE BA  (REHEER)
Settlement types (MW) (MWh) (RMB’&iIg?’ﬁ) (RMB)
GEEn Locations & (kE) (kEE) AEn) (ARER)
I. Power plants held by the subsidiaries
of the Company
zt’ﬂmgmﬁﬁm’f i
(i) Total capacity on-grid”
2E g
Hebei, China HEA 16 - 127835 1,465,937 499 0.34
Inner Mongolia, China ~ HEIRE & 24 - 805.00 1,086,544 732 0.67
Shanxi, China HEIFA 2 8 616.30 1,010,187 493 0.49
Xinjiang, China REHE 6 2 419.50 753,884 363 0.48
Anhui, China HEZY 3 — 357.86 235,164 123 0.52
Shaanxi, China HEBEA 1 - 300.00 487,950 327 0.67
Qinghai, China alEi =g 4 1 240.00 345,220 266 0.77
Ningxia, China THEE 2 = 220.00 306,253 237 0.77
Shandong, China HEWE 6 = 194.91 200,902 119 0.59
Guangdong, China HEER 3 = 190.00 216,273 167 0.77
Hunan, China HEHE 2 — 120.00 123,919 101 0.81
Tibet, China HERE 6 - 115.00 150,561 133 0.88
Gansu, China HEHE 1 — 100.00 147,895 116 0.78
Hubei, China FELHE 1 - 100.00 117,659 105 0.89
Guangi, China HEER 2 - 79.20 84,858 4! 0.84
Henan, China slEi bl 3 3 7429 10,403 9 0.87
Zhejiang, China QJI‘JM 2 — 61.30 57,622 47 0.82
Jiangxi, China 1 - 59.95 28,931 14 0.48
Yunnan, China 2 - 54.21 82,432 60 0.73
Sichuan, China 2 - 50.00 88,254 58 0.66
Heilongjiang, China BN — 5 45.00 57,496 17 0.30
Jilin, China EPI*M 1 - 15.00 23,930 16 0.65
Vietnam ] = fi 46.20 — — —
Subotal N 90 20 554207 7,082,274 4,073 0.58
(ii) Surplus capacity on-grid”
e gy
China HEER
(no partition) (FoHE) 15 - 61.37 58,930 42 0.72
Subtotal N 15 - 61.37 58,930 4 0.72
Total =il 105 20 560344 7,141,204 4115 0.58
II. Power plants held by the associates
of the Company
FAFBERTFENRER
Shanxi, China HEF = 1 200.00 55,520 12 0.22
Jiangsu, China TN S 2 = 23.80 31,858 68 2.12
Total At % 1 223.80 87,378 80 091
Grand Total ma 107 2 582724  7,208582 4195 0.58
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Note:

(1) The total capacity on-grid mode refers to the settlement of all
electricity volume generated by a power plant with the grid; while
the surplus capacity on-grid mode means that a portion of the
electricity volume generated by a power plant is sold directly to
the end-users and the surplus electricity is settled with the grid.

Financing

The power generation business is capital intensive in nature.
The Group has been exploring various financing channels to
enhance its financing capability and reduce its finance costs.
As at 31 December 2022, the effective interest rate per
annum for bank and other borrowings was approximately
4.18% (31 December 2021: approximately 4.40%).

On 29 June 2021, the Company has successfully issued
three-year convertible bonds in the principal amount of US$50
million (equivalent to approximately RMB320 million) due 2024
to high-quality institutional investors, which marks the
affirmation from international capital market and confidence on
the Company’s future development. The convertible bonds bear
coupon rate of 3.8% per annum and are convertible into
Shares at a conversion price of HK$0.33 per Share, which has
been reset to HK$0.30 per Share with effect from 29 June
2022. The net proceeds from the issue of the convertible
bonds amounted to approximately US$49 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB316 million), among which approximately
US$40.5 million is intended to be used for repayment of
offshore debts, approximately US$2 million is intended to be
used for offshore projects and approximately US$6.5 million is
intended to be used as general working capital. During the
Year, approximately US$2.5 million, approximately US$2 million
and approximately US$3.5 million of the net proceeds had
been utilised for repayment of offshore debt, offshore projects
and general working capital, respectively, which were used
according to the intentions previously disclosed by the
Company. As at 31 December 2022, the net proceeds had
been fully utilised according to the intentions previously
disclosed.

On 22 December 2022, a capital increase agreement was
entered into between the Company, three subsidiaries of the
Company, namely BEIED, Beijing Energy International Limited
JERBERBEEKREBRAT) and Silk Road New Energy
(Changzhou) Co., Ltd.* (#4482 EEHEER(EMN)BRAR) with
ABC Financial Asset Investment Co., Ltd.* (2IESREEKRSE
EFRAF]) (“ABC Investment”) in relation to the injection of
RMB21,000 million into BEIED by way of capital contribution in
return for approximately 42.01% of the enlarged equity interest
in BEIED (the “Capital Increase”). The transaction was
completed in December 2022. The Capital Increase not only
was structured for the purpose of financing where the
Company would obtain funding from ABC Investment, but also
would enable BEIED to raise funds to repay its debts and
reduce the reliance of BEIED on the financial support from the
Group.

By sE

(1) 2BLEEXEEEBIMEEELEMEENE
EITES , MerE EPERES IR EIFTEE
B —HHoERHETFTREBNAR  FIHE
ERUEEMETER -

=

BEEXRBRERDRERNER AER—F#
BEEEREREMRAEREE N R EEERM
BERAK RZE_F+"H=+—H> BT
B EMERNEREN KN A4.18% (B - —
F+"A=+—H : £4.40%) °

A _E—FERNB+AH ARATERIE
BOMEREERTN _E_NEHRASEE
AS0EBET HHERYARKI208ET) B
ZFHATBRES > NMEERERTIENEE
B AT RKERE LD c ZErLIRES
NEEHRASEI.8% > ol iZihRESRE
%033 (BEE_E-_—_F#B_+NBiE
S1AERBE0.307T) BIRA RN o FITAlR
RESFEMIEFREAAB495EET HEN
HWARM316EET) » HPHN40.5F5E =TT
BRENERIBIINMES  H2BEETTEAR
BIONEE RN SEBEETTEAE—REE
B o RAEE » FISTUERBEETL2588
ET N F2EBEETK35EEETEREBAR
NEFIH BN EI DR BINMERIEINMET
BINERERRE—REEE: N
+ZB=+—0 > FiiERIEFECRBLAR
Bt EIEHEA -

KRB _F+ZHAZ+"H > ARE AR
BET=FAWEAS BIREERE - ILRER
BRI BB RN B R Af#8 Z Bae IR (B IN) B
RAG) BRREMEEREARAT (RIR
RE)MBEEIESNARELZREIAARE
1,000E BT U ERREZEREERAKREN
42.01% (MBE ) 5T IR EWZE - ZRXHENT
T HE+ AR o BEAEEHNHMER
BMEI T (ARBRBIELRRRERFTESR) »
TRAERERRENEEESEHEHGE
R D IR BE B R AN S B B SR RAR o

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JLEAENBIRE R A L AT

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 — % — " 4E4EH#i



FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a net profit of
approximately RMB472 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB650 million).

Revenue and EBITDA

During the Year, the revenue and EBITDA were approximately
RMB4,115 million and RMB3,500 million, respectively (31
December 2021: approximately RMB2,825 million and
RMB2,397 million, respectively). The increase in revenue and
EBITDA of the Group was attributable to: (i) the expansion in
grid-connected installed capacity from approximately
4,168.02MW to approximately 5,603.44MW or around 34.4%
by way of acquisition and self-development of projects; and (ii)
effective operation and management of power plants.

The decrease in net profit during the Year was mainly due to
decrease in bargain purchase gains arising from business
combinations and increase in finance costs.

The average tariff per kWh (net of VAT) for the Year was
approximately RMBO0.58 (31 December 2021: approximately
RMBO.73). The decrease in the average tariff per kWh (net of
VAT) of the Company was mainly due to the continuous
increase in the grid-connected installed capacity of the
affordable photovoltaic power generation projects newly put into
operation by the Group, and the substantial increase in power
generation. Since the electricity price of the affordable
photovoltaic power generation projects does not include
subsidies, a downward trend in the overall average tariff per
kWh (net of VAT) is resulted. Table 2 summarises the details
of the breakdown of revenue generated by settlement types
and locations.

Finance Costs

The total finance costs increased from approximately
RMB1,110 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
RMB1,514 million during the Year, or a rise of approximately
36.4%, which was mainly attributable to the increase in the
average amount of bank and other borrowings. The Group
would continue to take various financing or re-financing
activities to control certain finance costs.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PR e L0 e

4 355 [c] R
RAEE > REBBSENFBOARBAT2
BET(CE-—F+-A=+—H 1 HAR

650 H &) ©

2 A EBITDA

RZASFEE > I8 A KEBITDAD B4 A A R &
4115 B TR AR 50058 (TS - —

F+ZHA=+—H: 28 AaAR¥K2,825H
BTAARIE239THETT) - AEBIKAK
EBITDARVIE N ER AR © (VB BWERE XM
BIEEHRHEERAEHL4,168.02 K FiEA
F#95,603.44JKFL > BMEARAI34.4% 5 Ke(ii) 2
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Income Tax

During the Year, the Group’s operations in the PRC are subject
to the corporate income tax of the PRC (the “PRC Corporate
Income Tax”). The statutory PRC Corporate Income Tax rate is
25%. Certain subsidiaries of renewable energy projects are
entitled to preferential tax concession. Income tax on profits
assessable outside the PRC has been provided at rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions (31 December 2021:
Same).

Impairment Charge on Property, Plant and Equipment

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 105 (31 December
2021: 97) solar power plants and 20 (31 December 2021: 7)
wind power plants with aggregated grid-connected installed
capacity of approximately 5,603.44MW (31 December 2021:
approximately 4,168.02MW). During the Year, there was no
substantial change in the operating conditions for most of the
Group’s power plants and there was no indication for further
impairment as compared to 2021. Therefore, no further
impairment test was required for the Year.

During the Year, the Group did not recognise any impairment
charge on property, plant and equipment (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB7 million, which was mainly for
construction-in-progress of abandoned projects).

Impairment Charge on Financial Assets

Management of the Company (“Management”) performed
impairment assessment on tariff adjustment receivables and
recognised an impairment charge of approximately RMB25
million for the Year (31 December 2021: impairment charge on
other receivables of approximately RMB65 million).

Trade, Bills and Tariff Adjustment Receivables

The trade and bills receivables will usually be settled within
one to six months. For the tariff adjustment receivables
represent government subsidies on renewable energy will be
settled in accordance with prevailing government policies and
prevalent payment pattern of the Ministry of Finance.

FRiS8

RAEFE » AEBRFENESARMTEE
FrrEmR (ThEEERSRY) - PREITXEMRRF
MAVEERER25% - AIBEREREENET
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wABIFT S B AR B AR E R A TR R 5t
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1058 (ZE-Z—F+"HB=+—H:97@) X
% 55 *%ﬁ&mmm_v_—¢+ B=4+—
B:7@) BAOS  AHAEKSEYN
560344 (ZE2=Z—F+ZH=+—8":
#4,168.02K F) c RAFEE » AEB A S
%ﬁmm L#/A_S_ FEARLE M EE K
iﬁﬁﬂ%ol%>¢¢§ﬁ
ﬁ ﬁﬁ fﬁﬁJ

RAEE > AEBITEMRYE BERRER
PEABESH (CE-_—F+_HA=+—08:
WARKIEET L EFEACEEERN
ERIR o

ETHEENRESH

FrRREEE (BEEE)) ENEEHMEIR
TREITRE S > WRLAFERDRES B
ARB2BH/E T (CTE—F+-B=+—H:
HMEWHRIRERRES WA ARE65BETT)

FEWARIE « RIER EEHRMEWIRE

EWERIENREREEEN—ZENEARNEN &
B EWERTE BV AE R B LR 2 BUY

Ab) %12 IR B A U BUR e B BUER B E 22 K
*E _tl\\l:l % B

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JEntREIRBIRE R A FRAT]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 — % — " 4E4EH#i



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Table 3: Breakdown of Trade, Bills and Tariff Adjustment
Receivables

31 December 2022

PR e L0 e

X3 [EWIRIE - BIER EEHAERIRER

A

31 December 2021

ZE-"H+ZH=1+—H T —F+ZA=1+—H
Grid- Grid-
connected connected
installed installed
capacity capacity
it i
KKAE KRS
(MW) RMB’million (MW) RMB’million
(kR) ARBEE&ET OkR)  AREBEER
Trade and bills receivables EWERERZE 352 265
Tariff adjustment receivables BEMMEYRSE
PRC n
Tariff Subsidy Project List EEMILBEERE 3,037.14 7,060 2,680.47 6,882
Others (Note) i (Fi5) 2,566.30 909 1,487.55 405
Total st 5,603.44 8,321 4,168.02 7,552

Note: Mainly representing the power plants to be enlisted in the Tariff
Subsidy Project List.

The problem of increasing amount of outstanding renewable
energy subsidies affects the future development of the
renewable energy industry in the PRC. In order to address this
issue, in March 2022, the National Development and Reform
Commission, the Ministry of Finance and the National Energy
Administration issued a joint notice on a national self-
examination of the renewable energy projects, focusing on the
compliance, scale of installed capacity, volume of electricity
generated, FITs, renewable energy subsidies and environmental
protection, so as to ascertain the latest factual situation of
the outstanding amount of the renewable energy subsidies. The
PRC government may cancel the renewable energy subsidies
for non-compliant renewable energy projects, thereby reducing
the overall financial pressure of the accrued outstanding
amount. During the Year, a solar power plant of the Group
located in Inner Mongolia was alleged for certain non-
compliance issues and the local authorities demanded for a
compensation of approximately RMB216 million. The
Management considered that the allegation is invalid and
without reasonable grounds. In March 2023, the local
authorities have agreed with the request of the Management
for a further review and the final decision will be announced
soon. Accordingly, the Management has made a provision for
compensation and impairment charge on tariff adjustment
receivables of approximately RMB35 million and RMB25 million
for the Year, respectively.
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On 6 January 2023, the “Announcement on the Public
Announcement of the First Batch of Compliance Projects of
Renewable Energy Power Generation Subsidy” (R ARRE—
HE B4 BEMMAREBEREMNASE)) (the “First
Qualified PI’OJeCt List”) was issued. The number of the first
batch of verified and confirmed compliance projects exceeded
6,800, among which solar and wind projects accounted for
87%, representing 40 projects with capacity of 1,739MW
under the Group’s FITs regime, representing 45% of the
approved capacity of the Group’s projects under the FITs
regime. For the remaining 55% projects which are still in the
progress of compliance review, the Group has performed an
assessment on the compliance with the prevailing rules and
regulations, and there is no significant compliance issue being
identified.

During the Year, the Group received tariff adjustment subsidies
of about RMB1,771 million. The Group expected that new
development on the national policy on the outstanding amount
of the renewable energy subsidies will be announced, and this
development is expected to reduce the outstanding situation of
subsidies to be received by the Group.

Bank and Other Borrowings

The Group is actively seeking opportunities of financing/re-
financing to lower the cost of funds and to improve liquidity.

As at 31 December 2022, the maturity and currency profile of
the Group’s bank and other borrowings are set out as follows:

RIZEZ=F—H"B (AR ME—Hrs
EREREERLEREBEEBRENAE) (MF—Ht
EHEE)) B c BIETRENERR SR
BYIE H 21 5 8186,8001E » B KGR A
BBIEEL87% » GIFEAEEN LAEEHE
TH40EER (BE3E1,739KR) » (EAEH
P EFEBEBR THNEBEIZEREMA5% © 5t
HEMAEETEREBEETMNE5%EEMS » &
legﬁffﬁﬁiﬁﬁu&%ﬁ% E1TERL 0 B EE
HEMEASHREE -

RAFE » AEBRWREERMAAREL771
BET - AEERPEHERBTAMERA
BEEREMEXREHENBEKBRRFERE
BHEERGNSAEBBUWMLEXER

IR1T R H At &R

AERREEGSRME BREMEUEE
EEMERREET RN -

RIZZZF+ZRA=+—H  x&HETK
HinERHEI AR REBESHIMT

Within Over
1 year 2nd year 3-5 years 6-10 years 10 years Total
—£R g2 =EIf NEHE +5# st
RMB’million ~ RMB’million ~ RMB'million ~ RMB'million ~ RMB'million ~ RMB’million
AREEER AREEER AREEER AREEER AREEER AREEER
RMB AEE 9,223 9,048 11,222 6,376 1,404 37,273
us$ e 5,010 1,672 = = = 6,682
14,233 10,720 11,222 6,376 1,404 43,955

Less: Unamortised loan B ABHETREER

facilities fees (28) (27) (56) (53) 1) (165)
Carrying amount REE 14,205 10,693 11,166 6,323 1,403 43,790
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Key Performance Indicators

The Group measures the delivery of its strategies and
manages its business through regular measurements of several
key performance indicators, particularly on the following ratios:
EBITDA margin, debt to EBITDA ratio, funds from operations to
net debt ratio and interest coverage ratio. The changes in the
key performance indicators for the Year were mainly
attributable to the expansion of the Group’s business scale.

EBITDA Margin: EBITDA margin is a measurement of the
Group’s operating profitability and is calculated as EBITDA
divided by the revenue. The Group’s EBITDA margin has
remained the same at approximately 85% for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021. This was mainly due to the
steady business operation of power generation during the Year.

Debt to EBITDA Ratio: Debt to EBITDA ratio is a measurement
of the number of years that will take the Group to repay its
debts assuming net debts and EBITDA are held constant. This
ratio is calculated as the net debts divided by EBITDA. Net
debts is calculated as total borrowings less cash deposits.
Total borrowings include current and non-current bank and
other borrowings and convertible bonds as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The ratio has
decreased during the Year to approximately 10.3 (31
December 2021: approximately 11.1).

Funds from Operations to Net Debt Ratio: Funds from
operations to net debt ratio is a measurement of the Group’s
ability to pay its debts using its operating income alone. This
ratio is calculated as the EBITDA net of cash interest paid
divided by net debts. The ratio has increased from
approximately 5.7% for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately 5.8% for the Year.

Interest Coverage Ratio: Interest coverage ratio measures the
Group’s ability to pay interest on its interest-bearing debt. The
ratio is calculated as EBITDA divided by net interest paid
(actual interest paid minus actual interest income received
during the Year). The ratio was approximately 2.49 for the
Year (31 December 2021: approximately 2.74).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES, GEARING
RATIO AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded current assets
of approximately RMB18,865 million and current liabilities of
approximately RMB18,610 million.

The Group has established a treasury policy with the objective
of lowering cost of funds. Therefore, funding for all its
operations have been centrally reviewed and monitored at
group level. To manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates on each power plant project, appropriate funding
policies will be applied including the use of bank and other
borrowings, issue of convertible bonds, issue of senior notes,
medium-term notes and corporate bonds or issue of new
shares. Management will continue its efforts in obtaining the
most privileged rates and favourable terms to the Group for its
financing.

The Group monitors its capital structure based on the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debts divided by total
capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position plus net debts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The capital structure (including its gearing ratio) as at 31
December 2022 was as follows:

PR e L0 e

RIE-_—&FE+-_A=+—HNEXZERE (8
FRHEASBLEE) T :

31 December 31 December
2022 2021

—EgE-C -
+=H=+r—H +f=BA=+—H
RMB’million RMB’million

ARBEERT ARBEHETT

Bank and other borrowings IR1T R Mgk 43,790 32,039
Convertible bonds AR ES 355 346
Total borrowings and convertible bonds f& =48 %8 & o] i fG &5 44,145 32,385
Less: Cash deposits B IREER (8,023) (5,844)
Net debts FE 36,122 26,541
Total equity T ARER 10,183 9,284
Total capital B R ARRE 46,305 35,825
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 78.0% 74.1%

Except for the US$50 million convertible bonds and certain
bank and other borrowings with aggregate amounts of
approximately RMB12,265 million which were carried at fixed
rates, the remaining borrowings of the Group bore floating
interest rates.

During the Year, the increase in gearing ratio was mainly
attributable to the increase in bank and other borrowings
obtained by the Group for the construction of power plants
during the Year, which resulted in a corresponding increase in
net debts. The Group will use its best endeavour to lower its
gearing ratio in the future by deleveraging its liabilities,
including but not limited to co-investing in power plants with
strategic business partners to reduce the capital expenditure.
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As at 31 December 2022, the cash deposits were RIE__F+_H=+—H BHE8EZZUT

denominated in the following currencies: FEREEE
Cash
Pledged Restricted and cash
deposits cash equivalents Total
BIEH RER
=9 RRHRE RE%EN st
RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million

ARBEET ARBEET ARBEET ARBEET

RMB AR 2,574 10 3,448 6,032
HK$ B = = 152 152
uss$ ETT 202 = 1,452 1,654
GBP R — o 1 1
AUD BT = = 183 183
VND HREE = = 1 1
2,776 10 5,237 8,023

Representing: MTHIRIBRT
Non-current portion JERNHA 947 — — 947
Current portion BNER 1,829 10 5,237 7,076
2,776 10 5,237 8,023

The Group did not have any financial instruments for hedging ZEEITEIFEELH TRANERITE o
purposes.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital commitment R_Z_-__F+_A=+—B ' x&E£BEEFH
in respect of property, plant and equipment amounted to REA¥IZ « BE &R HEMNE REEL ARNES,075
approximately RMB3,975 million. E
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Year,

the Group had the following material

acquisitions and disposals:

(a)

In March 2022, BEIED entered into equity transfer
agreements with an independent third party to purchase
the equity interests in each of Shuozhou City Pinglu
District Honggou Wind Energy Co., Ltd.* (JAMTFEE &AL
EBREEABE/AT) (“Shuozhou Wind Energy”), Xiyang
County Sineng New Energy Co., Ltd.* (EFREETAEEAER
BIRAE]) (“Xiyang New Energy”), Xiyang County Sineng
Wind Energy Co., Ltd.* (BSBHEREBRLQR)
(“Xiyang Wind Energy”) and Youyu County Sineng Wind
Energy Co., Ltd.* (GEFHRHTSERABARELE) (“Youyu Wind
Energy”) for a total consideration of approximately
RMB1,448 million. Each of Shuozhou Wind Energy, Xiyang
New Energy, Xiyang Wind Energy and Youyu Wind Energy
is a company established in the PRC with limited liability
and principally engaged in the operation, maintenance
and management of new energy power plants in the PRC.
Shuozhou Wind Energy is operating a wind power plant
with grid-connected installed capacity of 100MW, Xiyang
New Energy is operating a wind power plant with grid-
connected installed capacity of 200MW, Xiyang Wind
Energy is operating three wind power plants with grid-
connected installed capacity of 10MW each and Youyu
Wind Energy is operating a wind power plant with grid-
connected installed capacity of 99.5MW. The acquisitions
were completed in July 2022. Please refer to the
Company’s circular dated 13 June 2022 for details.

In December 2022, BEIED entered into a conditional sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third party
to purchase the entire equity interest of Fengtai County
Shengyang New Energy Power Generation Co., Ltd.* (&
BRRGHEREEARLE) (“Fengtai Shengyang”) for
a consideration of approximately RMB412 million. Fengtai
Shengyang is a company established in the PRC and
principally engaged in the operation, maintenance and
management of a solar power plant with grid-connected
installed capacity of 150MW in the PRC. The acquisition
was completed in December 2022. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 12 December 2022 for
details.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(c) In December 2022, JN Viet Nam Renewable Energy
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company in Vietnam entered into a conditional sale and
purchase agreement with independent third parties to
purchase the entire equity interest of Cuu An Wind Power
Joint Stock Company (“Cuu An JSC”) for an adjusted
cash consideration of approximately VND729,010.7
million (equivalent to approximately RMB215 million) and
contingent consideration of approximately VND71,749.5
million (equivalent to approximately RMB21 million). Cuu
An JSC is a company established in Vietham and
principally engaged in the operation, maintenance and
management of a wind power plant with grid-connected
installed capacity of 46.2MW in Vietnam. The acquisition
was completed in December 2022. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 14 December 2022 for
details.

(d) During the Year, the Group had also completed
acquisitions of certain subsidiaries in the PRC with
aggregate grid-connected installed capacity of
306.86MW. None of them is individually material to the
Group.

Save as mentioned above, the Group did not have any other
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the Year.

PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE PROSPECTS FOR
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant
investment. The Group will keep abreast of the changing
market conditions and proactively identify suitable investment
opportunities with good prospects to enhance its future
financial performance and profitability.

MATERIAL RELIANCE ON KEY CUSTOMERS

The key customers in the PRC for the sales of electricity were
subsidiaries of the State Grid and Inner Mongolia Power, which
are PRC state-owned electric utility companies that transmit
and distribute power in the PRC. As at 31 December 2022,
the receivables from the subsidiaries of State Grid and Inner
Mongolia Power were approximately 73.50% and 25.80% of the
total trade, bills and tariff adjustment receivables, respectively.

(c) MZZEZZH+H >IN Viet Nam
Renewable Energy Company Limited (7=
RABE TR EENEZENBAE) HET
B=FUBRGEEE R UEBECuu
An Wind Power Joint Stock Company
(TCuu An JSCl) HEEBAGHE » KRFHEIR
SN EHNA729,010.7TEEHEE HBE
RAARE2158 &) REBNENS
71,7495E B HEE BERNOARE
21EHE7T) ° Cuu An JSCAM MR AL
HRE FEREEREEE #EKRE
E—EHAERESE546.2) KA
BB WHEBER 2 24+28
SR sEBERESEA AR RBEATE
F+ZA+HEBNASE -

(d) MAERFEE - > ZEETERFTETREES
THBAE » A2 H RS =E%306.86
KR > SR EERNKEEEES AEET
EBEKC

PR EE SN > A B I A R AL A ) At BfY
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ESCE
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CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, approximately 52% of bank and
other borrowings of the Group were secured by the pledge over
certain power generating modules and equipment, guarantee
deposits, the fee collection rights in relation to the sales of
electricity in certain subsidiaries and/or pledge over the
shares/equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 1,011 fulltime
employees (31 December 2021: 752). Employees were
remunerated according to the nature of their positions,
individual qualification, performance, working experience and
market trends, with regular remuneration review to reward and
motivate individual performance. The Group offers competitive
compensation and benefit packages to different levels of staff,
including additional medical insurance, discretionary bonuses,
various training programmes, sponsorship for further study, as
well as share option scheme for the benefits of the directors
and eligible employees of the members of the Group. Total
employee benefits expenses (excluding share-based payment
expenses) for the Year amounted to approximately RMB351
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB201 million).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND RELATED HEDGES

The Group operates mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
For the operations in Mainland China, the transactions are
mostly denominated in RMB. Minimal exposure to fluctuation in
exchange rates is expected. For the operations in Hong Kong,
most of the transactions are denominated in HK$ and USS$.
Since the exchange rate of US$ against HK$ is pegged to
each other under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the
exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates will mainly arise from
the translation to the presentation currency of the Group. The
Group did not resort to any currency hedging facility for the
Year. However, Management will enhance the monitoring on the
Group’s foreign currency exposure, should the need arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant
contingent liability.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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INFORMATION UPDATE ON THE INCIDENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board
established an independent investigation committee which had
engaged an external independent professional advisor to
conduct an investigation which identified that (1) certain
deposits and other payments were made to NEX and its
related entities; (2) deposits were made to Shenzhen Zhiyuan
Renewable Energy Company Limited (“SzZzY”) of RMB500
million; and (3) certain payments on behalf of NEX Group of
approximately RMB303.7 million were made to one of the
limited partners of a previous joint venture of the Group.
Further details of the investigation, financial impact and
responses by the Board are disclosed in the Company’s
2019, 2020 and 2021 annual reports and announcements
dated 12 May 2020, 13 May 2020, 9 June 2020, 19 July
2020, 31 July 2020, 28 September 2020, 30 March 2021
and 29 March 2022.

Since the year ended 31 December 2019, accumulated
impairment charge of approximately RMB1,137 million was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
respect of the matters above.

During the Year, NEX Group transferred (i) equity interests of
certain companies in the PRC with valuation of approximately
RMB4 million in total and (ii) cash of RMB22 million to the
Group for settlement purpose. The Management considered
there is sufficient provision for impairment on the balances
due from NEX Group. Accordingly, no expected credit loss was
recognised for the Year.

Subsequent to the Year, NEX Group transferred cash of RMB6
million to the Group for settlement purpose.

On 28 March 2023, the Group entered into the third revised
settlement agreement with NEX Group, which was an extension
of (i) the settlement agreement signed on 24 August 2020
and (ii) the first revised settlement agreement signed on 29
March 2021; and (iii) the second revised settlement
agreement on 28 March 2022 (details are set out in the
Company’s 2019, 2020 and 2021 annual reports
respectively).
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Pursuant to the third revised settlement agreement, NEX Group
agreed to transfer (1) equity interests of certain companies
operating solar power plants in the PRC in which the fair value
of those equity interests amounted to approximately RMB30
million; and (2) approximately 274 million shares of the
Company held by NEX Group amounted to approximately
RMB44 million as at 28 March 2023, to the Group for
settlement of the net balances due from NEX Group, which are
expected to complete on or before 31 December 2023. In
addition, NEX Group agreed to pledge approximately 460
million shares (including approximately 274 million shares as
mentioned in (2) above) of the Company held by NEX Group as
collaterals to the NEX settlements to cover any remaining
unsettled balance.

The Company commits to keep its shareholders and the public
informed of all material information to appraise the Company’s
position by way of announcements on the websites of the
HKEXnews and the Company, including but not limited to
market updates of all material information where applicable.

MATERIAL EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Except for those disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have any other
material events occurred after 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this annual report.

PROSPECTS

The year of 2023 is crucial for China as it is implementing the
“14th Five-Year Plan” while moving towards the future and
building on the past. It is also a vital year for deepening the
reform of the power system and comprehensively promoting
the development of the electricity spot market. In addition, the
Chinese government has clearly stated its firm commitment to
realizing the strategic goals of “carbon peak and carbon
neutrality”. To this end, it will guarantee a stable energy
supply, promote green and low-carbon development, and
persist in accelerating the construction of a new power system
dominated by new energy to achieve high-quality energy
development.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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A stable and safe energy supply is key to supporting
sustainable and healthy development of the Chinese economy.
Ensuring energy resources security is as important as ensuring
food safety and securing supply chains for major industries. All
these factors are core elements for maintaining the economy
security and have direct impacts on national security,
sustainable development as well as social stability. As we
promote a comprehensive green transformation of economic
and social development, we must also insist on ensuring
energy security. With the rapid development of new energy
sources such as wind and photovoltaic power, coal-fired power
will play an essential role in building a new power system and
will accelerate its transformation into a basic security and
system regulation power source. Its role in guaranteeing power
supply will become more prominent, especially in promoting the
construction of wind and photovoltaic energy bases, particularly
in “deserts, Gobi Desert, and barren areas”. The coordinated
construction of new energy and coal-fired power will become an
important forthcoming development theme. Energy supply
security is not only about safety and efficiency, but also about
being clean and low-carbon. Under the backdrop of resource
and environmental constraints, accelerating the transformation
towards green and low-carbon energy is an urgent mission for
the Chinese government to ensure energy security and tackle
related problems, which is also an effective way to promote
economic structure upgrades and foster new drivers of
development. In 2022, the first batch of large-scale wind and
photovoltaic power generation bases, with a total capacity of
97.05 million kilowatts, have all commenced construction,
while the projects of the second and third batch of bases are
being promoted successively. According to forecast data from
the National Energy Administration of the PRC, China aims to
increase its wind and photovoltaic power generation capacity to
reach 160 million kilowatts by 2023, resulting in an
aggregated installed capacity of over 900 million kilowatts.
This will strongly support the acceleration of the process to
realizing the dual carbon goals.
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Looking from the perspective of development path, the
construction of a new type of power system will eliminate the
limitations of the existing energy system and achieve the
coordinated and complementary utilization of diverse energy
sources. This, in turn, will pave the way for the establishment
of several green trading mechanisms, covering various aspects
such as power and carbon trading. A consensus has been
reached on the construction of a spot trading market for
electricity, and the process has been speeding up. To support
the sound development of a comprehensive energy system
anchored on clean energy, it is essential to formulate a
national unified development plan for the electricity market
without delay. This plan should clarify the positioning of
different market functions and ensure the uniformity of
fundamental market systems and regulations.

The Company will actively conduct a mid-term adjustment of
the “14th Five-Year Plan” in accordance with China’s energy
development direction and further refine the “dual-circle, one-
center and one-focus” development strategy. Our aim is to
achieve a clean energy installed capacity of over 10 million
kilowatts by the end of 2023, while mainly taking into account
two core issues, namely industry synergy and green energy
conversion and consumption. We strive to achieve
breakthroughs in terms of both model and path to optimize
our organizational management and control structures, achieve
a strategic transformation of our operational model, and
ultimately embark on a new chapter of development of the
Company.

As the year began, the epidemic slowly subsided, and the
economy has since stabilized and recovered. Following the
start of the new chapter of 2023, China is poised to get back
on track. At this brand-new beginning, the Company is well-
prepared to seize the moment and to continue forging ahead
towards a brilliant future of green development.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance to protect the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. The Company believes that
rigorous standards of corporate governance enhance the
sustainability of the Company. To this end, the Company has
established and maintained a framework of corporate
governance policies and practices to apply the principles of
good corporate governance in daily operation. This framework
is built upon principles of accountability and integrity.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions of
the CG Code as set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
complied with all applicable code provisions under the CG
Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties. It is responsible for developing,
reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Company. In the corporate
governance framework of the Company, other key participants,
including Shareholders, senior management and other
stakeholders, have a role to contribute and interact in the
process of decision making and they set us in motion of
continuing improvement in our corporate governance practices.
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The diagram below shows the current corporate governance FEFIRAATRBHNECEELARERTES
structure of the Company and the relationship between key E23E > BIRYRA(% :
participants:
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4

Board
E£Eg

D 4

D 4

D 4

D &

c AUd.i; Nomination Remuneration IZiSk Cgtr.]ttrol
ommittee ; ; ommittee
= = Committee Committe .
BEZAT REEEE v FHERS il
HE

Chief Executive

HhEB Officer
1ZEEm BEHTE
External
Auditor

A

Internal
Audit
AEBEZ

/ D 4
Senior

Management
BREERE
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\ Cogorate Mission
\ EED

In such a new era with huge energy
reform, new momentums and new
values continue to emerge, collide,
disintegrate and integrate.
High-quality development is a strong
foundation for the energy development
in China’s new era. Focusing on the
national strategic goals of “carbon
peak and carbon neutrality”, the
energy revolution should start from
the entire industrial ecology,
transform from the pure production
model with maximum energy quantity
to the service pricing model with
maximum energy value, and redefine
the attributes of energy through three
dimensions of “green”, “integration”
and “intelligence”. By building an
industrial ecosystem and realizing
value creation, BJEI demonstrates its
social responsibilities and obligations,
and affirms its pursuit of faith and ideal
value, which is the original intention and
significance of corporate and
high-quality development.

fEEEEEREE BRI - 3K
B - FINEBETEER  ®E - 2
g @a - =E§%@%¢l%ﬁ%
BRERNBTRG @ BE [fHEl
TR BREBEAE RS
EHBEEREEERLE - HEREE
A EMEEREAAEREES
KBRS EEEXEE - BB (4
&) - [Rel - (B8] =58#E
EHTELFNEE - BABEESE
ERERER - BREEASL  EEIR
KOG EEMES  HET R
IR a2 akAIR e EE - 20
HEFeEERNVLNESE -
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CORPORATE
CULTURE
X

\ Corporate Vision
TEES

It is necessary to adhere to the
concept of co-existence between
human and nature in order to create
a community of life. Focusing on the
main business of clean and
low-carbon energy development, BJEI
emphasizes the concept of ecological
construction, achieves the symbiosis
with energy value, and serves the
better life of people around the world.
With this as the blueprint for future
development, it provides a strategic
direction and long-lasting answers to
the corporate development in the
future.

T%ii/\éﬁé?’iﬂ’ﬂiﬁ/ﬁ\ﬁ‘%% AR
FARBRERFNES - REEE
BEEEREZERBEREE - 8
EREBRIES  ERREEATL
£ RRERARMEFEERS - 1
N REAZEERRERNEER - B
RIAGR 2 — (EERAO IR T 8
BT AR AR -
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\ Core Value
() Soroae

BJEI firmly believes that the
enterprise development relies on the
wholehearted support from
employees. As such, we continuously
deepen democratic management, build
an honour system, and protect the
rights and interests of employees for
encouraging all employees to work
together and promote the development
and progress of the enterprise. We
actively create a good atmosphere
that encourages and supports
employees to work hard, and also
creates a platform for learning,
improvement, development and
progress, so that employees can
share the achievements of corporate
reform and development.

REBERHBRER2L2EKRERT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Overall Responsibility and Delegation

Members of the Board are individually and collectively
accountable for promoting the success of the Company and
achieving sustainable development of the Company. The Board
provides leadership and supervision of the Company,
overseeing businesses and evaluating the performance of the
Group. It focuses on formulating the overall strategies and
policies with particular attention paid to the growth and
financial performance of the Group, and make decisions on
significant acquisitions and other specified matters reserved for
the Board.

Day-to-Day
Operations
AEEE

The implementation of the Group’s strategies and policies and
the day-to-day operations of the Group are performed by the
chief executive officer (“Chief Executive Officer”) and senior
management of the Company under the regular monitoring and
supervision of the Board and its committees. These
arrangements will be reviewed periodically to ensure that they
remain appropriate to the needs of the Company.

All Directors have separate access to the management of the
Company and are provided with full and timely information
about the conduct of the business and operation of the Group.
Upon request by the Board, independent professional advice
will be available to the Directors to facilitate the
decision-making process. Appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance has been arranged for the Directors.

Direction + Supervision
ol + BE
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The Board has also delegated certain functions to the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Risk Control Committee, further details of which are set

out in this report of corporate governance.

Key matters reserved for the Board

Strategy &
Operation

BBR R EE

approve the strategic
plans and annual
operation and
investment plans of
the Group

HE AN 6 B B9 BB 5t
Bk FEEEURE
B5t3

approve major
investments and
transactions

HEERRERRXS

approve issue of
Shares and other
securities within the
authority given by
Shareholders

TR RIS E N
HEE TR R H A

o
Bg

approve other
material corporate
activities

g&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%

Monitoring of
financial
performance

EEMBRER

approve and monitor
the annual budget
and annual financial
plan
HEREEFERE
REEMFETE

approve the selection
and appointment of
the external auditor
HE ML BT R ER
BREE

review and approve
the annual and
interim financial
results and approve
their publication
BT R EFE R
A SR ER
B

AHEZFE

Organisation &
succession

planning

HE R EEEE

decide the Group’s
organisation

SRR 2 5 B AR B4
1

consider the
appointment of
Directors

ZEEENEE

approve the
remuneration policy
and incentive
schemes

HE V7 B B SR R B R

st 8

approve the
appointment or
removal of Chief
Executive Officer
HEERERNITENE
fESiEESR

review and monitor
the training and
continuous
professional
development of
Directors and senior
management of the
Company

B REREERA
NEIEREEAEN
Bl R FESEEERE
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Governance &
risk management

EARERERE

develop the corporate
governance structure and
policy

HIE R EBEARBREBER

approve and review the terms
of reference of board
committees
g&&@ﬁ%%é%@%ﬁ@
[

establish and maintain risk
management and internal
control systems, review and
monitor policies and practices
on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements

B RGERRREER AN
BIRR B RERBRKRE
HUREZEREERE

establish and review
shareholders’ communication
polic:

Yy
I R e AR R B B EUR

review the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code
and relevant disclosure in this
report of corporate
governance

TN RNNEIR =1
ZERBERRAE
2 Bk

E=Pr=isill
EERARS

P >

develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and
compliance manual for
Directors and employees
FIE s B REREERES
21T AT RERFMR



Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, including two
executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors who served
the Board during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
changes in Directors up to the date of this annual report are

REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
o8 SR

EREEAMN

EXFERANREFTHN BEMBAITE
FE HRFATEER=ZRBUFATES -
BE_T__F+_A=+—HLEEESE
NEFERBEIRBELAFRAPNESEH)
LI

as follows:

Name of Directors

EENs

Changes in Directors up to the date of this annual report

BESFHRONNESEH

Executive Directors
WITES

Mr. Zhang Ping (Chairman)
SRS E (FE)

Mr. Lu Zhenwei

EiRE S

Mr. Wang Heng

st

Appointed as an executive Director with effect from 27 January
2022 and resigned with effect from 28 June 2022

B & - T F— B tHEEZFANTEERG T "1 /\HE
BHE

Non-executive Directors

FEHITES

Mr. Zhao Bing

icpesias

Mr. Su Yongjian Appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 25 February 2022

BRI BB - A+ L AEEZABIFHNTEE

Mr. Li Hao

—T— /IZI /71E EE

Mr. Lu Xiaoyu Appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 2 November 2022
BEEFEE B-E - - A HEBZARIFHTEE

Mr. Sui Xiaofeng Resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 25 February 2022

MEBRIE S B ZHF A+ A AERTHHTES

Independent Non-executive Directors
BiIERITES

Ms. Jin Xinbin

ML

Ms. Li Hongwei

ES IR S n

Mr. Zhu Jianbiao

KRS
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Directors’ biographical details are set out in the “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual
report on pages 24 to 32. The Board believes that its
composition is well balanced with each Director having sound
knowledge, skills, diversity of perspectives, and experience
and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship among
its members. Updated list of directors and their role and
function has been maintained on our website and that of the
HKEXnews. The names and identification of the Directors are
disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman provides leadership and governance for the
Board so as to create the conditions required for effective
performance of the Board as a whole and effective contribution
by individual Director. He also ensures that the Board
performs its responsibilities and all key and appropriate issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The Chief
Executive Officer has the delegated power to manage the
Company and to oversee the business activities of the
Company. The positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer are held by Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Zhu Jun
respectively.

EXEESBHNAERE24ENEEEK
SREEABZEBE - EFEREHME
RiEETE  BRESHRRRAEEESS
B RERH -~ 5KAE - ZUEERE - BB
N ERH o

MESGAN  EEZgNEBEENF - =
B oRBREMEBAEREMG ENENE
FRBEREABNBEERARRMELEREE
RZAMBZELETIE - EF 2 HRRBINE
Rix EHRARERBTEZ A QBB

WEE -

EFRKRERERITE
IENBEDABRENELESTT > LAIEE
STEBANUMKRRERERNESFHERER
PREBNIRIE > THREFTETRABERE
FERFRATAEEZRGENSTE  BREN
TEHEEBRENEERAATIREERAATH
A  TEREFATEZHBOHBER
FRERKEFEREE
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has three independent non-executive Directors,
representing one-third of the Board. The Company has
complied with the requirement for appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors under Rule 3.10(1)
of the Listing Rules and the requirement that at least one of
the independent non-executive directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
throughout the entire year. The Company has also complied
with the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board. With
such a weight of the independent non-executive Directors,
there is a strong independent element in the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement. The independent
non-executive Directors contribute by ensuring due governance
process, reviewing and providing independent advice to the
management performance. They also bring in objective and
impartial considerations for connected transactions and other
issues of the Group.

The Company has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual written confirmation of their
respective independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board considers that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent.

Board Independence Mechanism

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board
has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input from any Director are conveyed to the Board for
enhancing an objective and effective decision making.
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BIIERITES
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The governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board, to ensure their effectiveness:

il Three out of nine Directors are independent non-executive
Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing
Rules that the Board must have at least three
independent non-executive Directors and must appoint
independent non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board.

2. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence
of a candidate who is nominated to be a new
independent non-executive Director and the contribution
to the diversity of the Board according to the board
diversity policy adopted by the Company from time to
time before appointment and also the continued
independence of existing independent non-executive
Directors and their time commitments annually. On an
annual basis, all independent non-executive Directors are
required to confirm in writing their compliance of
independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of
offices held by them in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments.

3. External independent professional advice is available as
and when required by individual Directors.

4. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their
independent views and constructive challenges during the
Board and/or board committee meetings.

58 No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors.

6. A Director (including independent non-executive Director)
who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or
other proposal shall not vote or be counted in the
quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

7. The Chairman meets with independent non-executive
Directors annually without the presence of the executive
Directors and non-executive Directors.

EXSTSERNERRBRUTHE » LIRRF
HAEMM :
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company follows a formal and considered procedure for
the appointment of new Directors. Details of the nomination
policy of the Company are set out in the “Nomination Policy”
section of this report of corporate governance on pages 72 to
74. The Nomination Committee identifies suitably qualified
individuals for directorship to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and makes recommendations to the Board
on proposed appointments. A new Director may be appointed
by the Shareholders at general meeting or by the Board after
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the
Board. In accordance with bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following AGM and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

Every Director is appointed for a specific term and should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. In accordance with bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years at each AGM.

Each Director has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company. All the non-executive Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for a specific term of one year subject to the
retirement and re-appointment provisions of the Bye-laws.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, (i) Mr. Wang Heng
and Mr. Su Yongjian had retired from office and been
re-elected as Directors in the SGM held on 15 June 2022; (ii)
Mr. Zhang Ping, Mr. Lu Zhenwei and Ms. Jin Xinbin had retired
from office and been re-elected as Directors in the AGM held
on 28 June 2022; and (iii) Mr. Lu Xiaoyu had retired from
office and been re-elected as Director in the SGM held on 15
December 2022.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Upon each appointment, an induction briefing and a Directors’
induction handbook were given to each of the newly appointed
Directors. Such briefing and handbook primarily introduce the
laws, rules and regulations to which the Directors should
observe and adhere during their tenure, as well as the
Company’s policies, codes, compliance manual, and the
business, operations and development of the Group. The new
Directors appointed during the year 2022, who were Mr. Wang
Heng, Mr. Su Yongjian and Mr. Lu Xiaoyu, had all attended an
induction briefing and been given a Directors’ induction
handbook.

During the year 2022, the Company has arranged trainings
which were presented by professional firms to the Directors.
The Directors also recognise the importance of keeping
abreast of the business activities and development of the
Company, and developing and refreshing their knowledge and
skills and thus continuously attend seminars and/or briefings
to refresh their knowledge. In addition, a number of reading
materials in relation to the amendments or revision of
applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards and policies of
the countries and regions in which the Group operates, such
as guidelines, newsletters, reports, consultation papers and
interpretations issued by regulatory bodies or professional
firms, are also circulated to all Directors from time to time.
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The Company has maintained

record of the continuous
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FARFEEF2HEFBEXLRNITEH N

professional development participated by the Directors. A BHE_E__F+_A=+—HLIEEEREE
in the continuous AERHPEESHFTESEEENREZEHT]

summary of the Directors’
professional development during the year ended 31 December U1K :

participation

2022 and up to the date of this annual report is as below:

Reading
materials/
Attending regulatory
briefings/ updates/
seminars monthly reports
REM R
2HEEHRE - BEERMEH
EE SAKRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhang Ping SRFAE V v
Mr. Lu Zhenwei EIRE T E \/ l
Mr. Wang Heng (appointed with effect from F®ic (H_-FE - —#F— ol v
27 January 2022 and resigned with A+t HEEZIRE
effect from 28 June 2022) TE T TFEAAZFNH
FEFFIE)
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Mr. Zhao Bing HEEE % V
Mr. Su Yongjian (appointed with effect BoxfRdt (H-E - _#F N v
from 25 February 2022) A+ A HEEZET)
Mr. Li Hao e v Xl
Mr. Lu Xiaoyu (appointed with effect BEFRE(H-EFE__F ol v
from 2 November 2022) +—HAZHEEZT)
Mr. Sui Xiaofeng (resigned with effect fERElg s (H —ZE - _4F N v
from 25 February 2022) ZH =+ 7F HEFT)
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIEHITES
Ms. Jin Xinbin gt V V
Ms. Li Hongwei /Lt \/ Xl
Mr. Zhu Jianbiao KRBT E v V
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BOARD PROCESS EX8ER
Key Features of Board Process EEEREFERY

proper briefed on issues
arising at meeting

HERRENEREEE B

prompt and full response to
queries raised +  record in sufficient details

14 days' notice of regular on the matters considered

board meeting or reasonable PRIR 2 Bl FEFTHE AR RE and decisions reached

notice in timely manner with

agenda - access to the Management FEM N RSO ERFTE BB B
RS EREEL 140 T AEEEES REBR AR

%@A* Nk & 32 BAN )
¥ B independent professional record any concerns raised

all directors are invited to advice in appropriate SR NEEEE
propose any additional matters circumstances at the Company’s

included in the agenda expenses +  records are open for
AR ERMIES W FE ESERBIELER  BAK nspection by directors

EREAENER FZRYNSIFEN) RFFCHEAREEER

Formal

/ notice with Support & Proper
sufficient time advice records
SRR XERER BEL#

EXEA

Active
Adequate participation
i i and
Info}rimai:‘llgn contribution
/N maswy A/ O\
=1

board papers with reliable information accessible to + have meeting at least 4 times a year and have meeting when
all directors are provided in advance required
}mﬁl RUEAREERH I ENC AIEERNES BEREZELOARNEERHE

SEME

promote a culture of openness and debate

sufficient materials to enable the board to make EA
informed decisions HEBE AR SE
FESREDANBRENTRER - encourage all directors with different views to voice their

concerns, if any
SEETAERNMAESFREARFEINERE (WF)

allow sufficient time for discussion and ensure board decisions
fairly reflect board consensus

BT RANEIMITERESERRATRREE SR
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Other Key Features of Board Process
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EFEREFHNHEMER

The Chairman held a meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

FERREMEFERFENB R TREILFRTESRTEE -

Transactions where any Director is considered having a conflict of interest or material interest shall be
dealt with in a physical meeting with presence of independent non-executive Directors who have no
material interest.
AMNEERRARXZPEENGERAEEEA D ZRBZENBEAR G B UFNTEELEZ
Hisas LRIE o

Any Director having conflict of interests or material interests shall disclose his/her interests in accordance
with the Bye-laws before the meeting and shall abstain from voting on the resolution(s) approving such

transactions and shall not be counted in the quorum.

FAEANEERNEARGNESTAN R REBERMRAREHL D R AREMAEERR S 00RE

ERE BB AZEAR -

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established its Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Control Committee
on 14 March 2000, 28 September 2005, 23 March 2012
and 23 July 2013 respectively. Details of authority, role and
responsibilities of each committee are set out in written terms
of reference which are available on the Company’s website
under the Investor Relations section and the website of the
HKEXnews. The Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Risk Control Committee reviewed
its terms of reference from time to time to ensure they remain
in line with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Amendments
to the terms of reference shall be submitted to the Board for
approval and adoption.

EFZEY
EFgENIR"EEERF=-A+0E - -2F
EFEAAZ+NB-ZEB-—_F=ZHF”-+=H
R_EB—=—FtA-_+=ARYBEZEZEG
HHNEEE  RALEEZEGMAREFNEZET -
REEGZE)  ABKBSFBEHINEZRE
BELE > IREARFPEREERE—RK
BEBARGARBEZEILER - EXEEE 5
MEESE REEETRARERNZEET TR
et HEERE - EERDTE LEHRAEK -
BIELE BT REXERGHUERRM o
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The Company Secretary acted as the secretary of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Risk Control Committee. An agenda accompanying board
committee papers are sent to the committee members at least
three days prior to the meeting. Sufficient resources are made
available to the committee members when required. The
secretary prepares full minutes of the committee meetings with
details of the matters considered by the committee members.
The draft minutes are sent to all committee members of
respective committee for comment and approval after each
meeting and the final version of the minutes are sent to the
committee members for their records within a reasonable time
after the meeting. The chairman of the respective committee
summarises the activities of that committee and highlights
issues arising and reports to the Board after each committee
meeting.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee currently consists of three members, including
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Li
Hongwei and Mr. Zhu Jianbiao, and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Zhao Bing. The Audit Committee is chaired by
Ms. Li Hongwei who possesses relevant professional
qualification and expertise in financial reporting matters.

The Audit Committee acts as an important link between the
Board and the Company’s auditor. It is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.
It is empowered to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards. It reviews,
makes recommendations and reports to the Board on findings
relating to the financial statements, reports and accounts,
financial reporting system, internal control and risk
management systems, and compliance issues.

NEWEEEBREZET HFHMEET  RH
ZEERARENEZEEZME B2 MM
EFGZEENHRERBTREL=ZAER
ZEENE - AEER > AEHNERHEEZES
REMER MERBEZETEENTETRT
B BERHIEEENEERNEEFB &
BREZER > TRNREZEENEREETNE
LHERCHOR > HRFRERRRILE
TEFZREGERBARNZEGNELLRE
RAEZC R HREFLHE 2B - EEBRX
ZEEERR BREECXRREELZET)

8 RHEARDENEE > URESFER -

BREEY
BNEZEERE-LME  SEMBEILIFN

TES IFABLERKRBIESLE  Uk—
LIFMITES B RSE - FURLLRE
ZEEEIE  REAHBEEXERKRMBR
SEEFEMH -

BERZEEREESFERAATZHEMZEHY
EZBR > AENEEARENZEINBLEED
MEBEBFFREES  LEMINEZEE 2N
REBIFR - BERZESBH T RIEH A&
SINBZEBM 2 BU M REE N » LUIRERE
RERRN REREZBREZNY - ELEE
CERVBRER - BERKRE ~ MHERS
B ASEZEFRAREERFAREREEEZE
BER TRAEFSFHERRERS -
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156 = Fiet: [
The Audit Committee held four meetings (two of which were —Z - " F > BEREZETRT TS (H
with the external auditor of the Company) to deal with the HIFIZREEZAS/A B IMNEE A% ShET — (B 2 BH) LLER EE

following matters during the year 2022: AFEIE .

SUMMARY OF WORK DONE DURING THE YEAR OF 2022

“EFMMIEZHBE

reviewed and discussed with the external auditor of the Company about the audited annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 as well as the financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group;
BARANBINEZEE —RAER AN mAERRE _E_—F+ _ A=+ —HUIEFENKERFEXEURNIERBNH R
B BERER

=N )

reviewed and discussed the non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021;
B M mAERRE S - —F+ A=+ HIEFENFRRFERERS ;

reviewed and discussed the composition and qualification of finance department staff of the Group;

Bk RAEEVHEHETRRNES ;

reviewed and discussed with general manager of audit and supervisory department about the internal audit work of the
Group;
BEE S B B AR — AR st A EE AR E St TIF

reviewed and discussed with general manager of legal and compliance department about the risk management and internal
control matters of the Group;
BB RAAKE R ket m A LR R R EE RN E G EIE ;

reviewed and considered the independence, retirement, re-appointment and remuneration of external auditor of the
Company;

WA K E BA R BN IZMENAYIBILIE ~ R ~ ENHERFFE

reviewed and discussed the unaudited condensed consolidated interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2022; and
B AEEBRE T _FRA=ZTHLEANERNRKERERAREFIHES &

reviewed and discussed with the external auditor of the Company about their annual audit work plan in relation to the
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
HARABINEZE N — R BRI mERAERSE S+ A=+ B I FEXENFEEZIT(EEl o
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The external auditor performs independent review or audit of
the financial statements prepared by the management of the
Company. Grant Thornton has been re-appointed as the
independent auditor of the Company by Shareholders at the
AGM held on 28 June 2022 for a term until the conclusion of
the next AGM. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
remuneration paid or payable to the auditor of the Company
(including their affiliated firms) for their services rendered is
summarised as below:

R EME &
INEZBEAH A AT EREERMNUFZRERE
TBUERNEZ AR B _FAC
TNAHETHRRBFAS LEERRERNS
ERERBEIUIZAE > THETERRESF
REERFER BE_T__F+_B=+
—BIEEE > AT R (BERE 2
BRE) PR R E N BN R EF Z BN
e

2022 2021

—EC —E_—F

RMB’million RMB’million

ARBEET ARBEST

Statutory audit EEBZ 6 5

Non-audit services™® IR ARFW 3 1

Total Bt 9 6
@ The non-audit services represented the services relating to the @ IFZHIRFIE BT ER « MBI RET

financial review, tax consultancy and issue of convertible bonds.

The responsibilities of the independent auditor with respect to
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in the section “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 133 to 142 of this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Ms. Jin Xinbin and Ms. Li Hongwei, and one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Su Yongjian. Ms. Li Hongwei is the
chairlady of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration by reference to corporate goals
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.

IR RS RIARTS ©

BUREMEREE _ S _F+_A=+—
BIEFEZEEHBERRZETHIN K ER
F133F 1428 NI IZEENRE | — & o

HMEES

HINEZEERE-ZME  SEMBBILIERN
TES MWL RFABL L Uk—
BIFNMTES BB KERE - FAB/LLER
HMEEEERE -

HINEZEE T ERSUE2REFTTIRNZR
RBBENABBERKRTRE  MARBEEES
REHMEEABNFMBERARRERNES SR
L TRENATEEFRSREEAEZ
HMTBMEFTTREES -
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting and passed
four written resolutions to deal with the following matters
during the year 2022:
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TECTEHNEEERT T —REE I
BENMEERZRUGEEUTEIE

SUMMARY OF WORK DONE DURING THE YEAR OF 2022

“EFMMIEZHBE

made recommendations on the directors’ fee of a newly appointed executive Director and newly appointed non-executive

Directors;

R ERTEERMEFRRTESNEFTAEREES

reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages of Directors and members

of senior management;

B R RAERNFIWNBERUSRESTRSHREEASHFMNTE

made recommendations on the remuneration of the key senior management of the Company; and

MARBEIESREEAENFMELER &

reviewed the share option scheme of the Company and made recommendations on the grant of share options under the

share option scheme of the Company.

WA RBNRERES BT IRBEA QAT BRESK HBRERDEE -

Nomination Committee

Nomination Committee currently consists of three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Ms. Jin Xinbin and Mr. Zhu lJianbiao, and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Zhang Ping. Mr. Zhang Ping is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is authorised to formulate
nomination policy for the Board’s consideration and implement
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted to select and recommend candidates for directorship
and senior management. The board diversity policy which has
been adopted in 2013 outlines the Company’s commitment to
ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives which are appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. It also sets out that
all Board members will be appointed based on a merit basis
with due consideration to the board diversity. While selecting
candidates for directorship, the Nomination Committee has
taken into account of a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise),
skills and knowledge.

RHZEEE
RYZEERA-LHE  SEMLBIIIFR
TES AW LT RARAERE » Uk—
BHITEF > AIRFPEE - RFEERRRE
EgEFE-

RLEZECERENTRVBRHTESTEE
B RITRRZERFRBRE > LERARIKER
BREShSREEASRUNEZCRAR
R ——FRWNZEFTEZITIEBRE
BT XRRBZEE  IRRESSERRER
BIEBMABBEEMBRE KR AZTIEE
MBS TE - AR EFRBESEMEY
BEREAETFURE  AREEEFEZ T
NEX - EREEEANER > EREEGER
ZRCAEfFHERE  BREERRIRMER - F
i XIERHBEEER &R (BEIHEM) &
BER A, ©
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In reviewing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
shall give adequate consideration to the board diversity policy.
The Nomination Committee believes that the current
composition of the Board is balanced and diversified (including
gender diversified) with the high-calibre members from different
cultural backgrounds and possessing professional expertise of
various industries, which indicates that the board diversity
policy has been well implemented.

The main responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skKills,
knowledge, experience and length of service) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, and identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships and chief
executives, the appointment or reappointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors. The Nomination Committee
is also responsible for assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting and passed four
written resolutions to deal with the following matters during the
year 2022:

EEREFTEAR  RREZETARDIER
EXEZRtER -RAEZEERD EFT
NIRFHAMABTRXEERLER TRITE
HENHBNSERAT > EEEHHRZHERIE
(BEMRZTE) BREFESTEERE
ERDBEW -

REZEEZIBREAELSFRIESS
ZIRHE ~ IR AR AR (BFEREE ~ M ~ KB
WRBERSE) > TREAATNEXEREE
FEREEANRBESR  UKYEBEERSE
BEUREEFNAERARERRESREST
BRABBREAN ZANEFTZEETFTURESR
BESAENEFTREER - RALZEETE
SMEEIIFRITESR 2B -

TEITE RREFEEHRT T —REH I
BRONEEARZRUREUTEIE

SUMMARY OF WORK DONE DURING THE YEAR OF 2022

—E__EFEMRMIEZBE

made recommendations on nomination of candidates for the positions of an executive Director and non-executive Directors;

MR LHITEFR IS FATEFREARDES

made recommendations on re-election of retiring Directors in the 2022 AGM and in the SGMs held in June and December

2022;

MR ZE - —FREBFREGURNR CE - FRART-ASRTZRERIAG LEERTERRUES;

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and the board diversity policy of the Company; and

WA EE GRS  RIE S B RZ e UWREARBNEETELTEER ; &

assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

SHEBILIFMITESMEILILE o
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An analysis of the
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current Board composition: HEFESZHEMB DN :

Designation

A

Gender

gl

Region

e

Age
F#e

Skills/industry
experience

BRATHEER

Directorship with

other public companies
REMARAT]
BATEER

Number of people

A#

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

T T T
Executive Director $i{TE S Non-executive Director JEHITES Independent Non-executive Director
BIUIFRITES

aa a9

T T
Female Z 1% Male B4

aa aa aa

T
Hong Kong &% Mainland China FREIRg#t

T T T
41-50 51-60 61-70

Expertise in finan‘ce/ management Professiona‘l accountant Expertisein ene‘rgy/engineering
8%, EEES FEEHE BERTR2ATEES

Details of the directorship in other listed companies are set ARENEHM T ATINEERBE 2 FBEHNE
out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” FiHRIZEERSHEEAEZHFE)—H
section of this annual report.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 18 December 2018 and disclose as below.

1. Objectives

1.1 Nomination Committee shall ensure the Board to
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business and strategy during nomination
process.

1.2 Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable
candidates to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendations to Shareholders for election
as Directors at general meetings or appoint as
Directors to fill casual vacancies.

2. Selection Criteria

2.1 The factors listed below would be used as reference
by the Nomination Committee in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate as a Director: —

Reputation for integrity;

Accomplishment and experience in the relevant
industry, in particular, in clean energy;

Commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest; and

Diversity in all aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age (18 years or above),
cultural and educational background,
experience (professional or otherwise), skills,
knowledge and length of service.

2.2 These factors are for reference only, and do not
mean to be exhaustive and decisive. Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any
person, as it considers appropriate.

2.3 Retiring INEDs, save for those who have served as
INEDs for a period of nine consecutive years, are
eligible for nomination by the Board to stand for
re-election at a general meeting.

RBEER
FEER T N\E+ZA+/\BHH—ER
BEER (HRRERY) > KRBT

1. BH®
1.1 RIERBRED  BRELEEGERF
BEGERBA A B ER KRS
EHEBERERE £EKRZ T
2L~ BIEVS T o

1.2 RHZEGEANEFTREGEA
BUMBEFEEER > UMNREKR
ESAFALTRIESUEZLS
FLUAERR EIRERRIR HEE o

2. EEEE
2.1 RIMEBIREZEENAEZRTES
B REZESHLSETXMIEA
= -

B

e

MISE

ﬂu}ﬁ

REBTE(LHZEBEZEE
) Z B R A B 2

A AR AR EHEE
BYEEE 5 &

BEHENZE B8FEER
BRASME A ~ F e (185% 30N
B - XERBEESR - &R
(BXEFHM) ~ KE - A H
RIRFBFEHESE °

22 ZERZEMS2E > WIFRIIFA

HE > TAEREMER - ’REZE

SUNBERAERLGEDBRBEERN
FERIAL -

2.3 BREEBBRBNAFNBIIFNTE
FIh RENBIUIFATEEFHAE
EREEEERVAERRAELE
B’EM-
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2.4

25

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information, together with their
written consent to be appointed as Directors and to
the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose
of or in relation to their standing for election as
directors.

Proposed candidates might be requested to provide
additional information and documents, if considered
necessary by Nomination Committee.

3. Nomination Procedure

3.1

3.2

3.3

A meeting of the Nomination Committee will be
called, and nominations of candidates will be
invited from the Board members, if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to
its meeting. Nomination Committee may also put
forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members.

In case of filling a casual vacancy, Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval; in case of
proposing candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting, Nomination Committee shall make
nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

Until the issue of circular to the Shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have
been proposed by the Board to stand for election
at the general meeting.

REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

2.4

2.5

R IR

ERBIEEARREREILHERN
BAEK  ERHEZE/ERL
MESEER S E Z AR ER
XS ERBEARKRBEREEAR
HMREERE -

REZEGUGTENRERBIREAN
RMEERINE B R X (4 58 7 &
E) o

3. R&ER

3.1

3.2

3.3

REZEEREHRTH > LNEH
RIBRESFEME (NA) BB iEE
AN UHRRREZEEEER - ’REZE
BN ARLLIIFAESTMNER
BZIREN o

i BIEMERN TR RREEEA
EHEEZZHEFT TS B M
B HEREREANKRRERES
B RREZEGANERTIFHIEE
BUHEZ BRIEE -

MBS RAERTI A > R
LATTERARSCEETER
BRBRAGLSE
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3.4 In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a
general meeting, a circular will be sent to
shareholders. The names, brief biographies
(including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence (applicable to independent non-
executive directors), proposed remuneration and any
other information, as required pursuant to the
applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the
proposed candidates will be included in the circular
to Shareholders.

3.5 A candidate is allowed to withdraw the candidature
at any time before the general meeting by serving
a notice in writing to the Company.

3.6 The Board shall have the final decision on all
matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for election at any general
meeting.

Risk Control Committee

Risk Control Committee currently consists of four members,
including two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Su Yongjian
and Mr. Li Hao, and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang
Ping and Mr. Lu Zhenwei. Mr. Zhang Ping is the chairman of
the Risk Control Committee.

The aim of the Risk Control Committee is to strengthen the
risk analysis, judgement and decision making of the Board. The
main responsibilities of the Risk Control Committee are to
assist the Board in evaluating and deciding the risk level and
risk appetite of the Group in achieving its strategic and
business objectives, in identifying, mitigating and control of
risks associated with significant investments, material
operation and financial matters and other major activities of
the Group, and in making recommendations on improvement of
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company.

3.4 ARHEEFEFTRANKRRARE
EBEZEEANER > REKE
FHEK - ARRFHEVERAH
BERBDBEEANGES  BE (8
EEB ARG « Bt CBA
RBIUFATES) - BEZFM
BRZER  HRIRERERZEM
HAthE#} o

3.5 BREATRRREAEEFFEZE
BRAA TS HEEBAEEE

BB o
3.6 EEFEFHEREEEANMEDR
BAG FRERBEEENER

TRIERE ©

REEZEFZES

J& B2 T“%JKEEEEEE%EZE’ BEMAIFR
TES AEKRBEERFERLE  RWEBH
TESF > AIRFRERERBIEE - RFTE
HREBEFNEZEEERE -

RBEHEZEESEMARESSRAR DN
B RRR - ARIENZE G T BRE AR
EFXgERESERTEEREBBNEE
BRRRY AR KT R BB R > #Rl  BEEA
ERIrERTEARE - EEKENPHER
REMTFEBFHFHER > URRETEELR
B REBREEMABIER AL EE -
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During the year 2022, the Risk Control Committee held eleven —ZE__"&F > RERITEHIEZETRIT T +—Rg
meetings and passed one written resolution to review and % TEB—HEERAZEZE X HREREER
conduct risk assessment on acquisition and disposal - ZfEAS -EBRELEZEFETERE
transactions, payment of earnest money, investment and E[E:I L TREE=efHEESRMEAE=E
construction projects, and made recommendations to the & SUEMARNAEAATEEBIELES
Board for consideration or otherwise made suggestions to the EAﬁK_g::eq B=+—HILEHFE &
management of the Company. Transactions reviewed by the fPrEHZEEBRTERENRS B .
Risk Control Committee during the year ended 31 December

2022 and have already been disclosed include:

SUMMARY OF WORK DONE DURING THE YEAR OF 2022

—EC_FRBIEZBE

acquisition of 100% equity interest in three project companies and 49% equity interest in a project company which operate
a total of six wind power plants with total grid-connected installed capacity of 429.5MW in Shanxi the PRC;

WS =MIEE ATI100% K # Kk —EIEE A F49%K 1 » ZZ AR PE AR EELEHMAERAE5HR429.5KR
KRB ;

acquisition of 100% equity interest in a project company which owns a wind power plant with grid-connected installed
capacity of approximately 46.2MW in Gia Lai Province, Vietnam;

WiE—RIEE A B100%/1E - Z AR NHERIKE B —EHEEREEXNR46. 2K RBIEIEEIL ;

acquisition of 25% equity interest and call options to acquire additional 26% equity interest in two project companies
which own a total of two wind farms with total grid-connected installed capacity of 312MW in Victoria, Australia;

iz 8 77 51 T8 B /A B) 25% R 1 Bz mJ UK i 7 81 18 B /A B 3B 90 26% 2 SREE HAAE » 525 A B IR M 4 = RSB W 3 75 i {8 (o A S 1
BREAHAIL2IENRES ;

acquisition of 100% equity interest in a project company which owns a photovoltaic power generation project with
construction capacity of 150MW in Anhui Province, the PRC;
WiE—RBIITEE A 100% % » ZRARNFEZHEHE —ERREEAI50KENNREEIEER ;

payment of the refundable earnest money for the acquisition of not less than 51% equity interest in a project company
in order to gain an exclusive right to develop and operate the new energy projects in Yunnan Province, the PRC;

SXNUREEAESUEE—BERE AR DI01%KE » LUERUN FEIERE MR EERERERNERETR ;

entering into seven EPC contracts relating to a total of 670MW photovoltaic power projects and agricultural-photovoltaic
complementary power generation projects in the PRC;
I THBERANRFEEH6TOINRNNREEBIEE BN EHEEFEIEE ZEPCEL

entering into two EPC contracts relating to a total of approximately 519.1MW solar farms in Australia;
]I MDA B EMN G 45191 KRB KR EUL ZEPCE AT ;

entering into three EPC contracts relating to a total of 2,380MW wind farms in Inner Mongolia, the PRC;
ST =MABURPEANREEH2,380 K ENEEHRZEPCELT ;

proposed disposals of 55% equity interest in a subsidiary of the Company and 100% equity interest in a subsidiary of
the Company through listing-for-sales;

BEEHREES NER L EARE—BINE QT 5% KA T — M E A B 100% 1 ;

disposal of the entire equity interest of three subsidiaries of the Company; and

HERRT=FHNBLAEZE=MRE ; &

deemed disposal of approximately 42.01% equity interest in a subsidiary of the Company.
RIEHEERA B —BME A B4942.01%/H o
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The attendance records of each Director at Board meetings,
committee meetings and general meetings of the Company in
2022 are set out below:

REEFN T _FHEFARADETEEH
éﬂ == n%&ﬂxﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁnﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ—lt

Attendance Record of Directors and Committee Members in 2022

I EEERZEENENEEHERR
Audit Remuneration Nomination Risk Control
Board General Committee Committee Committee Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
ERZEE® HiZ8e RLZE8E B
BEEEE; RRRAE g gk g% HEgg:
Number of meetings BERY 17 4 4 1 1 11
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zhang Ping RFEE 17/17 3/4 — — 1/1 11/11
Mr. Lu Zhenwei EiRESTE 12/17 3/4 — — — 8/11
Mr. Wang Heng (note 1) FEkE (1) 4/7 0/2 = = = 3/4
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Zhao Bing HEEE 9/17 3/4 2/4 — — —
Mr. Su Yongjian (note 2) EOoKfEEE (Wit2) 10/15 2/4 — 1/1 — 6/9
Mr. Li Hao FERE 4/17 0/4 — — = 3/11
Mr. Lu Xiaoyu (note 3) BIEFEE (17:23) 2/4 0/1 — — — —
Mr. Sui Xiaofeng (note 4) PEIEIL A (7at4) 2/2 - = S = 1/2
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
Directors
Ms. Jin Xinbin ikl 17/17 4/4 . 1/1 1/1 —
Ms. Li Hongwei FABET 17/17 3/4 4/4 1/1 — —
Mr. Zhu Jianbiao KEFRE 15/17 4/4 3/4 — 1/1 —
Notes: MisE -
1. Mr. Wang Heng was appointed as an executive Director and a 1. FHEEB T _F-RB T tHEEZE

of the Risk Control
27 January 2022. He resigned as an executive Director and

member Committee with effect from
ceased to be a member of the Risk Control Committee with
effect from 28 June 2022 due to his desire to devote more
time to his other commitments.

Mr. Su Yongjian was appointed as a non-executive Director and
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Risk
Control Committee with effect from 25 February 2022.

Mr. Lu Xiaoyu was appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 2 November 2022.

Mr. Sui Xiaofeng resigned as a non-executive Director and ceased
to be a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and
the Risk Control Committee with effect from 25 February 2022
due to his desire to devote more time to his other
commitments.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on
18 December 2018 and disclose as below.

RS BUR
AEER T \E+-A+/\BFRAREH
R (TRBEHR) » WEMT o

1. Objectives 1. HB®

1.1 The Dividend Policy is designed to set guidelines on 1.1 KREBEKEEAKREDIKIEMIE
dividend distribution that maintain the balance 5> MZBREDIKRBRUKREEE
between appropriately rewarding Shareholders EERREEFRBNEERSZ AN
through dividends and retaining necessary capital to BRI EE B 2 B4 -1y o
support future development of the Company.

1.2 The Board will recommend dividend distribution 1.2 EFERNFREAFEKOFEZIE
based on various internal and external factors while NT 0 IRERBERIINIAREZER
striving for fairness and sustainability. BRIk e

1.3 The Dividend Policy shall be in accordance with the 1.3 KREHREFSRFARIKRE

applicable provisions of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, laws and rules in the jurisdictions that
the Company has operations and the Bye-laws, as
in force and as amended from time to time.

2. Parameters to be considered while declaring dividend

2.1

Dividend distribution is contingent upon various
factors, and their combination thereof, which are
listed below and the Board shall consider these
factors in the best interest of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole before deciding the
dividend.

EIINBERE-—NN—FRFEZ
BRIRX ~ ZRABZEFRERARE
& ZERIERRERMA -

BERkREFREFERNEER

N

i

REDIEZ T —HERZRERT
£ EFENEERER > BRR
KRB RERRZERREN o

current and prospective financial performance KRB IREF R AR FERIT ;
of the Company;
growth and investment opportunities; BEMEEKS ;

other macro and micro economic factors; and

Hth 2B R MBEERE ;

R
other factors/events that the Board may deem EXxgRAMEEH A
as relevant. E- i
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3. Utilization of retained earnings

3.1 The Company would employ the retained earnings

for conducting activities in normal course of
business, including but not limited to funding the
Company’s future business growth/expansion plans
or such other purpose the Board may deem fit in
the best interest of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole.

4. Circumstances under which shareholders may not expect
dividend

4.1

The Board may vary or not recommend any dividend
if the criteria for recommending of dividend has not
been met by the Company, including but not limited
to events/factors listed below:

loss or inadequacy of profit or cash flow;
decision to undertake any acquisition,
amalgamation, merger, takeover that will
result in significant capital outflow;

the Company has been prohibited from
declaring dividend under any contractual

obligation or by any regulatory authority; and

any other extraordinary circumstances.

5. Provisions regarding various classes of shares

5.1

The provisions contained in the Dividend Policy shall
apply to all classes of shares of the Company.
Currently, the Company does not have any other
class of shares (including shares with differential
voting rights) other than ordinary shares.

6. Amendments

6.1

To the extent any change/amendment is required in
terms of applicable laws or rules, the laws or rules
would prevail over the Dividend Policy, and the
provisions in the Dividend Policy would be suitably
modified to make it consistent with the
requirements of the law or rules. Such amended
Dividend Policy shall be placed before the Board for
noting and necessary ratification.

3. RERBRMZER
31 FADERFBBRMANREAEE
BRRETRELE > SFEERER
RERBRREFBER MBER1E

NEFERAR/TEERTAKRERKRE
ZEREREM@mZHMBERHE
%o

4, BRRAEFEXEREZER

4.1 WAEAABREMEZRBEGE
(AFEBRREUTESH RTE) »
BIESE 0 FRE N EE IR
(ERCIEIS I

BRI EHNRIBEREFE ;

REETEANETELEETAE
TWHUEE s &0 F
K8 ;

EREHNEENERNEER
BREIEXARABTIRERSE ; &

EREMAFERIBR

5. ARTFEERNRGRZEX
5.1 REBRFEFEXBERRAATPR
BERIRD - BRI BREER
B A EA A A EER] R (8
ENETRREENRD)

6.1 WMBERBRZEREIUEFRETERNE

81857 BB ZE 2R TUER

#EE > WHRHKREBRIRXELE

E‘z‘-?f SIUSHNEERIERSR

cMETTREBMRAERZEETE
T,\,ﬁl]u)i'zfﬁﬁ/l{\;c B&% o
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group.
We recognise the importance of integrity of financial
information and endeavour to present to the Shareholders a
balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the
performance, position and prospects of the Group. The Board
also acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the Group’s affairs
and of its results and cash flows. The Board receives from the
management of the Company such explanation and information
as necessary to enable it to assess the financial information
and position of the Group.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs. The accounting policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
estimates. It also requires management of the Company to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving high degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in the Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Company has used appropriate accounting
policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates, and that all applicable
accounting standards have been followed.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of risks that the Group is
willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems. On an on-going basis,
the Board performs supervision and annual inspection on the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems.

The Board acknowledges that it is accountable for the internal
control and risk management systems and is responsible for
the review of their effectiveness. Such systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Group on an annual basis and reviewed the works done by
the audit and supervisory department which has a primary role
in assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the internal
control system and acts independently and reports to the
Board and the Audit Committee. The Company has been
constantly optimizing and improving its internal control
management measures, so as to restrict the internal control
and risk management from the perspectives of internal control
management activities, internal control system development,
organisational structure, internal control evaluation and defect
identification, and the online Office Automation System (OA
System) is adopted as the supervisory system of the internal
control and risk management. Meanwhile, the Group plans to
engage external and professional internal control consultants
regularly to conduct internal control evaluation on the core
areas of the Company’s risky business and make suggestions
for improvement and optimization of internal control defects.
The Group will ensure that these suggestions can be
implemented within a reasonable time. The Board and the
Audit Committee conducted an annual review on effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
for the year ended 31 December 2022. After consideration of
the reports from the relevant departments, the Board and the
Audit Committee are satisfied that such systems are effective
and adequate. The Board also authorized the Risk Control
Committee to manage and implement risk control procedures.

P BB 42 1 A /R B 2
EXE2EAaNENEEAERRERER
BERERMAENRERIEENEE » LRI
RHEFREAVIAREZEFINEREERML
EFTRENANENNRREERFENEN
METEENEERSE -
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RNEEEGHI R EREERARNBERLETEESR
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EERRENZEEEENNTRRIZGRER
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The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information” published by the Securities and Futures
Commission in June 2012 to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such
information is efficiently and consistently made. The Company
regularly reminds the Directors and employees about due
compliance with all policies regarding the inside information.
Also, the Company makes Directors, senior management and
employees keep abreast of the latest regulatory updates. The
Company shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or
policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Dealing with risk is an integral part of how it protects and
creates value. Our business focuses on the development,
investment, operation and management of power plants and
other clean energy projects. Understanding emerging risks in
the renewable energy industry and establishing effective
mitigation measures show our commitment to a sustainable
development of business. We have identified a number of risks
associated with our business, which include:

Weather and climate risk — Renewable energy power plants
depend on the amount and intensity of natural resources,
which are affected by weather and climate conditions. Adverse
meteorological conditions could have a material impact on the
power plant’s output and could result in generation of
electricity below expected output, which in turn could adversely
affect our profitability.

Our response — We select renewable energy power plant
projects based on criteria such as geographical and
meteorological conditions of the site as part of our main
inspections. During the development and maintenance of our
renewable energy power plants, we cooperated with the leading
suppliers in the PRC to create and develop equipment which
can be adapted to different latitude, topography and climatic
conditions. At the same time, we built up a professional team
in respect of operation and maintenance of our existing
renewable energy power plants with strict operation and
maintenance policy and risk prevention measures.
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Policy risk — The Group’s results of operation could be
affected by tariff and government subsidies for renewable
energy which depend, to a large extent, on political and policy
developments relating to environmental concerns in the PRC
and overseas markets in which the Group operates.

Our response — The Company selects renewable energy power
plant projects with appropriate FITs or government subsidies,
and strong demand and consumption for electricity in the
locality. In the meantime, our operation and maintenance team
pays close attention to the changes of local and national
energy policies, gets timely feedback and takes corresponding
countermeasures. The Company also proactively communicates
with the local governments, grid companies and electricity
consumption enterprises to provide more electricity
transmission solutions.

Development strategy risk — Due to unclear development
strategic objectives, incomplete and unreasonable development
strategic decision-making mechanism, inadequate supervision
and failure to timely carry out evaluation and make
adjustments according to environmental changes and other
reasons, strategic decision-making mistakes may be resulted,
making it difficult to achieve strategic objectives, and bringing
uncertainties to the strategic decision-making and
effectiveness of decision-making of the Group.

Our response — In formulating our development strategies, the
Company takes into account market changes, pressure of
competitiveness, technological advancement, politics, economy
and other relevant factors to comprehensively respond to
various potential risks. At the same time, we monitor risks on
a real-time basis and conduct risk assessments on a regular
basis, and formulate corresponding countermeasures for each
potential risk. We maintain a flexible mechanism such that the
Company can respond more quickly when facing risks. We also
strengthen our team cooperation as building strong team
cooperation can enhance our ability to cope with risks.

HERRE — ~EENEEXEEERIA
A BERERNEENBAMALFZE > s
LEEMMEEREERREE LEBURN AL EK
EEH 2 TEREINTIFREBES BEUE
MIBEREE ©

HFIES — ARARRERGEaE LHEE
Yﬁﬁlrﬁﬁﬁ BEMEHERNBEERHN T
BAEE BILIEE o EILFEIRF 0 IR EH
@F%?ﬁ.%f]]Eﬁ&%ﬁ&l?ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ’]“ﬁ » K
RFEN S f BE S IR ERAB FE B FE 8 1 o AN AR JR
BREM B s ERABRAELELETE
BoORHELENWEIEFE o

BRERAEAR — BNEERREERAAE
EREBORREG T RE A, BEXE
HATAEML ; RMRIRIRIREE KR sT (L A
FIRA > PR ERBBORR KRR » e < Bk
BRELUER  UkSEEBEBERRNRR
MR RAFEEN o

HIPIES — RRABEREZERBBEE > 4R
A%FEFE ZEAE S BFES S B UE Y

VB R EMAREAR Eﬁl&éﬁ%@ BT

2o ARFRMEERERRILERETRA
|3 Ret ﬁﬁAiE—Jﬁﬁﬂ’Jﬂﬁm > il E AR FE R AR
B - ZRFIRTESERKES » UEERT
TED 3 /2 g By BB RSt R B = FRAPIIE AN 3R B B
G1F BIUBAREBKS (FR] UGS AR
BYBEZ] °

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JEntREIRBIRE R A FRAT]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 — % — " 4E4EH#i



Development and construction risk — When the Company
develops and constructs renewable energy power plants, it
must first obtain the relevant local grid company’s consent to
connect our renewable energy power plants to the local grid
and obtain the related government approvals and registrations.
Obtaining such consent for on-grid connection and government
approvals and registrations may depend on a number of
factors, including but not limited to the availability and the
reliability of existing grids, the progress of construction and the
quality of these grid connection facilities, efficiency of the
administrative bodies and the regulatory framework. Failure or
delay in obtaining such consent, approvals or registrations may
hinder or prevent the development of its renewable energy
power projects as planned. Besides that, the construction
quality is also an important factor to affect the power
generation efficiency of renewable energy power plants.

Our response — The Company employs a strict and systematic
approach to evaluate potential development projects. The
Company maintains an updated list of qualified and reliable
suppliers and third-party contractors with a proven track record
to provide EPC services, through a bidding process or through
our affiliates or other cooperative arrangements, to ensure the
qualities of their services. Throughout the development
process, the procurement and construction departments
organise tenders, communicate with bidders and coordinate
with our development teams to meet all local technical and
legal requirements for on-grid connection and the construction
of our projects. In the meantime, we also build up on-site
management team to monitor the construction quality and
make sure the construction quality meets the Company’s
standard and requirement. The Company will assess location of
development sites and secure site control for project
development. We believe that its methodical approach to
potential development of renewable energy power plant
projects, together with its deep industry knowledge, strong and
long-standing relationship with other stakeholders will lend it an
advantage in development of renewable energy power plant
projects.

REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
o8 SR

HEREIEK — A CRENERTE
SRR ELLEE > MM ELES RIS E
BREINER > EFHME AT B AR ELhE
B EMBHE > URESHERENR TSI
IPEED o pLAFAEERIS AR BE B R A B T 22 L AD 3
BEE A REBURAN ZIBERA R > BFEEFRERIR
BE i@E’J_JﬁHP_iL*DT B T EEMNEEE
ﬂLT-;c S E 2 ~ TTEI BB EN EEEE

o REESNIEE %%ﬁtﬁiﬁﬁ% ~ BHLSIRIE S
5C > AIBEPE BRI PE LR MIBEE R B B AR IR %
BIEENHE - F ITRHEIES
ABEEEREBLEEVNENEERE °

T2

BRI ES — RABBRREESMRAFILH
F5 0 REHME R AEEITINREEEIER - AR EFE
BRHECHRRIMEaER KA SNHEERE
—FABENRNMEE  BBEEEFRNES
BB B AR NEMESEZH > RETRE
R ERRT » URERBENES - 1TEE
FREHBAE T o EREEFNE T EPPIARMIRAT ~ 28
EANBEYABRMPFEEEXRE  LUnEEH
HEMBEFMNIEE R THE B MAAR
ER o EILEE > HRMMARRIZEEEREKE
MIBESETEE  UBRIBESEZIAR
BIMAZEFE K o KRN B A 1E BE B AV (L
B WHRMREBEEMENIRBES - BMHEE
RAEEPBLEEREBILEREERREKT
ENME > ERHRMEENITENG  EHEMm
MEEREENEERERG  BARMETS
SRR EILIBEE NIRRT REL o

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JtntRETREIBE A BR A H]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —-% . “4E4EH);

83



84

REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

R IR

Safety management risk — The uncertainties brought by
incomplete safety management standards, inadequate
implementation of management standards, equipment damage
due to safety accidents and hidden dangers, damage of
operation environment, occurrence of accidents or casualties
due to integrated reasons, administrative penalties imposed by
national or local safety authorities, and inability to carry out
normal production and operation, to the normal production and
operation and reputation of the Company.

Our response — We strictly study and comply with relevant
laws and policies on safety management to continuously
improve our corporate safety management organisation,
constantly revise, improve and implement corresponding
standards of safety management, strengthen the publicity and
training of safety awareness of all employees, reinforce major
responsibility of responsible personnel at all levels, improve
the Company’s two systems of production safety assurance
and supervision, continuously improve the three-level safety
supervision network, adhere to preventive maintenance and
management of equipment to ensure safe production input,
enhance the development and assessment of emergency
response capability to continuously strengthen basic safety
management standard, increase investment in technology to
eliminate potential safety hazards through digital and intelligent
means, and improve safety management level and efficiency.

Operation and maintenance risk — A majority of the
Company’s existing renewable energy power plants are
scattered across different regions in the PRC. The area in
which the Company’s power plants are located is large and the
number of devices is huge. The ongoing operation of its
facilities involves risks that include the breakdown or failure of
equipment or processes or performance below expected levels
of output or efficiency due to, among other things, wear and
tear, latent defects, design error, operator’'s error or force
majeure events. Any curtailment of electricity we generate in
the PRC could also have an adverse impact on its results of
operations.
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Our response — The Group has built up and maintained
professional operation and maintenance team to provide
preventive and corrective operating and maintenance service on
site. At the same time, the Company regularly maintains its
renewable energy power plants with an intention to enhance
the utilization rate, rate of power generation and system life of
its renewable energy power plants to the utmost. The Company
engages ground contractors who are on call to promptly
remedy any issues that may arise. The development of
transmission infrastructure and our participation in more power
market transactions, including inter-provincial renewable energy
transmission, help to mitigate loss from any curtailment of
electricity.

Overseas investment risk — The Company is exposed to
various risks in overseas expansion and investment, including
overseas policy risks, transaction risks of overseas projects
and post-acquisition management and operation risks.

Our response — The Group chooses those located in countries
with stable policies, good relationships with China and
relatively high internationally recognised ratings when selecting
overseas projects. The Group also engages intermediary team
familiar with local laws and policies and with rich similar
experience in such transactions to provide services. The
Company will select experienced operation and management
teams to operate and maintain the acquired project thereafter.

Competition risk — The Company faces competition from local
and international developers of renewable energy power plants,
many of whom are integrated with upstream manufacturers. We
also face competition from large local corporations and
multinational corporations that operate and establish their own
distributed renewable energy power projects in the PRC.
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Our response — The Company has an established track record
in acquiring, developing and operating a high quality and well
diversified portfolio of renewable energy power plants across
the PRC. Our leading market position and extensive experience
in the PRC renewable energy industry give us the opportunity
to participate in renewable energy policy discussions and
enable us to have significant influence in the development of
renewable energy industry related policies and standards. In
2013, the Company collaborated with state-owned enterprises
to establish the Photovoltaic Green Ecosystem Organisation,
which was the first organisation in the PRC that sought to
connect and encouraged collaboration among the numerous
photovoltaic companies distributed across the value chain of
the PRC renewable energy industry, and was believed to have
significantly promoted the development and construction of
renewable energy power plants in the PRC. The Company
believes that its significant scale and leading position in the
PRC renewable energy industry provide us with economies of
scale, a broad base of operational experience and resources,
bargaining power with EPC contractors and suppliers, and
significant industry and regulatory relationships, which will
continue to provide the Company with attractive renewable
energy power plant acquisition and development opportunities.

Finance risk — Renewable energy business requires intensive
capital investments. Significant amount of capital is required to
meet our capital requirements and fund our operations,
including payments to suppliers for products, equipment and
components and to contractors for design, engineering,
procurement and construction services. Our ability to meet the
payment obligations of our outstanding debt depends on our
ability to generate significant cash flow in the future and
obtain external financing. This, to some extent, is subject to
general economic, financial, competitive, legislative and
regulatory factors as well as other conditions that are beyond
our control.
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Our response — Our leading position in the PRC renewable
energy industry, the support from the Shareholders and the
strong relationships with our lending banks provide us with
access to a variety of tailored financing solutions, including
onshore solutions, such as finance lease and project finance,
and offshore solutions, such as equity financing through new
shares allotments, and debt financing through the issue of
US-dollar convertible bonds, etc. The Company plans to actively
reduce its financing costs and further diversify its channels of
financing. The Company believes its stable cash flow profile,
the long-term nature of its operation of renewable energy power
plants and its ability to raise equity and debt capital to
finance growth, providing it with flexibility to optimize our
capital structure.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code for securities transactions
by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry to each Director,
all of them have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and our own
code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zhang Xiao was appointed as the Company Secretary and
the Authorised Representative on 30 July 2019. Ms. Zhang is
an assistant vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited (FEITERBER(EE)BRLE), a
professional services provider specializing in corporate
services, and has over ten years of experience in the
corporate secretarial field. Ms. Zhang has been admitted as an
associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom in 2019. Ms. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Computer Science from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in 2010 and a master’'s degree in corporate
governance from The Metropolitan University of Hong Kong in
2018. Mr. Zhang Ping, the Chairman and the executive
Director, is the primary contact of Ms. Zhang at the Company.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of
Ms. Zhang to ensure that board procedures, and all applicable
laws, rules and regulations, are followed. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, Ms. Zhang has taken more than
15 hours of relevant professional training according to Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION

Publication of
financial reports,
announcements,

HE®

Shareholders’
meetings

BRREZ

The Company adopted a shareholder communication policy on
26 March 2013, which stipulates the objectives of the
Company in communicating with its Shareholders, both
individual and institutional, and, where appropriate, the
investment community at large. The Company aims to provide
its Shareholders timely and clear information, and allow the
Shareholders to engage actively with the Company in exercising
their rights.

Information is communicated to the Shareholders mainly
through general meetings, the Company’'s website
(http://www.bjei.com) and corporate communications including
interim and annual reports, notices, announcements and
circulars which are available on websites of the Company and
the HKEXnews and hard copies of reports and circulars that
are despatched to the Shareholders.

Websites of the
Company and the
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The Board is dedicated to maintaining an on-going dialogue
with the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings or appoint proxies to attend
and vote at general meetings for and on behalf of them if they
are unable to attend in person. Directors will make an effort to
attend and the external auditor will also be available at the
AGM to address Shareholders’ queries. In case of any general
meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval, members of the independent board committee of the
Company will also make an effort to attend to address
Shareholders’ queries. Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing
Rules, all votes of the shareholders at general meetings are
taken by poll.

Having considered and reviewed the various existing channels
of communication and the feedbacks from the Shareholders,
investors and analysts, the Board considers that the
Shareholders” communication policy has been properly
implemented and effective during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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Shareholders’ rights

Calling and putting forward proposals at a general meeting of
the Company

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”), to require a
SGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such written requisition
must be duly signed by the Shareholders concerned and to be
verified by the Company’s share registrar. Such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the provisions of
Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

To request to convene a SGM, the requisitionists shall deposit
their requisition in writing, together with the proposals to be
considered at such meeting, at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong as announced by the Company
from time to time and for the attention of the Chairman and
the Company Secretary. The requisition will be verified with the
Company’s share registrar. If it is in order, the Company
Secretary will pass the requisition to the Board for
consideration and a SGM will be convened by sufficient notice
to all the registered Shareholders in accordance with the
requirements under the Bye-laws. On the contrary, if the
requisition is invalid, no SGM will be convened and the
requisitionists will be advised of this outcome.

To put forward proposals at a Shareholders’ meeting of the
Company, a Shareholder should lodge a written request setting
out the proposals duly signed by the Shareholder concerned at
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
as announced by the Company from time to time and for the
attention of the Chairman and the Company Secretary. The
request will be verified by the Company’s share registrar. If it
is in order, the Company Secretary will pass the request to the
Board for consideration. The Board will decide whether it is
valid and appropriate to put such proposals at a Shareholders’
meeting.
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Proposing a candidate for election as a Director at a general
meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 85 of the Bye-laws, no person other than
a Director retiring at the general meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice
signed by a Shareholder (other than the person to be
proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the general
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed by
the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office (as defined in the Bye-laws) provided that the
minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s) are
given, shall be at least seven days and that (if the notices are
submitted after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment of
such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the despatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of
such general meeting.

Accordingly, to nominate a person for election as a Director, a
Shareholder shall lodge a written notice duly signed by the
Shareholder concerned at the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong as announced by the Company
from time to time and for the attention of the Company
Secretary. In order for the Company to inform all Shareholders
of that proposal, the written notice must include the following
information: (i) the full name of the person proposed for
election as a Director; (ii) the candidate’s biographical details
as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iii)
the candidate’s written confirmation on the willingness to be
elected as a Director and written consent to the publication of
the personal data as required by the Listing Rules. The notice
will be verified by the Company’s share registrar. If it is in
order, the Company Secretary will pass the notice to the
Nomination Committee for examination. The Nomination
Committee will assess the suitability of the candidate
proposed by the Shareholder and make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorship if it thinks fit and appropriate. If such notice is
received by the Company after publication of the notice of the
Shareholders’ meeting concerned, the Company will publish an
announcement or issue a supplemental circular setting out the
particulars of the proposed Director and may need to adjourn
the Shareholders’ meeting as and when required by the
Bye-laws.
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We have posted on the Company’s website the procedure for
Shareholders to convene and put forward proposals at general
meetings including proposing a person for election as a
Director, and to vote by poll at general meetings.

Enquiries

Shareholders may directly enquire about their shareholdings to
the Company’s share registrar. To the extent the requisite
information of the Company is publicly available, Shareholders
and the investment community who have enquiries in respect
of the Company may write to the Company Secretary by post
to Unit 1012, 10/F., West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong or by email to
csd@bjei.com.

The Board has reviewed corporate governance practices of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 and this
corporate governance report. It will continue to review, monitor
and improve the policies and practices of the Company for the
purpose of ensuring the compliance of the CG Code and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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The Board is pleased to present this annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and operates
its business through its subsidiaries. The Group is principally
engaged in development, investment, operation and
management of power plants and other clean energy projects.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022, and discussion of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year ended 31 December 2022 are provided in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
A discussion on the Group’s likely future business
development is provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” of this
annual report. Our risk management system and description of
the principal risks and uncertainties the Company may be
facing are provided in the “Report of Corporate Governance” of
this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year ended 31 December 2022 using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the “Five-year Financial
Summary” of this annual report.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationships with its key stakeholders and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group are provided in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss of this annual report.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK1.00 cent (equivalent to approximately RMB0.88 cent) per
ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2022
(31 December 2021: Nil). The proposed final dividend is
expected to be paid on Friday, 21 July 2023 to Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Wednesday, 5 July 2023, subject to approval by
the Shareholders at the AGM to be held on Tuesday, 27 June
2023.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for each of the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and
restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 323
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company and its
movements during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws,
or Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
repurchased a total of 28,398,000 Shares on the Stock
Exchange at an aggregate consideration (before expenses) of
HK$6,138,426. All the repurchased Shares were cancelled on

18 January 2023.

Particulars of the share repurchase are summarised as
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Aggregate
consideration
(before
Month of Number of expenses)
repurchase Shares repurchased Purchase price per Share HBAE
AR ISR AR 4= BREEE (RethA=R)
Highest Lowest
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
== =&
(B 1) () (BH)
December 2022 28,398,000 0.234 0.201 6,138,426
—E-F+"A

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no reserve
(31 December 2021: Nil) available for distribution as computed
in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
However, the Company’s share premium account in the amount
of approximately RMB9,128 million as at 31 December 2022
(31 December 2021: approximately RMB9,128 million) may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

POVERTY ALLEVIATION AND CHARITABLE
DONATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had
made poverty alleviation and charitable donation of
approximately RMB11 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB14 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers accounted for
approximately 16% and 99% respectively (31 December 2021:
approximately 23% and 98% respectively) of the Group’s total
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022. Besides, the
total amount of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of items which are not of capital nature was less
than 30% of the total purchases of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their close associate(s) or any
substantial shareholder of the Company (which to the best
knowledge of the Directors owns 5% or more of the number of
issued shares of the Company) had any interests in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Directors are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Ping (Chairman)

Mr. Lu Zhenwei

Mr. Wang Heng
(appointed with effect from 27 January 2022 and
resigned with effect from 28 June 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Bing
Mr. Su Yongjian

(appointed with effect from 25 February 2022)
Mr. Li Hao
Mr. Lu Xiaoyu

(appointed with effect from 2 November 2022)
Mr. Sui Xiaofeng

(resigned with effect from 25 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Jin Xinbin
Ms. Li Hongwei
Mr. Zhu Jianbiao

In accordance with bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, at each AGM
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third), shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years. Mr. Zhao Bing, Mr. Li Hao and
Ms. Li Hongwei, being one-third of the Directors, shall retire
from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has
entered into any service contracts with any member of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
assessed their independence and considered that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 24 to 32
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed below in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions”, “Continuing Connected Transactions” and
“Related Party Transactions” in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2022 or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2022 had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, its holding company, or any subsidiary of its
holding company was a party entered into any contract of
significance with the controlling Shareholders or any of their
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by the controlling Shareholders
or any of their subsidiaries to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or the chief executives or their associates in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HR G
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Number of Total number of Approximate
Shares/ Shares/ percentage
Name of Director or underlying underlying of the
the chief executive Shares held Shares held issued Shares”
£ Capacity/Nature of interest s,/ s,/ LB RITRN
TETBAEHS Bin /it E Ell e G HERGEE  ZHAERH
Mr. Zhang Ping Beneficial Owner 7,000,000 31,000,000 0.14%
wELSE BB
24,000,000?
Mr. Zhu Jun Beneficial Owner 1,200,000 29,250,000 0.13%
KELE BmEBA
28,050,000?
Notes: Mok -

1. These percentages are calculated based on 22,427,948,432
listed Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

2. These are the Shares underlying the share options granted by
the Company on 16 June 2022 under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 15 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of
the Directors or the chief executives or their associates had
any interests and short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO).
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions and losses which he/she may incur or
sustain or in or about the execution and discharge of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto, to the
extent as permitted by law.

Furthermore, during the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company has taken out and maintained appropriate directors’
and officers’ liability insurance to protect the current directors
of the Group and the directors of the Group who resigned
during the Year against potential costs and liabilities arising
from claims brought against them. The permitted indemnity
provision is currently in force and was in force throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022 for the benefit of the Directors
as required by the provisions of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

RELIEF FROM TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” below, at no time during the year ended
31 December 2022 was the Company, its holding company,
any of its subsidiaries, or any subsidiaries of its holding
company a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or their spouses or children under
the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for the securities of
the Company, or had exercised any such rights during the
Year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in (i) the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Equity Incentive Scheme” below, (ii) the issue
and/or movement of equity/convertible securities as described
in the section headed “Fundraising Activities Through Issue of
Equity/Convertible Securities” below and (iii)) as set out in
Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group during
the Year, or subsisted at the end of the Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Previous
Share Option Scheme”) on 19 June 2012, which has been
valid and effective for a period of ten years from the date of
adoption and expired in June 2022. In order to further
establish a long-term incentive mechanism closely linked to the
Company’s performance and long-term strategy, the
Shareholders approved the adoption of a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) at the SGM held on
15 June 2022. A total of 434,300,000 share options to
subscribe for 434,300,000 Shares were granted on 16 June
2022 under the New Share Option Scheme.

Details of the share options granted under the Previous Share
Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme to
Directors, chief executive of the Company and employees of
the Group and movement in such holding during the year
ended 31 December 2022 were as follows:
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Changes during the Year

ENER
Closing
price of
Shares
hefore the Outstanding
date of at 31
grant  Outstanding December
Exercise (HK$/share) at 1 January 2022
price HEHAM 2022 KZBZZE
(HKS/share)  FiZRfy MZFZZ% +ZR
Grantees Date of grant (] K8  —B—H  Granted Exercised Reclassified lapsed  =+—H  Exercise period
ERA b= (BRAR) (BRAK)  HXOE Rt fiff  EN7E ¥ HEKE  TERE
1. Directors
B3
Mr. Zhang Ping 16 June 2022 0.240 0.242 — 24,000,000 - = — 24,000,000 16 June 2024 to
RIERE ZE24RAHAA 15 June 2027
“EQE
NAtAEE
“EtE
NATHEY
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HE S
Changes during the Year
ERER
Closing
price of
Shares
hefore the Outstanding
date of at 31
grant  Outstanding December
Exercise (HKS$/share) at 1 January 2022
price  FMRHEH 2022 RZEZZ
(HK$/share) ~ RiZHRfd MZZZZH +ZR
Grantees Date of grant @ WBHE  —B—H  Granted Exercised Reclassified lapsed  =+—H Exercise period
EEA RHAN (BRAEE) (BRAEEK)  HXGE it it ENRE XY HAGE  IEEEE
Mr. Lu Zhenwei 16 June 2017 1.076 1 5,000,000 = = — (5,000,000) — 16 June 2018 to
ERBLE Z5—tERBtHAA 15 June 20227
ZZ-)\E
~AtREE
TETTE
~A+ERY
2. Chief Executive
Officer
BEWIE
Mr. Zhu Jun 16 June 2022 0.240 0.242 — 28,050,000 = oS — 28,050,000 16 June 2024 to
RERE ZE-TERBHH 15 June 20279
“EoRE
~AtAEE
ZECtE
AATHEY
3. Other senior officers 16 June 2017 1.076 1 183,000,000 - . — (183,000,000) — 16 June 2018 to
and employees “E—t&ERA+AH 15 June 20227
HtEHREEASR ZZ-\f
B8 ~AtREE
ZECCE
ANATHE?
16 June 2022 0.240 0.242 — 382,250,000 = — (6,560,000) 375,690,000 16 June 2024 to
ZEZERBHAR 15 June 20277
“ZTME
~AtREE
- of 3
~A+ERY
4. Others 16 June 2017 1.076 1 3,000,000 = = — (3,000,000) — 16 June 2018 to
Hth “Z—t&£7A+5A 15 June 20227
ZZ-\E
NATAEE
ZECCFE
NATER?
Total 191,000,000 434,300,000 = — (197,560,000) 427,740,000
it
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Notes:

(1) All share options granted by the Company under the New Share
Option Scheme shall vest in three tranches within a period of 3
years in proportions of 34%, 33% and 33%, i.e. 34% of the
share options (the “Tranche 1”) granted shall vest on the 2nd
anniversary of the grant, another 33% (the “Tranche 2”) shall
vest on the 3rd anniversary of the grant, and the remaining
33% (the “Tranche 3”) shall vest on the 4th anniversary of the
grant. For the share options granted under the New Share
Option Scheme in this table, “exercise period” begins with the

2nd anniversary of the grant date. None of the grantee has

been granted share options representing more than 1% of the
total issued shares of the Company.

(2) All share options granted by the Company under the Previous
Share Option Scheme shall vest in three tranches within a
period of 3 years in proportions of 30%, 30% and 40%, i.e.
30% of the share options granted shall vest on the 1st
anniversary of the grant, another 30% shall vest on the 2nd
anniversary of the grant, and the remaining 40% shall vest on
the 3rd anniversary of the grant. For the share options granted
under the Previous Share Option Scheme in this table, “exercise

period” begins with the 1st anniversary of the grant date.

A summary of principal terms of the New Share Option
Scheme is set out below:

On 15 June 2022, the Company adopted the New Share
Option Scheme at the SGM, under which the Board may, at its
discretion, offer to grant an option to (i) Directors of the
Company, (ii) senior management of the Company, (iii) core
management and technical and business personnel of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and (iv) core technical
personnel and key management personnel of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries who, in the opinion of the Board, will
have a direct impact on the overall operating results and
sustainable development of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.
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The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to attract,
retain and motivate the Company’s outstanding talents,
establish a long-term incentive mechanism closely linked to the
Company’s performance and long-term strategy, and closely link
the Company’s management and core employees with the
interests of the Company and its shareholders, thereby further
enhancing the Company’s value.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
New Share Option Scheme (i.e. 2,242,794,843 Shares) unless
the Company obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of Shares
in respect of which share options may be granted together with
any share options outstanding and yet to be exercised under
the New Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30% of the total
number of Shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted to each eligible
participant (including both exercised and outstanding share
options) in any twelve-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue.

Share options granted under the New Share Option Scheme
shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the
grantee and to have taken effect when the Company receives
the relevant granting document duly signed by the grantee on
date of grant.

The exercise price for the Shares in respect of any particular
share options granted under the New Share Option Scheme
shall be a price the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(ii)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and

(iii)  the nominal value of a Share.
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The number of Shares in relation to the share options
available for grant under the New Share Option Scheme as at
31 December 2022 were 1,815,054,843 Shares. As at the
date of this annual report, 2,242,794,843 Shares were
available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 10.01% of the Company’s total
number of issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.
No share option has been cancelled during the Year. The
number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under all schemes of the Company during the Year
(i.e. 434,300,000 Shares) divided by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue for the Year (i.e. 22,427,870,629
Shares) is approximately 1.94%.

The New Share Option Scheme remains in force for a period of
six years from the date of its adoption. As at 31 December
2022, the remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme was
approximately five years and six months.

The recognition of compensation cost of share options is
based on their fair values of the share options on grant date.
The fair values of share options granted under the New Share
Option Scheme during the Year measured at the date of grant
were determined by using binomial model. The significant
assumptions used in the model to derive the fair value were
as follows:

Date of grant
Risk-free rate

16 June 2022

Tranche 1: 2.971%

Tranche 2: 3.013%

Tranche 3: 3.035%

Expected volatility 50.256%

Expected dividend yield 0%

Life of share options (years) Tranche 1: 3 years
Tranche 2: 4 years
Tranche 3: 5 years

Fair value (HK$ million) 42.0
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After vesting, when the share options are forfeited prior to the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the “share-
based payment be transferred to the
“accumulated losses” within the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

reserve” will

The fair value calculated inherently subjective and uncertain
due to the assumptions made and the limitations of the model
used.

EQUITY INCENTIVE SCHEME

Prior to the acquisition of China Solar Power Group Limited
(“CSPG”) by the Group in 2013, the equity incentive scheme
(“EIS”) was adopted by CSPG to the effect that 25,000,000
ordinary shares of the CSPG with a par value of US$0.01 each
were issued to a trustee company (the “Trustee”).

As part of the acquisition of CSPG, 20,010,000 Shares, Series
A convertible bonds with a principal amount of
HK$40,020,000 and Series B convertible bonds with a
principal amount of HK$40,020,000 were issued by the Group
to the Trustee in exchange for the shares of CSPG held by the
Trustee. All Series A convertible bonds and Series B
convertible bonds held by the Trustee had been converted into
the Shares before the Year.

The EIS has been unilaterally terminated in accordance with its
terms pursuant to the resolutions of directors and shareholder
of CSPG passed in March 2022.
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TR R ERE 2 (R ) P RESR R 2R 8
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Rt dE R 5t 21
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(AL [ B R AR AR TSR 5t B (TR A2
5t81)) > #RIFEZ5HR) > 25,000,000 SR EE
0.01ETTHRE A BB N EE T BRERT
F—BEEAT (MEFEA) ©

EABWBTERGEENERBN—D > A%
B2 m{E5EA%1720,010,000 8% 1) ~ A58
%78 1£40,020,0007c 2 AR S AT A AR (E 35 K A
& %8 74 /B 1540,020,0007C ZBZ& 5l 7] 3 R (&
HFo URMETAFTEZREKGEEIER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the register of substantial
Shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO shows that the following Shareholders (other
than those disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures”) had notified the Company or the Stock Exchange
of relevant interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company.

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HR G

FERRMRD - BEARG REREE
h s
N_EBE__F+_A=+—H ' xREREE
HFRHEKRAIEI[6IKEFEE FERES LM
BRUTRE (EFEREETHRAEREKMD
AR (D R EREE Z ER — BT B & bR
SN EFRE R AT BRI A AT RN ~ 18
RERR D S fEHESE Z ARRIRE R K A o

RRG RERKRSBZEE

Total number of

Number of Shares/ Shares/ Approximate
underlying underlying percentage of the
Shares held Shares held issued Shares”
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest FriERR(n,/ Frisikin,/ HEBTRM
BRES iR g7/ i E EE HERNEE  ZHAERH
Beijing Energy Investment Beneficial Owner 7,176,943,4987 7,176,943,498 32.00%
REERE BEaGEEA
CMG Interest in controlled corporation 2,430,781,089% 3,442,019,329 15.35%
BERERE PREEEzER
Interest in parties acting in concert 1,011,238,240%
pursuant to an agreement under
Section 317 of SFO
RIEES RAERAIFELTHRRRTE
BER—RTBAL 2R
CMNEG Beneficial owner 579,944,250 3,442,019,329 15.35%
REMERER BEaGEBA
Interest in parties acting in concert 1,519,688,513%
pursuant to an agreement under
Section 317 of SFO
RIEES RBAERAIFELTHRRRTE
BER—RTBA LTz #ER
Other 1,342,386,566¢
it
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Total number of

Number of Shares/ Shares/ Approximate
underlying underlying percentage of the
Shares held Shares held issued Shares”
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest FriERg(n,/ Frisikin,/ B RZITRAD
BRRES, 4 B/ EHE Gl 4 HERDEE  ZBAES T
NEX Beneficial owner 274,055,449 2,099,632,763 9.36%
EmEBA
Interest in controlled corporation 186,627,621
PR LE 2
Interest in parties acting in concert 1,638,949,6937
pursuant to an agreement under
Section 317 of SFO
REBESMBEEAEILTERRE
BER—RTBA T 2R
China Huarong Interest in controlled corporation 3,048,927,933@ 3,048,927,933 13.59%
HEIZER NS NP
Huaging Solar Power Limited Beneficial owner 3,048,750,000 3,048,750,000 13.59%
ESHRERAT BEnEBA
China Merchants Securities Interest in controlled corporation 1,397,798,93719 1,397,798,937 6.23%
REEs NSy
China Structural Reform Fund Co., Interest in controlled corporation 1,216,793,3094% 1,216,793,309 5.43%
Limited (“China Structural Reform”)
TEEACEEEAREERNER RREZEzZ#ER
nEl (ThEEE hEERERE)
Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 1,216,793,309%2 1,216,793,309 5.43%
HEHHEERITROBRAR NSy
Zeng Xiangyi Beneficial owner 7,903,800 2,107,536,563 9.40%
BHE BEREBA
Beneficiary of a trust 6,403,200%%
FEEZ@EA

Interest in controlled corporation 50,948,548

NS NP

Interest in parties acting in concert
pursuant to an agreement under
Section 317 of SFO

RIEBESMBSEAEILTERRE
BER—BRTBALzER

2,042,281,015%
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Notes:

These percentages are calculated based on 22,427,948,432
listed Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

These Shares were held by Beijing Energy Investment, which is
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of BEH.

(i) 508,450,273 Shares were held by Snow Hill Developments
Limited (“Snow Hill”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
CMG; (ii) 579,944,250 Shares were held by CMNEG, which is
indirectly owned as to 79.36% by CMG;
interests of 1,216,793,309 Shares were beneficially owned by

(iii) the economic

Shenzhen Guotiao China Merchants Merger and Acquisition
P* (RYIEFABEHERERERSS

(“Shenzhen Guotiao”) via an agreement

Equity Investment Fund (L
BEE (BIREH))
between Shenzhen Guotiao and China Merchants Technology
Ltd.* CRUITHEERERRKEEERA

7)) (“Shenzhen Technology Investment”), and an agreement

Investment (Shenzhen) Co.,

between Shenzhen Technology Investment and Bosera Asset
Limited* (BRESEEFRAR)
Shenzhen Guotiao is managed by Shenzhen City China

Management Co.,
Asset”).
Merchants Huihe Equity Investment Fund Management Co.,
Limited* (RIIMIEHEZERIEREESEIEBRAT) as general
partner, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CMG; and (iv) the

(“Bosera

economic interests of 125,593,257 Shares were beneficially
owned by Shenzhen City Guoxie First Equity Investment Fund
(LPy* (RIITEH— AR IEREES B EE (BRER)) (

First”) via an agreement between Guoxie First and Shenzhen

“Guoxie

Technology Investment, and an agreement between Shenzhen

Technology Investment and Bosera Asset. Guoxie First is
managed by Shenzhen City China Merchants Guoxie First Equity
Limited* CRIITHEEEHE

as general partner,

Investment Fund Management Co.,
ERELEETEERFRAD)
wholly-owned subsidiary of CMG.

an indirect

These Shares were held by a group of Shareholders acting in
concert with CMNEG, including NEX, Pairing Venture Limited,
Magicgrand Group Limited and Sino Arena Investments Limited,
pursuant to an agreement under Section 317 of the SFO. CMG
was taken to be interested in 1,011,238,240 Shares.

These Shares were held by a group of Shareholders acting in
concert pursuant to an agreement under Section 317 of the
SFO. CMNEG was taken to be interested in 1,519,688,513
Shares.

By 5E
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ZEANLEI RN S+ _-A=+—H
B 2%1722,427,948,4328% Pt E o

ZERMEREERZEES
&ﬁ%ﬁ °

VNS S

(i) 508,450,273 KM THHEBERERZHE
2 &M B A S Snow Hill Developments
Limited (FSnow Hill1) 55 ; (ii) 579,944,250
BRB&AA Th RIB A ﬁ%@hﬁ BEHMAETR
EEBEEBEERBEES79.36% 5 ; (iii)
1,216,793,309 % B2 15 B A 75 4 2 T B4R 311 =

FREHEREREESEBLE (BRER)
(DFRYIEER) @RI ERE R miEEm /R
&?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ& NE) (TFEEER ) 2B - Uk
P ﬂ#&ﬁiﬁﬁ%@ﬂiﬁﬁ&@ﬂ (Mg ER))
ZRNMBETES - FIRFAREERER
z%ﬁ#ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%@a;ﬂI\F’E%ﬁ.ﬁ%@ﬂy%?ﬁé
ESEEERABMEFASESBASE; K(iv)
125,593,257 R AGH B A B e 5 75 FR R I T B
BN EESSBAE (ARER) (R
W—Hi)) BB E R — I EFERHE 2 e
MR AN K AERES 2 MNREERES °
Etp—HHBaRERZEEEERB AR R
JIHmBEEBEFREREESEEERAR
FAZEEBAEE

% %8R 1D 5 B B FENEX ~ Pairing Venture
Limited ~ Magicgrand Group LimitedzSino
Arena Investments Limited £ 2 —4EE24B 7S
e REE -T2 RERRERE S RAERK
BIEILTIRFI R EMRFTR - BB EEER
#121,011,238,2408% B2 19 B s ©

ZERM TR -T2 REEEESR
BB & BB 31 TIRFT R E R TH 1B
TREEWKIRAN1,519,688,513 A AER
W o
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10.

11.

12.

13.

Shenzhen Guotiao and Guoxie First, being the associates of
CMNEG, beneficially own 1,216,793,309 Shares and
125,593,257 Shares respectively.

These Shares were held by a group of Shareholders acting in
concert pursuant to an agreement under Section 317 of the
SFO. NEX was taken to be interested in 1,638,949,693
Shares.

These Shares were held by the subsidiaries of China Huarong
Limited* (FREIZERY/BINEE
, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Huarong Huaqiao Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (EREBEE
BEERDBREA owned as to 91% by Huarong Zhiyuan
Investment & Management Co., Ltd.* (ERmB2KLEEERRE
1E/AF]). Huarong Zhiyuan Investment & Management Co., Ltd. is
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China Huarong.

Overseas Investment Holdings Co.,

ERBRAT)

These Shares were held by Huaqging Solar Power Limited, which
is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of QCCI.

Among these Shares, 55,412,371 Shares were held by China
Merchants Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (BEESEEBREL
7)), which is owned as to 45% by China Merchants Securities,
and 1,342,386,566 Shares were held by Bosera Asset, which is
owned as to 49% by China Merchants Securities.

The economic interests of these Shares were beneficially owned
by Shenzhen Guotiao, which is owned as to 75.81% by China
Structural Reform. China Structural Reform is indirectly owned as
to 38.2% by CCB Trust Co., Ltd.* (B{S55sLEMREEAE) and
22.9% by China Chengtong Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (FREI&H&E

ZREBMAEMRAST), and managed by Chengtong Fund
Management Co., Ltd.* (FEEEEIEBRAE) as general
partner.

Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.* (FEIZFEAZIRITRIM
BRAE)
tree collective fund trust plan (asset allocation class 26
investment unit)* (REEE—ERBESERETLE (BEER
BH4E2655 R B B 7)) which has long position of these Shares.

is beneficiary of a trust named CCB Trust — Indus

These Shares were held by Sino Arena Investments Limited under
a trust arrangement.

10.

11.

12.

aLE}.
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#121,638,949,693 1% i1 HiER o
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ZERMTETEERBIMBERERAF
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ANEIRHEMEGEEEERNBRATNMEE
2EMBAT > HEMBEREEEFREME
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NERTEERNEZLENB R

ZERMTEEERR  EEEEWBARE
BARERRBFEA -

RZERMK T 0 55,412,3718% R () AAFE 5

FEHEBASYERNBEESESEERARN

A > %1,342,386,566 RN HIBREELEER
AR MIBREEIE °

ZERMDIREN m P EEA bEGHRE
BEHTS8I% RN FRIIERBAERES - PEH
EECEAEBEHREGETEREIAEKR
FEAHEEREBRERARA DA BEES
38.2%/22.9% N Em > THMBEEEEERER
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14.

15.

16.

17.

These Shares were held by Sino Arena Investments Limited, which
is held as to 100% by Zeng Xiangyi.

These Shares were held by a group of Shareholders acting in
concert pursuant to an agreement under Section 317 of the
SFO.

Base on the record of disclosure of interests on the Stock
Exchange, Mr. Li Alan beneficially owned 99,005,000 Shares
and had interest in controlled corporation of 510,859,422
Shares as at 31 December 2022. He was also taken to be
interested in 3,071,800,907 Shares in parties acting in concert
pursuant to an agreement under Section 317 of the SFO. To
facilitate effective investor relations, the Company undertook a
shareholder identification exercise according to Section 329 of
the SFO in July 2021. The results showed that Mr. Li Alan had
interest in controlled corporation of 493,203,422 Shares and
was taken to be interested in 3,070,795,907 Shares in parties
acting in concert pursuant to an agreement under Section 317
of the SFO.

Further to the Shareholders as set out above, as at 31 December
2022, each of Sino Arena Investments Limited, Magicgrand
Group Limited and Pairing Venture Limited, was holding
57,351,748 Shares, 492,685,935 Shares and 517,487 Shares
respectively, each being a party acting in concert with CMNEG,
Snow Hill and NEX pursuant to an agreement under Section 317
of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any
person (not being a Director or a chief executive) who, as at
31 December 2022, had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
was recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of Part XV of the SFO or who (other than a member of
the Group) was directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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14. ZFERMBABFHEEALEEmAISIn0 Arena
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15.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group conducted the following connected transactions with
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

(1)

Office Lease Agreement

On 15 March 2022, the Company entered into the lease
agreement for office (the “Office Lease Agreement”) with
Beijing Jingneng Housing Leasing Operation Co., Ltd.* (3G
RREREHELERAMREELT) (“Beijing Jingneng
Housing Leasing”), pursuant to which Beijing Jingneng
Housing Leasing agreed to lease property to the
Company for office use for a term of three years from
15 March 2022 to 14 March 2025, subject to the terms
and conditions provided therein. The total amount
payable from 15 March 2022 to 14 March 2024 is
approximately RMB789,000 per month (tax inclusive),
whereas the total amount payable from 15 March 2024
to 14 March 2025 is approximately RMB818,000 per
month (tax inclusive). The above amounts both included
the sum of basic rental, amortised renovation costs and
management fee. In accordance with the requirement of
HKFRS 16, the lease of property under the Office Lease
Agreement will be recognised as right-of-use assets of
the Group for an amount of approximately RMB23.3
million. The management fee under the Office Lease
Agreement, however, will not be recognised as
right-of-use assets of the Group.

As Beijing Jingneng Housing Leasing is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of BEH, Beijing Jingneng Housing
Leasing is a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the
Office Lease Agreement constituted a one-off connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Further details of the above connected transaction were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
15 March 2022.

FER
AEERBE_SE__F+_B=+—HLHF
EHEBEAL (EERLHRA) BETUTEAE
RiE EHRRAFHIRENRIER S o
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(2)

Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation Project
Agreement and its Supplemental Agreement

On 10 May 2022, BEIED (a subsidiary of the Company)
entered into a rooftop photovoltaic power generation
project agreement (the “Rooftop Photovoltaic Power
Generation Project Agreement”) with China Merchants
Bonded Logistics Co., Ltd.* (BEBRFHREMTAERAE)
(“CMBL”), pursuant to which (i) CMBL shall lease to
BEIED the rooftops of two warehouses located in
Shenzhen for the investment, construction, maintenance,
operation and management of rooftop solar photovoltaic
power systems by the Group to meet the business plan
of the Group for rooftop solar photovoltaic power
systems; and (ii) CMBL shall give preference to using the
electricity generated by the aforesaid rooftop solar
photovoltaic power systems installed at the rooftops
leased under the Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation
Project Agreement and operated by the Group.

On the same day, BEIED, Shenzhen Qianhai Jingping New
Energy Technology Service Co., Ltd.* GRIIBTERFEHE
R ATARFS A BRAE]) (“Qianhai Jingping”) (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of BEIED) and CMBL entered into a
supplemental agreement to Rooftop Photovoltaic Power
Generation Project Agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”), pursuant to which, among others, it was
agreed by the parties that Qianhai lJingping, as the
project company, shall (i) assume the obligation to pay
the rental for the rooftop leases on behalf of BEIED; and
(ii) have the rights to receive the relevant electricity fee
from CMBL for using the electricity generated from the
rooftop solar photovoltaic power systems. The
Supplemental Agreement has the same term of 20 years
as the Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation Project
Agreement.

Pursuant to the requirement of HKFRS16, the rooftop
leases under the Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation
Project Agreement will be recognised as right-of-use
assets of the Group for an amount of approximately
RMB13.45 million. As CMBL is an associate of CMG,
CMBL is therefore a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the rooftop leases contemplated under the
Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation Project Agreement
constituted a one-off connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(2)
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(3)

On the other hand, the sale of electricity contemplated
under the Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation Project
Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Details of which are set out under the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in
this annual report.

Further details of the above connected transaction were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 10 May
2022.

Lingcheng Qianchao Sales and Leaseback Agreement

On 23 May 2022, Dezhou Lingcheng District Qianchao
Brothers Energy Technology Co., Ltd.* (f=JNEH&EE B
SRR ARAT) (“Lingcheng Qianchao”) (a
subsidiary of the Company) and Beijing Jingneng Leasing
entered into a sales and leaseback agreement
(“Lingcheng Qianchao Sales and Leaseback Agreement”),
pursuant to which Beijing Jingneng Leasing agreed to
purchase Lingcheng Qianchao 20MW photovoltaic power
station system equipment at a total consideration of
RMB85 million, and lease the leased assets back to
Lingcheng Qianchao for lease payment, subject to the
terms and conditions provided therein. The lease term
under Lingcheng Qianchao Sales and Leaseback
Agreement shall be for six years. The total lease amount
payable (including total principal lease amount and total
estimated interest) to Beijing Jingneng Leasing under the
Lingcheng Qianchao Sales and Leaseback Agreement is
approximately RMB102.3 million. In addition, several
security agreements were entered into including electricity
fee rights pledge agreement, equipment mortgage
agreement and share pledge agreement.

As Beijing Jingneng Leasing is a subsidiary of BEH, Beijing
Jingneng Leasing is a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Lingcheng Qianchao Sales and Leaseback
Agreement constituted a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the above connected transaction were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 23 May
2022.

(3)
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(4)

Financial Advisory Agreement

On 6 July 2022, BEIED (a subsidiary of the Company),
AVIC Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (RESEEFREA
&l) (as fund manager), AVIC Securities Co., Ltd. (Ffis5
#HABPR/AT]) (as ABS Manager) and China Merchants
Securities entered into a financial advisory agreement
(the “Financial Advisory Agreement”), pursuant to which
China Merchants Securities agreed to provide financial
advisory services with respect to the proposed spin-off as
financial adviser, including due diligence, issuing the
financial advisory report and handling the road show
promotion, inquiry, pricing, placement and other business
activities in respect of the proposed spin-off. The service
fee shall be 0.4% of the proceeds raised from the
proposed spin-off inclusive of any value-added tax and
any expenses incurred.

As China Merchants Securities is an associate of CMG,
China Merchants Securities is a connected person of the
Company. Therefore, entering into the Financial Advisory
Agreement constituted a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the above connected transaction were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 6 July
2022.

(4)
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(5)

Asset Sale and Purchase Agreement

BEIED proposed to launch the ABS program on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. The ABS would be issued and
managed by China Merchants Securities Assets
Management Co., Ltd.* (HEHESFEESEEREAT)
(“CMAM”) and Ping An Securities Co., Ltd.* (FZ:5 55k
AEFE/AT]), respectively, at different phases. For the
purpose of the issuance of the ABS to be managed by
CMAM, BEIED, as the vendor and original interest owner,
would transfer the wunderlying assets as at the
benchmark date to CMAM acting on behalf of the ABS
program pursuant to an asset sale and purchase
agreement. In addition, CMAM (as the project manager)
would also enter into a service agreement with BEJN
International Holding Co., Ltd.* (JERREEBEIERERA
B]) (“BEJN”) (a subsidiary of the Company), pursuant to
which CMAM would provide management services for the
ABS program and would receive a service fee from BEJN
accordingly.

As CMAM is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Merchants Securities, which is an associate of CMG,
CMAM is a connected person of the Company. Therefore,
the asset sale and purchase agreement and service
agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constituted connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the above connected transaction were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 15
November 2022 and the circular dated 30 November
2022.

(5)
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of continuing connected transactions that are
subject to the reporting requirements under the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as below:

A. Provision of Solar Electricity by the Group to Sinotrans
Logistics and its Affiliates

On 16 December 2014, China Merchants Zhangzhou
Development Zone Silk Road Ark Carbon Asset
Management Co., Ltd.* (BB EMZEEMARE S FIKE
EEEAMRAT) (formerly known as China Merchants
Zhangzhou Development Zone Trendar Solar Tech
Limited* (3B EEMNMZERAIZEXIGERKAERAT)), a
subsidiary of the Company, and Sinotrans Logistics Ltd.*
(RINEYIRABR/AT) (“Sinotrans  Logistics”) (formerly
known as China Merchants Logistics Holdings Co., Ltd.*
B REBAR/AT])) entered into a rooftop solar
power plants framework agreement (the “Rooftop Solar
Power Plants Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which,
among others, Sinotrans Logistics agreed to lease to the
Group certain rooftops of five of warehouses, distribution
centres and other logistics network buildings being built
or to be built by Sinotrans Logistics.

On 30 November 2016, pursuant to the Rooftop Solar
Power Plants Framework Agreement, the Group entered
into the following power purchase agreements with the
designated subsidiaries of Sinotrans Logistics for the
sale of electricity generated by the rooftop solar power
plants installed by the Group on the rooftop leased for a
term of 20 years:

(a) power purchase agreement entered into between
Kunming Bangye New Energy Power Company
Limited* (ERAAFEFEEREEZERMRAE) and China
Merchants Logistics Group Yunnan Co., Ltd.* ({87
BYrREBERAIRAT), for the sale of electricity
generated from a 2.4MW rooftop solar power plant
located in Kunming, the PRC; and
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(b) power purchase agreement entered into between
Ningbo Bonded Area Zhaolian Lvbang New Energy
Company Limited* (BRI ERFH LR ERE IR
‘~8)) and China Merchants Logistics Group Ningbo
Co., Ltd.* (BERBYREEZKARAH), for the
sale of electricity generated from a 3MW rooftop
solar power plant located in Ningbo, the PRC.

((@)—(b) together, the “Power Purchase Agreements”)
Term — 20 years.

Pricing — Having negotiated on an arm’s length basis
according to the principles of fairness and reasonableness
between Sinotrans Logistics and the Group, electricity will
be supplied at a unit price which shall be calculated
based on the government prescribed price (exclusive of
tax) with a discount rate of 14% per kWh having
considered the nature of the long term electricity supply
agreement, the projected consumption of electricity
generated by the rooftop solar power plants installed at
the leased rooftops from subsidiaries of Sinotrans
Logistics with favourable lease terms to the Group and
comparable prices offered to independent consumers by
other electricity suppliers with a discount at the range of
15% to 10%. The government prescribed price on the
supply of electricity is determined by the price bureau of
the relevant provincial governments, which is subject to
adjustment from time to time.

Sinotrans Logistics is a subsidiary of CMG, and a fellow
subsidiary of CMNEG, which is (together with its parties
acting in concert) a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Sinotrans Logistics and its
subsidiaries are associates of CMNEG, hence, connected
persons of the Company. Accordingly, the above
transactions constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation Project
Agreement and its Supplemental Agreement

On 10 May 2022, BEIED (a subsidiary of the Company)
entered into the Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation
Project Agreement with CMBL, pursuant to which (i)
CMBL shall lease to BEIED the rooftops of two
warehouses located in Shenzhen for the investment,
construction, maintenance, operation and management of
rooftop solar photovoltaic power systems by the Group to
meet the business plan of the Group for rooftop solar
photovoltaic power systems; and (ii) CMBL shall give
preference to using the electricity generated by the
aforesaid rooftop solar photovoltaic power systems
installed at the rooftops leased under the Rooftop
Photovoltaic Power Generation Project Agreement and
operated by the Group. The rooftop leases shall be
recognised as right-of-use assets of the Group and
constituted a one-off connected transaction of the
Company. Details of which are set out under the section
headed “Connected Transactions” in this annual report.

On the same day, BEIED, Qianhai Jingping and CMBL
entered into the Supplemental Agreement, pursuant to
which, among others, it was agreed by the parties that
Qianhai Jingping, as the project company, shall (i)
assume the obligation to pay the rental for the rooftop
leases under the Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation
Project Agreement on behalf of BEIED; and (ii) have the
rights to receive the relevant electricity fee from CMBL
for using the electricity generated from the rooftop solar
photovoltaic power systems.

Term — 20 years.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HR G

BIEAREEBEBMEREMTIHE

A _E__FRA+TH REEE (KA
BINKIB AR R BRI REIILE
TBEYCAEE B IE B ek 0 BIL » ()VIBEBER
TR B = B 25 B AR AL F &R I AY
EEENEE » UEAERETEELRS
BELREERMRE ~ BR ~ #HE K
EREE > WERAEERREBARGE
HREBLRGNERRE ; M(i)BE B
RIRYIRBRBSER LM ETERGIEN
REBAGK (ZENREELAREZTEE W
FETNTHENEBETEAERLE) FTE
ENEN c EBEEERERIDALRERN
FAREE  UWEBRAATZ —RI4EREE
R5 o BRAEBHIINAFR RAERRS

=

R °

EH > REER  FIBRTREBERFRR
YIRe] AT e 0 fRIL  BREMEIR
5h > BEIMFRAER > ABRT ((FREE
A8 B ABARREERIIEIREN
REBREHZETEEEEHEEZS
F; R)VBERMEREIRKRGENIRE
BRMEENBNAEBBRRY AU
AR B E ©

FH — 204 o

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JtntRETREIBE A BR A H]

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —-% . “4E4EH);

119



120

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
R

Pricing — Having negotiated on an arm’s length basis
according to the principles of fairness and reasonableness,
the annual caps and other terms in respect of the
electricity fees being received under the Rooftop
Photovoltaic Power Generation Project Agreement (as
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) were
determined with reference to the designed capacity of the
rooftop solar photovoltaic power systems, the current unit
price of electricity prescribed by the relevant power supply
bureau, estimates of volume of electricity to be generated
by the rooftop solar photovoltaic power systems and the
current development plan of the Group for the rooftop solar
photovoltaic power systems at the leased rooftops from
CMBL.

As CMBL is an associate of CMG, CMBL is a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the sale of
electricity contemplated under the Rooftop Photovoltaic
Power Generation Project Agreement constituted a
continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Finance Lease Business Framework Agreement

On 15 May 2020, the Company and Shenzhen Jingneng
Leasing entered into the finance lease business
framework agreement (as supplemented by the
supplemental agreements entered into on 5 August
2020 and 9 March 2022 between the Company and
Shenzhen Jingneng Leasing) (the “Finance Lease
Business Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
Shenzhen Jingneng Leasing and/or its associates agreed
to provide direct leasing services to the Group for the
three years ending 31 December 2022, subject to the
terms and conditions provided therein.

Term — 3 years.

Pricing — Having negotiated on an arm’s length basis
according to the principles of fairness and reasonableness,
the annual caps and other terms of the Finance Lease
Business Framework Agreement were determined with
reference to the scale of the power generation projects in
construction, historical financial requirements of power
generation projects, maximum transaction amounts
proposed by Shenzhen lJingneng Leasing and market price
of the same type of finance lease assets.
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As Shenzhen lJingneng Leasing is a subsidiary of BEH,
Shenzhen Jingneng Leasing is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the Finance Lease Business
Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

2022-2025 Finance Lease Business Framework
Agreement

On 17 November 2022, the Company and Beijing
Jingneng Leasing entered into the 2022-2025 finance
lease business framework agreement (“2022-2025
Finance Lease Business Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Beijing Jingneng Leasing and/or its
associate companies will provide financial leasing
services, including but not limited to, direct leasing and
sales and leaseback services to the Group for three
years from 1 December 2022 to 30 November 2025,
subject to the terms and conditions provided therein.

Term — 3 years.

Pricing — Having negotiated on an arm’s length basis
according to the principles of fairness and reasonableness,
the annual caps and other terms of the 2022-2025
Finance Lease Business Framework Agreement were
determined with reference to the scale of the power
generation projects in construction, historical financial
requirements of power generation projects, sales and
leaseback services to be provided by Beijing Jingneng
Leasing based on existing lease, expected interest to be
incurred under the 2022-2025 Finance Lease Business
Framework Agreement and market price of the same type of
finance lease assets.
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As Beijing Jingneng Leasing is a subsidiary of BEH,
Beijing Jingneng Leasing is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, 2022-2025 Finance Lease
Business Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Financial Services Framework Agreement

On 3 July 2020, the Company and BEH Finance Co.,
Ltd* (RAEEEBFHERAS) (“BEH Finance”) entered
into the financial services framework agreement (the
“Financial Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which BEH Finance agreed to provide to the Group
deposit services, loan services and other financial
services for the three years ending 31 December 2022,
subject to the terms and conditions provided therein.

Term — 3 years.

Pricing — Having negotiated on an arm’s length basis
according to the principles of fairness and reasonableness,
the annual caps for the maximum daily deposit balance
(including any interest accrued thereon) with BEH Finance
and other terms of deposit services were determined with
reference to the maximum daily deposit balances of the
Group (including interest incurred) following the completion
of the subscription of Shares by BEH in February 2020, for
the three months from February to April 2020, the existing
business scale and operation, as well as the cash flow
requirements of the business development plan of the
Group for the next three years and the expected interest
income from BEH Finance. The annual caps and other
terms for other financial services fees were determined with
reference to the Group’s demand for entrusted loans and
credit verification services for the financial year ended
31 December 2019, the Group’s expected demand for other
financial services covered by the Financial Services
Framework Agreement for the three years ending
31 December 2022 and the Group’s plan to streamline its
financial vendor management through engaging selected
non-bank financial institution(s) to enhance management
efficiency.
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As BEH Finance is a subsidiary of BEH, BEH Finance is
a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
Financial Services Framework Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 17 November 2022, the Company and BEH Finance
entered into the 2023-2025 financial services framework
agreement, pursuant to which BEH Finance agreed to
provide to the Group deposit services, loan services and
other financial services for the three years ending
31 December 2025. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 17 November 2022 and
the circular dated 30 November 2022.

Commercial Factoring Business Framework Agreement

On 17 August 2021, the Company and Shenzhen
Jingneng Leasing entered into the commercial factoring
business framework agreement (the “Commercial
Factoring Business Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which Shenzhen Jingneng Leasing agreed to provide
factoring business services to the Group for the three
years ending 31 December 2023, subject to the terms
and conditions provided therein.

Term — 3 years.

Pricing — Having negotiated on an arm’s length basis
according to the principles of fairness and reasonableness,
the annual caps and other terms of the Commercial
Factoring Business Framework Agreement were determined
with reference to the historical recovery amount of
government subsidies from the Group’s renewable power
generation projects, the expected sales of electricity volume
of its renewable power generation projects and the
corresponding amount of new energy subsidy receivables
receivable by the Group, based on the current installed
capacity of the Group’s solar power plants in operation, the
prevailing market conditions of the fees charged for
commercial factoring services and the availability of capital
funding for the factoring business services of Shenzhen
Jingneng Leasing.
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As Shenzhen lJingneng Leasing is a subsidiary of BEH,
Shenzhen Jingneng Leasing is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the Commercial Factoring Business
Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The following table sets out the actual transaction amount and

HRRYIRERESREERZNBR
8 > BUR ill?ﬁ%%ﬂﬁ%ﬂi/&ﬁﬂ’\]%%}\
T o EHit RBEEDRAE14AST > BHE
T?Iéﬁﬁﬁ‘“ﬂfﬂnnu%&ﬁlﬁ?ﬁ EITHIAT
ZRAERTNFERERS -

TR AR LAFERERZHE_T
F+A=1+T—HLEFEZERXZERNE

the proposed annual caps for the year ended 31 December

2022 in
transactions:

respect of the above continuing connected

FEE LR :

Transaction
amount for

the year ended

31 December 2022

Annual cap for
the year ended
31 December 2022

Major type of BE_Z_Z BE_Z_Z
Continuing Connected Transactions products/services +ZB=+—H +-B=+—H
HEMERS TEERRFER LEEZRBEE LEEZEELR
A. Sale of electricity by the Group to the Solar electricity RMB1.09 million HK$9 million
designated subsidiaries of Sinotrans Logistics &KFBAEE ARB109BETT BEIEET

under the Power Purchase Agreements
4&%!*@%&—#@% s s AP INEMRAIE E I
ARBEE

B. Sale of electricity by the Group to CMBL under
the Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation
Project Agreement and its Supplemental
Agreement
AEERBEREAAZEEEBARERR S
BRERFERYTHES N

C. Provision of direct lease services by Shenzhen
Jingneng Leasing and/or its associates to the
Group under the Finance Lease Business
Framework Agreement
FNFERER,/ JEHRAREMEREER
ERBER A EBRHEERBERS

Solar electricity

yNCE S

Direct lease services

ERBERE

Nil

A

RMB27.50 million
AR#27.5088 T
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Continuing Connected Transactions

FERER S

Major type of
products/services

TEERRFEE

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HR G

Transaction
amount for

the year ended

31 December 2022

Annual cap for
the year ended
31 December 2022

BE_ZT_C BE_S_”Z
+-A=+—H +-A=+—H
LEEZRZEE ILEEZEE LR

D. Provision of direct leasing and sales and
leaseback services by Beijing Jingneng Leasing
and/or its associate companies to the Group
under the 2022-2025 Finance Lease Business
Framework Agreement

TRRERER,/ REAEADRE_S-—&
ECE T hORMEREERERBERAERR
HEZHERERDERE

E. Provision of financial services by BEH Finance
to the Group under the Financial Services
Framework Agreement
REMBRESRBRBER RN ERERS
BUAR

F.  Provision of factoring services by Shenzhen
Jingneng Leasing to the Group under the
Commercial Factoring Business Framework

Agreement

R e E R X REEFHERR:
@?ﬂ,ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%

ZHAE

Direct leasing and sales
and leaseback
services

ERBAEREREBRE

Deposit services

FRRE

Other financial services

R &R AR

Total factoring amount

RRELH

Factoring service fees

RERBE

Note: The annual cap under the 2022-2025 Finance Lease Business
Framework Agreement in the year 2022 is for the one month

ended 31 December 2022.

RMB806.82 million
AR806.82BE T

RMBZ,000 million (et
AR#1,000F & 3 @)

RMB2,356.63 million RMB3,000 million

AR#2356.635E T AR#3,0008E T
RMB0.12 million RMBZ0 million
ARE0.12BET AREI0BET

Nil RMBZ1,000 million

= ARH1,00088 T

RMB5.38 million RMB100 million
ARM5.388ETT ARB10058 T
Wi CER - EE T REREEEEBIERD

%ETM_V__EZEfL@%&I_ﬁ_
“HF+ZR=+—HIE—ER-
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
and confirmed that the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2022
were entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual course of the
business of the Group; (ii) either on normal commercial terms
or on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms
available to or from independent third parties; (iii) in
accordance with the pricing policy of the Group; and (iv) in
accordance with the relevant written agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and are in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions for the year ended
31 December 2022 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Company’s auditor has issued the unqualified letter
containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in
this annual report in accordance with rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

BN TEESEBRZERER S MIFER
BROITREEE B - £+ -"HA=+—H
IEEFEEZRBERG MFEBERXSTL | ()N A
EENBEER—MREFKBREPETIL; (i)IFR—
REBERA BN S EEEBILE = HiRHE
oy B HEEE 2 ERET L (i) RIBEAERTEE
BERETAL 5 R(v)IRIBRER E 2 HAEE 7=
513 (ERUB AT AR S IR 2 BAER % o

BRNBZ B MERERIEE A ST AEHE
(S B EF EFH LR 3000578 (RIEE])
MPEEZNBEBFEMHEENZEETIE > I
Z2B(EFRB)B740R TR EB(LTR
B PRt ERAE XX 5 AR BB R > FLAREE
BRE_ S —F#+_A=+—HIEEZF
BRAERZIEHERS °

KABZ ZHENERE EHRAIE 14A.56 1% H
AERERRRMG > ETHAEMEAER R
FHRREZFERER S 2 ERRGEH - A2
5] B M 3 P (HAZ BB R Z Bl A o
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In respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions,
the Company’s auditor has confirmed to the Board that:

(a)

nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
continuing connected transactions set out in the table of
continuing connected transactions above, nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the amount of the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set by the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HR G

jillf3
Ht
>
Il
I\
i

MATHREZFEBRAERZSZM
MEMEF GRS -

(a) HFELEIBIEMFESHMBEER
BN ERERSAREESEHE

(b) FAERREHERIRBIIS RS
RENLFEIRINEIMEREBERS
EREATHLERRAEENEER
RAETT

) RIULFEIBINEMNFTERCHMBERS
ARERSTEHTERBEREZSIZZH
REE R 1L 5 &

(d) WMEMFERMERZ RS IERERM
BREZMEEMES > RELFEIRIE
MERTHBEERBZFEBERS
NERBARABTUNEE LR -
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Save for the transactions disclosed above, all applicable
percentage ratios of the annual caps of the other continuing
connected transactions which took place during the year ended
31 December 2022 are lower than 5% and the annual caps
are all less than HK$3 million, and are therefore fully
exempted from independent shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements.

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
are set out in Note 35(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in the sections head “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this
annual report, those significant related party transactions of the
Group constituted continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from the reporting, announcement, annual review and/
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATION UNDER
RULE 13.18 OF THE LISTING RULES

Facility Agreements and Letters of Guarantee

On 9 April 2020, the Company (as borrower) entered into two
facility letters with China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation
Limited (“China Construction Bank”) (as lender) in relation to
two loan facilities for the purpose of financing the Group’s
general corporate funding requirements and refinancing the
debts of the Group (the “Facility Agreements”). Pursuant to and
subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent and
conditions subsequent set out in the Facility Agreements,
China Construction Bank agreed to make available to the
Company, two separate committed term loan facilities of up to
US$125 million (the “Loan Facility 1”) and US$25 million (the
“Loan Facility 2") (equivalent to approximately HK$971.16
million and HK$194.23 million, respectively) (collectively, the
“Loan Facilities”), respectively. The final repayment date of the
Loan Facilities of US$125 million and US$25 million will be
the date falling on 36 months and 12 months after the first
utilisation of the respective facility, and utilisation is the date
on which the relevant loan is to be drawn.

On the same date, BEH entered into two letters of guarantee
(the “Letters of Guarantee”) as guarantor pursuant to which
BEH provided a corporate guarantee in favour of China
Construction Bank as a security for the Loan Facilities.

PRI LFTIRERZ  xEBBRE_T_—F
+TZRA=+—HUEFEZENEMPFERAER
ZHEE LRFABEERB D LEXRGERS%
BFfEEELREBRBEITE T AILE
SEARETEILRRILE FEERNMAE
WREBRE °

BERFAEREAMBEALIRZ ZHBHREGES
M5 KM 5E35(b) o BRASEIRBAER 7 K&
MHERRBER S I MR BEEN  ZEEAZSF
EAMEAIRZERFERERS @ HE
BT EHRFUAZTEFRR A5 &
FEER R,/ B REHAERT o

THREE13ARIE T 2 ERES
%5
b 177 58 B R R K

ATETEFN/NH > ARE (EAER) &
FREERIRTT (CEM) R ERAE (THEER
R17) EAER) SJIMOBERYG > REA
FMEERRMEUARER Y —RIPEXESE
EREESRATERZEEBERE ((REH
%) o IRIBERBEREAIE 2 SRE G B ER
HREZSEMGEENRE > PERRIETHRR
BAEATIREMEBIIALETHENRE &
S2ENRAI12EEET ((ERREL) &
25EEET ((BEFRRME2)) (DREERLNB
971.16 B B T KA 19423 B & 1) (Mg A
ERREL) c 125B8ETM25EEETZE
AREREBENHPRAERRESNENR
EAE36EARI2EAER > mMENFEL A
FAEERINEH °

REA > REEBERERAT LMD ERE
(THERERL) > BIE > REEBE MNP RERIRT
RHEDARBELREER  (FRERREZRE -

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JLEAENBIRE R A L AT

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 — % — " 4E4EH#i



The Facility Agreements and the Letters of Guarantee provided
that if at any time: (i) BEH ceases to be, directly or indirectly,
the single largest shareholder of the Company; (ii) the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of People’s Government of the Beijing
Municipality* (IR T ARRNEEEELEEEEEZED) or any
other agencies designated by the State Council of the People’s
Republic of China* (FFZE A RHEFMEIEFEPE) (the “Commission”)
ceases to be, directly or indirectly, the single largest
shareholder of BEH; or (iii) the Commission ceases to be able
to direct the affairs of BEH and/or to control the composition
of the board of directors or equivalent body of BEH, then the
Loan Facilities may, upon notification by China Construction
Bank, be cancelled and all outstanding amounts will become
immediately due and payable.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 9 April 2020.

The Company has repaid the loan made under the facility
agreement of the Loan Facility 2 in April 2021 and the
specific performance obligations imposed on BEH and the
Commission under the facility agreement of the Loan Facility 2
have been released.

As at the date of this annual report, the specific performance
obligations imposed on BEH and the Commission under the
facility agreement of the Loan Facility 1 continued to exist.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to date of
this annual report, no Director is considered to have interest
in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, pursuant
to the Listing Rules, other than those business of which the
Directors were appointed as Directors to represent the interest
of the Company and/or the Group.

POSITIONS HELD BY DIRECTORS IN
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report, to the
best knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors is a
director or employee of a company which has an interest in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HR G

MEMERIERERE » HIEARE ()R
EEETBERNBER/EI AT ZE—RKK
B (NIRMARBRAEEEEEEEERES
ZREMEMPEARLNBERBREKBN
BigE ((£88) TEEERNEEAREER
ZB—RARE; S((iNlZEETBENETR
EEERZEBR/ AEFREERCEEETNR
HFEME AN AIERBE RN FEZERR
TRRENEREN 0 TARAREES AR IR
ZURRFEAT ©

BRE—IHE F2RARFAP/ATZZ
TENMARBZRASE

ARABER_BE_—FHAEEREERME
2HIRME HRFHHNERKRIREERRE 2098
BN TREEEREZEENHEERNE
O AERR o

RAFHRAH  REERHELNRE BEH
MyREEMRZEGZRERNEBRES
1T o

EENHGFUHEB 2 ES
NEE_ZE_ 4+ -_B=+—HLEEEKE
EARERBE > B LHRA > HEEFHA
AEFEER (BRENEE) RERTERINE
KrEED HESEZTARERERLT
R/ RAEBERMSEAZ EFRFRIN

EFNRRPIEEREI

RAFREFRESREEABZBE —HK
BEIN REFERMAN > BIEEFEA BN
I1n SARRERR (D R EEA IRIBRB S R EHRH S
XVEBSE 2 K 37 BMR X A M A A BR R R m BY
ABNEFHES -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
the “Report of Corporate Governance” of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees, including the Directors,
based on their performance, qualifications,
competence and prevailing market comparables. Remuneration
packages generally comprises salary, incentive scheme,
contribution to pension schemes and bonuses relating to the
individual’s performance and contribution to the Group’s
business. The remuneration policy of the Directors is reviewed
by the Remuneration Committee.

experience,

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to Directors, senior management of the Company and
eligible employees of the Group. Details of the Share Option
Scheme are set out under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this annual report.

The remuneration policy of the Directors is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee. The determination of emolument of
the Directors had taken into consideration their expertise, job
specifications and prevailing market comparables.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The senior management’s total remuneration paid/payable for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (including all executive
Directors) by band is as follows:

AW S S
IExEn

BERAABRNEBE_E__F+_A=+—H
FEEBTFOEEATI ZHBHNEAERZ
MEEEARREIA

Bl <& B R

FAERZHES (BRES) 2XKR KR -&
B BENRIBITHHAILERER > 8T RE
ToMETE—REBEAEARRERESEE
BEBEMBERE £  HEEH 8« BIAFE
HRAKRIEAL - EFZHMBRDHFMEES
=

AAT DIRMBREH B LEBES  £A
EREREABRAEEAERES o BB
HesT B2 SIS RBN AR RS B — i o

EFHWERBEFHNEEEER BEEESZ
MEREERBREZFXNH - TFEERER
THENAIERER -

EFhEREER M

BE_Z__F+°-A=+—HLEE B
T/ EABREER (BE2BRTES) Wi
Mi4RERsEE T ¢

Number of
Remuneration bands senior management
i E SREEE A
Nil-HK$1,000,000 T -##1,000,0007T 10
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 751#£1,000,001 7T/ 1,500,0007T =
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 75#51,500,001 7T/ 12,000,0007T =
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 782,000,001 t-A12,500,0007T 1
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 7812 500,001 75— 13,000,0007T 3
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000 78 13,000,001 7578 143,500,000 2
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
up to the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2022.

FUNDRAISING ACTIVITIES THROUGH ISSUE OF
EQUITY/CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

The Company did not conduct any fundraising activities through
issue of equity/convertible securities during the year ended
31 December 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established its Audit Committee since
14 March 2000. Currently, it consists of three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Ms. Li Hongwei and Mr. Zhu lJianbiao, and one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Zhao Bing. The Audit Committee is
chaired by Ms. Li Hongwei who is an independent
non-executive Director having the relevant professional
qualification and expertise in financial reporting matters.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

AUDITOR

Grant Thornton was appointed as the auditor of the
Company by Shareholders following the retirement of
PricewaterhouseCoopers at the adjourned AGM held on 3
November 2020.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been audited by Grant Thornton, who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for
re-appointment of Grant Thornton as auditor of the Company
will be proposed at such meeting.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

Details of the events of the Group occurring after the date of
statement of financial position are set out in the Note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The directors’ report was approved by the Board on 30 March

2023 and signed by the chairman of the same board meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Q GrantThornton
2 [E

To the shareholders of Beijing Energy International Holding
Co., Ltd.
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Beijing Energy International Holding Co., Ltd. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 143 to
322, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

EEEE
HRBFFRNDRERMANERFE > DAY

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the ZHEIZAMBREMNBIRAEENSEIE © %

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

SFEEDNRAMBABRESYBRRMEE
ERFETRE  HATTHZSFTREMHRE
BHER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key Audit Matters
BB EIR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAINEMAREZEE

Revenue recognition on tariff adjustment on electricity sales

EHE BIEBABINA T

Refer to Note 4.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

F2RREMHBREMEES 1) -

We identified the recognition of the Group’s revenue
on tariff adjustment on electricity sales as a key audit
matter due to the significant management judgement
involved in determining whether each of the Group’s
operating power plants had qualified for, and had met,
all the requirements and conditions as required under
the prevailing government policies and regulations for
entittement of the tariff adjustment and accordingly,
the timing and eligibility of accruing revenue on tariff
adjustment.

B SEEBHHEESEMBAWAREH 5 %R
RESHEE HTEREE EEEXKLETLERTES
B RS EIEE ML 2 RITBUN I RIRGIE TR
ERPRBEZRRIGMY - EME Tt EEBMAUWARE
MRERMERER Y REANEIEREFIE -

The Group recognised revenue on tariff adjustment on
electricity sales of approximately RMB2,315 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 in which the
applications for tariff adjustment of certain on-grid
solar power plants of the Group are still pending as
there is an ongoing process where the period for
application is opened on a batch by batch basis.
BE_Z__F+HA=+—HILFE > EEEMSI
NENHEBEBFMLNBANR ARTE2,31588 T’
SR EEEETHAXGREZEBILDAFREE B
B0 BB B A B ERE R SR  WARERT
TTEZEITH ©

Our audit procedures in relation to the recognition of
the Group’s revenue on tariff adjustment on electricity
sales included:

EMs BEEBHHESEMMNBARDETNS
SIEFBE

obtaining an understanding of key controls in
connection with the recognition of tariff
adjustment;

THRARIEEMEAMNEIZENEE ;

obtaining an understanding of the policies and
regulations set by the government authorities on
tariff adjustment on sales of electricity in this

industry;

TERBAT AT EPENHE BERALTIERE
AR

obtaining relevant supporting documents, for

example, power purchase agreements and tariff
approvals issued by the PRC government; and
ESERASZIF S > RSB ek e P EIBUT 25
HEEMX ; &

assessing whether the previous applications of
the group entities operating the solar power
plants for the entitlement of the tariff subsidy
were successfully completed against the
historical record of the Group.

20 SEEBERR  TLEEKRGEZEELN
EEBERLARFENEERLEDSBIBFIHIEZ o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T AR

Key Audit Matters
R E st B

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

EICEER B E G

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEANESHMAREZEE

Refer to Note 4.2(a) and Note 18 of the consolidated
financial statements.

IR MR S B KM 5E4.2(a) K i 5E18 ©

The Group has development rights to develop and
operate hydropower projects (“Development Rights”) in
the People’s Republic of China. As at 31 December
2022, the Development Rights amounted to RMB869
million and classified as intangible assets.
EEEBEANFPEARENEREREEKEEENFH
Bk (TR E) MBS+ "HA=+—0H0 #%
HEERAREIOEB T N EABRTEE -

Management tests for impairment of the Development
Rights annually or when there are impairment
indicators. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group did not recognise impairment
intangible assets as detailed in Note 18. Independent
professional valuations are obtained to support
management’s estimates on the recoverable amounts
of the intangible assets. The estimated recoverable
amounts of Development Rights are determined based
on value in use using the discounted cash flows
approach and various key assumptions and estimates
including;:
BEESFINERBENREHFERETRER
= oo MM A8FRsF I BE B “F+"A=+—H
tFE SERTEESETLEEREBDE EEE
BENETEXEME  UFHERTLEEIWEEEE
Bfhst o BRI INEIS BN IREERFTRRES
MEAFENGREERSERARRRNGSAETS > &
1

loss of

the probability to utilise these Development
Rights to develop the relevant hydropower plant
projects;

F A Z S EERZEARRKEILEE R ;

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of the Group’s intangible assets included:
ZMs BEEEEEBEENRENGETHNEFARERE
1’

inquired of management on the market
intelligence of the development and changes of
renewable energy industry policies in the PRC and
made reference to industry and analyst research
reports in considering if there are impairment
indicators;

REEEARRRE BEEREEBRNERME
{ENTIZIER > W2ETENDMEMARRS > &
BREETRENR ;

considered the competency, capability and
objectivity of the independent professional valuer
by considering its qualification, relevant
experience and relationship with the Group;
BBETREBIIEXEGEMNER  HELER
B BEENEG  TREUEEGHEMNBEE
B BEIREERN,;

involved our engaged valuation specialist in our
discussion with the external valuer and
management to understand the rationale and
assess the appropriateness and consistency of
the methodology used and the assumptions and
estimates applied;

W RBERMEENLEER MR FIEINBEE
%&%@ﬁ%ﬁ% BT MRPRER R 7 £ K PR FE FR R

AR E WA EERE N —% ;

obtained the Group’s development plan and
inquired of management about the status of the
construction of the hydropower plant projects and
their plans to be executed within the expected
timetable;

BiE SEENEESE > TnEEEMRREKERL
HENEREE RSN ERRBRASERN
2 ;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
LoNA T i

Key Audit Matters
RSBt EIE

Impairment assessment of intangible assets (Continued)

EICEER B E L (B

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESAMAREZEE

utilisation hours, electricity price growth rate,
operating expenses for maintaining the power
plants and construction costs of the projects;
and

MARY  EEEEX  HEELNESERANE
BHEEMA ; &

discount rates used for individual projects for
Development Rights.
FEAEEE BB ERITRE -

We focused on this area because the carrying values
of the intangible assets are significant to the
consolidated financial statements and the impairment
assessment requires the use of significant judgements
and estimates to determine the recoverable amounts.
These estimations are also subject to uncertainties.

EMFEATEAE > REABREEENEREERGRS
MBHRERMEBEKRN > MAETEREEERERHE
R st RIEE AU EIEEE c ZZ M TEFENREEN

assessed the appropriateness of the utilisation
hours, electricity price growth rate, operating
expenses for maintaining the power plants and
construction costs by reference to the historical
and current industry data for the renewable
energy industry in the PRC, which are obtained
through market research and interview with
relevant authority, and the historical operating
data of the Group; and
2EBBETIZMERERRAERHRBISHNHE ]
BARRTENBIREATERER S5EN
LA EHE > sTEF AR - BEERX - HE
BUNEERSIAESINENBEEY ; &

evaluated whether the discount rates used for
individual projects for Development Rights are
within reasonable ranges by considering each
individual project’s risk profile, the probability of
the completion of the hydropower plant projects
of Development Rights through industry data
obtained and historical achievement of the
Group’s prior acquisition plans.
miBERESEEEERRREARR > FRFEITE
gk BEEEBTWHESSINETMMISETR
PSS RERY7K BB LG IB B O BT AE M » ST A1) 1E B ;YR
ERPMANITREXZTENSEHEERN o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T AR

Key Audit Matters

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FARE T HIE EMMBEA MR EZEER

Business combinations

EBESH

Refer to Note 33 to the consolidated financial | Our audit procedures in relation to the business

statements.
BRI iR 5 M BB R MI5E33 o

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
completed several acquisitions. Management assessed
the nature of the acquisitions by assessing if there
are economic resources and business processes
associated with them. Management determined
whether the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
under respective acquisitions constituted a business
and therefore the transactions were accounted for as
business combinations.

REEZZZ_F+A=+—HIFE> BEEE
MRETWHEEE BEREEFRATHESEETAMEKE
EEAMZRBEERIEB T EMIAHBEEE *
B EEEEENAENEEETWE & E REAE
ZEBEREEN—IEER  UWNETCHEN =SRR8
RAREFEHIIR

Accounting for business combinations requires the
Group to allocate the purchase price to the assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, and identified intangible
assets based on their estimated fair values at the
date of acquisition.

(¥BEHARREREE SE£EBENWEBRZ ARG
SARBENREEERENEEE - AEABEREHT
mLEE -

Independent external valuations have been obtained by
the Group to support the fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. In aggregate,
goodwill and bargain purchase gains recognised in the
consolidated financial statements as at and for the
year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB194
million and RMB7 million.
EEEBERSEEIIISEENEERBEEE RAEAR
ZANE BHERZBEENGN 2 "_F+-A=
+—BEEBEZHIEFEZGERHBRRAD B S
EHARBIMAEE TR ARKEIBE T -

combinations included:

RAMEFSHETHESEFERE !

discussed and inquired of management on their
basis in determining the nature of the
transactions to assess the economic resources
or business processes associated with the
acquisitions and thus management’s assessment
of the acquisitions being accounted for as
business combinations;

mil P EEE LT AR ENEERZME
R B DEMhES TR ENEEERSR
KEEREDMREZ RN EEIEBHRZZ
EHE MRS ;

considered the competency, capability and
objectivity of the independent external valuer by
considering its qualification, relevant experience
and relationship with the Group;
BBERBUINSEEMNES  HESER
B BEEENGF TREBUINIBEEMZSHE
B~ HEE D REFEMT ;

discussed with the external valuer and
management to understand the rationale and
assess the appropriateness and consistency of
the methodology used and the assumptions and
estimates applied;

BONEB (L ERT R BIRfE 5T em > U 7 IR I T P
AR EURFIERRSE RGtHEE N R—
i
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
LoNA T i

Key Audit Matters
RSBt EIE

Business combinations (Continued)

EECH (&

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAINE

st R R ZEIR

The fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed were determined by using the discounted
cash flow (“DCF”) approach and various key
assumptions and estimates including;:

WEEERAEEBZANEEEBERITRESRE
(MFIRIRERE)) ERLRERBRRREEE > 815!

= insolation/utilisation hours, electricity price
growth rate, operating expenses for maintaining
the power plants and construction cost of the
projects; and
HER AR BEEEX  HESUHNESE
RARBEERESRNA ; &

— discount rate.

HIR o

We focused on this area because the carrying values
of the identifiable intangible assets and the bargain
purchase amount are significant to the consolidated
financial statements and the valuation methodology
and key assumptions require the use of significant
judgements and estimates. These estimations are also
subject to uncertainties.

EPFEFERE > RERA#ANREEENKREE
REEBECHHGEMBREAMSBELR > MR
MkFEBREEZFEAE ARG c ZEMFTTF
TERFEEM o

assessed the appropriateness of the insolation/
utilisation hours, electricity price growth rate,
operating expenses for maintaining the power
plants and construction costs by reference to the
industry data obtained for the renewable energy
industry in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) and the historical operating data of the
Group as well as those of the acquirees;
K2EPPEAREME (THFE) aTBEEIRT
ERENENMER BEERBRKERELEE
FIRTEHR AR BEIEEX  HEBI
NEERETREZMAZEEN ;

evaluated the appropriateness of the discount rate
by considering each individual project’s risk
profile' and

BEEEERNERABKRTEITRENEER
ﬁ,&

evaluated the management sensitivity analysis on
the key assumptions and estimates applied
within the DCF.

AR ITIRIE S R S & E P IE A R RIERE
STRVEIEE SR DT o

R K fh
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
2022 annual report of the Company, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T AR

HithErl

EEFERHEMENKESE - AthENSET
qY BRI BE__FFBRANNRBEER >
MERNEEREMBRERFZFILBENRS -

HAHGEEMBTRENERENREHME
k> AT HZEEMEREREATTAN

S I 4t A
ESTE 4 ©

HEEHANGSMBREROES > RANEE
SHABBHMEN > FILBES > EEEMER
RERGEEMTRENRMESERETHRT
BOBERFEERBEREUFFEEAER
BRALAYIS T » RFFHFICAITHTAF - 5T
BmEMERFEEAERERL  HFAFTER
SZFE WAL T ETERERENEE -

EEMGAMBRRKENSE

EFAEREEEBGHMNAGRONEBYT
REZEARBE(AEA) REREEMAFH
REMBHRE  THHEIBREESMBRE
BRE N FERAGFRERMENNERIER
BRLFT R AMEEZES -

ERFEESMBRERE  EF88HE 85
TREEENE > MEBRBR MREER
BIEEARNEE UhERFECERTS
R RFEFAER BEEBRIELE
2o WA EAMBERNENALE

EXREEABERZEENHP TEE 85
B BREBIE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
LoNA T i

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

;Z%kﬁﬁt%%ﬁ%éﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ@ﬁ
£

RANEE DY GAMEREEEEE G
RN R ST ER N EA SRR RES
BRE T HEOERME R ORMMBRE o
RFERERE— N\ —E (AT E0fE(E
B BT (EARE) RS BRI KBRS
BImEMBN - REFERARSHNBEE
EIEMA LS FREEEFEE o

BERIBIEKTHMRE  EFEREZRE
BESHERETHES  ER-EARBRMIT
R AR IR o SAERMRA P LR EREFEEEER
51 > WS ERMKNE B BICEBERAER
BRoVMBBRRERAERBEGE S BRRME
HBVETRE > I A RARIE R R AT R F &
* o

AREBEEBESTERETEANBEREF > HM
ERTEEHE  RIEFT7TEZESREE - &M
IR -

A M ST R ERGF R SR M E AR A ]
BHIRREFEEAERRIERERE - Rt Kk
HITESEFUEREZERR > LURER
TRNBENERE  (FARMAERN
EE o AREGFRIBE S e dRsk ~ e~ B
BiER -~ ERERA > 30BN AEEEZ
+ o FtRAERRRRFMERNEXE
R RSN REHRAERME
HERERRABI AR

THRAESHERN BRI 0 LRETEE
NEEF > BENLIEE SEEANI
EENAMMERER -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T AR

MM ES A MBRERAENT
£ (48)

HEBEFEMRA I HRVIGEE R
ZEtAstMERMKRENGIENK -

HEERAFECE S ERNGEN
TR SR o IRIFFTEERIESHRE » BE
ROFEREFENBRAEBNENTHE
ENE - EmAREERY BEEIREK
ERENELEEARRE - HEMARAEFEE
AAFEEN > AL EERHBENRS PR
BAEAEIRFEEMBHREPIERRK
B - REARNKETE - RIETRMA/M
ER o BfIRERILIRBEBERHMRS
HEALEPREVISRIE SRS © 28 » RAKRE
HNBRAEEN SEEEEFEKL

HEAR S M IR R T - 18
MAR > BERE  URGEMHBREE
BAFRRBARRZMEE o

i EREERERNEFIHNMBE
FHERTE B B EREHERE - WEHR
GVBRERERER - RfjgaE E&EE
FEA R ~ EENANIT - HAVERE
ERAEEHEE-

PREMEIRS > HARERZEGEE T 5HE
NESAHEERFEZHURERES RS
BERMAERS THE EABEZENEAER
ERFG o

HPITMEZEZESFLER > RBPHFAET
GERMBUMNEREXRERER > THARS
BEAFEGEMND AT ERMBIIEN
PREMBMNAEMER  UREERNERT
RLUH RSB I M E £ BB B ITEI SURENBI
S ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
LoNA T i

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor

Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

30 March 2023
Chiu Wing Ning
Practising Certificate No.: P04920

REMMB R EMBRR]EENT
£ (%)

NEBEREZEGEBNERTD  HMBEHE
HEGEYBRRNESRAEEZSIR
MAB AR R E ST FIR - MAIERHMRS P
MEFFE  FRIFERIVER P AT ARMKE
ZEFE > HAEBBEERNBERT > HEERE
HERMARSTERERFREANEERRIE
BEENARIE » AIRFPREFEERS S
BB EE o

BFE (FR) SHMEHBRERAE
HETEET

EARE

B IFE 285k

FE 8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AR e TH R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_T__F+_A=t+—HLEE

Note 2022 2021
B 5T —E-= BT —F
RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEETT AEBESBT
Sales of electricity BENHE 1,800 922
Tariff adjustment BEmA 2,315 1,903
Revenue A 5 4,115 2,825
Other income Hug A 6 51 17
Employee benefits expenses BERAESZ (FEIEUEK
(excluding share-based DAERZ(AHNMAS)
payment expenses) 7(a) (351) (201)
Maintenance costs B (123) (83)
Legal and professional fees FEREEER (35) (32)
Tax and surcharges MERMME (35) (27)
Other expenses Hihsz 1 8 (122) (102)
EBITDA? EBITDA? 3,500 2,397
Acquisition costs arising from EREHEENIRIBR A
business combinations (23) (25)
Depreciation of property, plant Y2 BB AREITE
and equipment 16 (1,244) (765)
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEETE
assets 17 (72) (33)
Bargain purchase gains arising E(EFEHEENZERE
from business combinations W &= 7 263
Fair value losses on financial BRARBESAEGNEHE
assets at fair value through ENRRNEEE
profit or loss 9 (1) (3)
Fair value losses on financial BRARESAEGRNEME
liabilities at fair value through BERA R EREE
profit or loss 10 (22) (40)
Finance income BMEUWA 11 38 129
Finance costs L E A 12 (1,514) (1,110)
Impairment charge on property, ¥ -~ RE&RRERESZH
plant and equipment 16 — (7)
Impairment charge on financial THEERESZH
assets 3.1(b) (25) (65)
Provision for compensation LB G (35) L
Share-based payment expenses LR A ERESZ (HHIEE 2 7(a) (5) =
Share of profits of investments  E{EFEAEREARNKLE
accounted for using equity ikl
method 20 19 16
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMEBATRERE 19(c) — (6)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
I"ﬂ‘ (=] *Eﬁﬂ%%

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_Z__F+_RA=+—HLFE

Note 2022 2021
B 5% = Jomnlnl B
RMB’million RMB’million
AREEETT ARBEEBETT
Profit before income tax FRET1SHR A F 623 751
Income tax expenses FriSit > 13 (151) (101)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEGEF 472 650
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO 5 A L RELEF
Equity holders of the Company AT H#EmIFTAE A 269 564
Non-controlling interests JEERR = 203 86
472 650
EARNINGS PER SHARE ERTERITE AEMN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY FRERN
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 15
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EAREES (ARED) 1.20 2.51
# EBITDA represents earnings before acquisition costs arising from  # EBITDAIERRE B E Hf E LM UER A « i

business combinations, depreciation, finance income, finance
costs, income tax expenses, fair value adjustments, non-cash
items, non-recurring items, bargain purchase gains arising from
business combinations, impairment charge on property, plant
and equipment, impairment charge on financial assets, provision
for compensation, share-based payment expenses, share of
profits of investments accounted for using equity method and
loss on disposal of subsidiaries. EBITDA is not a measure of
performance under Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
but is widely used by management for monitoring business
performance of a company from operational perspective. It may
not be comparable to similar measures presented by the other
companies.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

wre EmPaRR
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZEZ_ I+ _A=+—HILEE

2022 2021
—EF —ET—fF
RMB’million RMB’million

ARBEETT ARBEETT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR EEE G 472 650

Other comprehensive (loss)/income EHt&E (§518) ks
Iltems that may be reclassified to profit BIFEE#T 7 EZEEmHIIEH
or loss
Currencies translation differences B E =58 (389) 81

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for ZEEEHMEME (B18) s
the year, net of tax OpRIRIE (389) 81

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR ZFERHEUREE4E%E
THE YEAR 83 731

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ THUALTELESEERE

INCOME FOR THE YEAR (B518) Wz 48 %8
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Equity holders of the Company KNBERTA A (120) 645
Non-controlling interests JEERR R 203 86
83 731
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ISl LR IR

As at 31 December 2022
RZIEZ_HF+-HB=+—H

Note 2022 2021
B 5% = Joinl B
RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEEETT AEBBEE T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB R 16 32,374 26,172
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 1,680 1,083
Intangible assets mLEE 18 1,166 972
Investments accounted for ERERAARNKLE
using equity method 20 736 279
Other receivables, deposits and  HMEWRIE « HE£ &
prepayments TR RRIE 23 4,548 1,038
Pledged deposits BIRIRFENR 24 947 939
Deferred tax assets IR IEE B 29 12 5
Total non-current assets RS ELEEE 41,463 30,488
Current assets WEBEE
Financial assets at fair value BAREST ABmB TR
through profit or loss B5E 21 34 39
Trade, bills and tariff FEURERIE ~ ZER R EER
adjustment receivables AL FE WL BRIE 22 8,296 7,552
Other receivables, deposits and  HMEWRIE « £ &
prepayments SiENENEE] 23 3,459 3,175
Pledged deposits BIRIRERR 24 1,829 91
Restricted cash ZRFIIRE 24 10 —
Cash and cash equivalents BENIBEEEY 24 5,237 4,814
Total current assets MENEELEE 18,865 15,671
Total assets BEMRTE 60,328 46,159
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEkaE
Equity attributable to equity AT ERIFE AEGLER
holders of the Company
Share capital [ 25 1,924 1,924
Reserves & 4,067 4,169
5,991 6,093
Non-controlling interests JEITERE R T 4,192 3,191
Total equity W 4R AR 10,183 9,284
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022
REE e B = -—[8
Note 2022 2021
B 5E s B
RMB’million RMB’million
AREEET AREEETT
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Convertible bonds A ES 26 355 346
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMMER 28 29,585 24,261
Lease liabilities HESE 17 1,068 563
Deferred income BEIEW A 26 16
Contingent consideration A B
payables 27 19 —
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEE S 29 482 366
Total non-current liabilites ~ Fm@pafmgsE 31,53 25,652
Current liabilities mEaE
Other payables and accruals HEN IR ESTER 30 4,332 3,507
Lease liabilities HEaRE 17 71 38
Contingent consideration FENRARE
payables 27 2 =
Bank and other borrowings SRIT R EMMER 28 14,205 7,778
Total current liabilities 3 mgefes 00 18610 11,323
Total liabilities BE4E%E 50,145 36,875
Total equity and liabilities Em Kk BEREE 60,328 46,159

These consolidated financial statements on pages 143 to 322
have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on
30 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf.

Mr. Zhang Ping
REFRE
Chairman

EY

HINBI143E3222EMAFHRGMBHREREL

EEEgRN _ T _=F£=F=
HNFIEFREE o

Ms. Li Hongwei
FaOBEL
Director

EF

BH#tETE > I
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ey RESR SR T %

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZE__HF+_FB=+—HULFE

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company
FAREEREAES

Shares held
under equity
Share-based incentive Non-
Share Treasury Share payment scheme  Translation Other Statutory  Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares premium reserve (“EIS”) reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
RIELE
B
NEha  (RERE
BBy ) ET
BE  EERR  RGEE  AREE  SANRG  BEEE O HMBE  tedE  2a6H &t FEREZ 0 BEAE
RMB'milion ~ RMB'milion ~ RMB'million ~ RMB'million ~ RMB'million ~ RMB'milion ~ RMB'millon ~ RMB'millon ~ RMB'millon ~ RMB'milion ~ RMB'milion  RMB'million
\EWEER AREBER ARWESR AREEER ARBEER ARNEER AREEER ARFEER ARMEET ARWEER ARMEET ARWEE:R

At 1 January 2021 W-2--%-B-H 1,924 = 9,128 197 (73) (134) 10 434 (6,169) 5,317 338 5,655
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit for the year FEERF - - - - - = - - 564 564 86 650
Other comprehensive Hth2E K

income - - - - - 81 - - o 81 - 81
Total comprehensive 2ERHER

income = = = = = 81 = = 564 645 86 731

Transactions with equity ~ ERHFEEANLE

holders
Acquisitions of subsidiaries  WEEHIBAT (H:£33)

(Note 33) - - - = = - - - s i 10 10
Lapse of share options BRELY = - - (4) - - - - 4 - - -
Capital contribution by non-  BBIEERERIELE

controlling interests (FitzE25(d))

(Note 25(d)) - - - - - - 121 - - 121 2,879 3,000
Disposal of a subsidiay ~ HEHBAT

(Note 19(c) (M3E19(c) - - - - - - - - - - (21) (21)
Release of reserve upon  FFEEMIE A FRRER

deregistration of a WEE

subsidiary = = = = = - 10 - - 10 (10) -
Dividends declared to BEEREEERKRE

non-controlling interests = = = = - - b - - - (85) (85)
Transfer to statutory BREETHE

reserves = = = = = = = 179 (179) - - -

- - - o) - - 131 179 (175) 131 2,767 2,898

At 31 December 2021 RoBz-%

+ZB=+-A 1,924 - 9,128 193 (73) (53) 141 613 (5,780) 6,093 3,191 9,284
At 1 January 2022 W-2-_%-B-H 1,924 - 9,128 193 (73) (53) 141 613 (5,780) 6,093 3,191 9,284
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit for the year REEER - - - - - - - - 269 269 203 42
Other comprehensive loss ~ Efti2EHFHE - - - - - (389) - - - (389) - (389)
Total comprehensive 2EREER
income - - - - - (389) - - 269 (120) 203 83

Transactions with equity ~ BERBEHANRS

holders
Share-based payment MRAAERNR
(Note 25(c)) (HtzE25(c) - - - 5 - - - - - 5 - 5
Lapse of share options BRELN - - - (59) - - - - 59 - - -
Capital contribution by non-  BEBIFAREFIEE
controlling interests (FitzE25(d))
(Note 25(d) - - - - - - 18 - - 18 982 1,000
Dividends declared to BEERREERKE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - (184) (184)
Repurchase of ordinary B ZER (H5£25(0)
shares (Note 25(b)) - (6) - - - - - - - (6) - (6)
Transfer to statutory ERENS
reserves - - - - - - - 248 (248) - - -
Safety production resene  Z2AERME
(Note 25(g)) (MizE25(e) - - - - - - 1 - - 1 - 1
- ) - (54) - - 19 248 (189) 18 798 816
At 31 December 2022 |k St
+ZA=+-H 1,924 ) 9,128 139 (13) (442) 160 861 (5,700) 5,991 4,192 10,183
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SRE BB R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_T__F+_A=t+—HLEE

Note 2022 2021
B 5 —E-- TE T —F
RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEETT AEBBEE T
Cash flows from operating REEHIRERE
activities
Cash generated from KREXEBMELIRSE
operations 32(a) 3,069 1,097
Income tax paid BEIPTEHR (168) (1112)
Net cash inflow from operating #&EEFHIRERAFE
activities 2,901 986
Cash flows from investing KEEHRENRE
activities
Payment for acquisition of an FLUE — R E A B
associate (59) —
Payment for acquisitions of LUK EEMT B A B
subsidiaries, net of cash OB EIRE
acquired 86 (1,153) (2,099)
Net cash outflow from disposal HEMWEASTNIRE
of subsidiaries piiifanp=:EE 19(c) — (5)
Settlement of financial assets at #&&EZA MNEST AETH
fair value through profit or loss SRBE 4 —
Increase in deposits for R E R IE
investments (933) (1,853)
Amounts due from investments  FEUREREREARK
accounted for using equity KETEE
method 5 6
Changes in consideration WHEHT B A BN ERN
payables for acquisitions of pitd)
subsidiaries (178) 120
Interests received BUF 2 33 91
Capital expenditures BAZH (6,419) (2,845)
Net cash outflow from investing REEFEFMNIRE AL IFEE
activities (8,700) (6,585)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AR Bl R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HETZE__HF+A=+—HIFE

Note 2022 2021
B 5E —E_C B
RMB’million RMB’million

ARBBEERT ARBEETT

Cash flows from financing MEFTEBRERE

activities
Capital contribution by non- BB RIS

controlling interests 25(d) 1,000 3,000
Principal elements of lease HENRN ARSI S

payments 17 (55) 9)
Interest paid on lease liabilities BE{IfAE&EF] S 17 (31) (7)
Interests paid on bank and other B{JiR{T &R EMERFE

borrowings (1,420) (961)
Interests paid on convertible B AR ESHE

bonds 26 (13) (6)
Dividend made to non-controlling A IEIERSHE = /EHE R AE B

interests (179) (85)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted = [R&HIIRE (E0),ED

cash (5) 42
(Increase)/decrease in pledged ERFER (g R

deposits (1,706) 539
Proceeds from bank borrowings  $R1T &R AIFR1SRIE 18,942 14,440
Repayment of bank borrowings BIRIRITER (9,190) (6,153)
Proceeds from loans from RESHEE L ERAE

financial institutions E QL] 4,596 1,720
Repayment of loans from BERBTHMBEEZER

financial institutions (5,478) (2,852)
Repayment of medium-term notes fE#&RHEAZHE — (300)
Repayment of senior notes BEREEBLAEE — (720)
Proceeds from other loans KEHMERWAERE — 56
Repayment of other loans TE%HTJ@%‘% (364) (154)
Payment for repurchase of b ACIR =SR-SR N e

ordinary shares 25(b) (6) —
Proceeds from issue of TR ESHFSRUE

convertible bonds 26 — 320
Transaction costs for issue of BT MBS 5 A

convertible bonds 26 — (4)

Net cash inflow from financing FIEEENRERAFEE
activities 6,091 8,866

Net increase in cash and cash RE&ERIBLEEYIEMFEE

equivalents 292 3,267
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIVEEEY

beginning of year 4,814 1,577
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREH

changes 131 (30)
Cash and cash equivalents FEXRERHEEEEY

at end of year 24 5,237 4,814
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda. The principal place of business in Hong Kong
is Unit 1012, 10/F., West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong HKong. The
ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange.

Beijing Energy Investment, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability and wholly owned by BEH,
is a direct controlling shareholder holding approximately
32.04% of the issued share capital of the Company. BEH
is a state-owned company in the PRC indirectly wholly-
owned by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of People’s Government of
Beijing Municipality.

The Group is principally engaged in the development,
investment, operation and management of power plants
and other clean energy projects.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB and rounded to the nearest million (“million”),
unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
presentation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated. The consolidated financial statements are for the
Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

AR e S AR B

— iR E &

RAR A —EREREFMERZNER
28] o H 5 it 5= 5 # ik % Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda ° & BH F EE 2
I AE BT8P 168-2005RF = 0
FAZR 10181012 o A/A B BV & 8 AR X Bt
RFrEMR ET ©

REERE (—EREBEMM LR ARAE
EEE2EHRENARAR) REATERE
ERRR > AR ATN32.04%E E1T
R - REEEE R —HRIIRTARBA
HEEEREEERZEEMELERA
NPREEERE -

FEBTENERE  RE - EEREE
BEBIREMBREERERE ©

BRI ARBEI » ZFFEETUHRRDU
ARBEY) > RFIBMEHSNEERESR
WEET(ME8T) °

FEGHEREE

2IZEREMBREKNAEANEE
SEBREIINT o BRAARBEIN > Z
FHREEMEBRNAMBZIINEE -
REMBERERDMAER (BERRATK
HNBRE) RS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR R B

2

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JLEAENBIFE R A AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. The consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
include the applicable requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for the revaluation of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and the
financial liabilities at FVTPL which were carried at
fair values.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’'s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.
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2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(a)

Investigation

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Board established an independent
investigation committee which had engaged an
external independent professional advisor to
conduct an investigation which identified that
(1) certain deposits and other payments were
made to NEX and its related entities; (2)
deposits were made to Shenzhen Zhiyuan
Renewable Energy Company Limited (“SZZY”)
of RMB500 million; and (3) certain payments
on behalf of NEX Group of approximately
RMB303.7 million were made to one of the
limited partners of a previous joint venture of
the Group. Further details of the
investigation, financial impact and responses
by the Board are described in the Company’s
2019, 2020 and 2021 annual reports and
announcements dated 12 May 2020, 13 May
2020, 9 June 2020, 19 July 2020, 31 July
2020, 28 September 2020, 30 March 2021
and 29 March 2022.

Since the year ended 31 December 2019,
accumulated impairment charge of
approximately RMB1,137 million
recognised in the profit or loss in respect of
the matters above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR R B

2

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JEntREIRBIRE R A PR AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(a)

Investigation (Continued)

During the Year, NEX Group transferred (i)
equity interests of certain companies in the
PRC with valuation of approximately RMB4
million in total and (ii) cash of RMB22 million
to the Group for settlement purpose. The
Management considered there was sufficient
provision for impairment on the remaining
balances due from NEX Group. Accordingly, no
expected credit loss was recognised for the
Year.

Subsequent to the Year, NEX Group
transferred cash of RMB6 million to the
Group for settlement purpose.

On 28 March 2023, the Group entered into
the third revised settlement agreement with
NEX Group, which was an extension of (i) the
settlement agreement signed on 24 August
2020; (ii) the first revised settlement
agreement signed on 29 March 2021; and
(iii) the second revised settlement agreement
on 28 March 2022 (details are set out in the
Company’s 2019, 2020 and 2021 annual
reports respectively).
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2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(a)

Investigation (Continued)

Pursuant to the third revised settlement
agreement, NEX Group agreed to transfer (1)
equity interests of certain companies
operating solar power plants in the PRC in
which the fair value of those equity interests
amounted to approximately RMB30 million;
and (2) approximately 274 million shares of
the Company held by NEX Group amounted to
approximately RMB44 million as at 28 March
2023, to the Group for settlement of the net
balances due from NEX Group, which are
expected to complete on or before 31
December 2023. In addition, NEX Group
agreed to pledge approximately 460 million
shares (including approximately 274 million
shares as mentioned in (2) above) of the
Company held by NEX Group as collaterals to
the NEX settlements to cover any remaining
unsettled balance.

The Company commits to keep its
shareholders and the public informed of all
material information to appraise the
Company’s position by way of announcements
on the websites of the HKEXnews and the
Company, including but not limited to market
updates of all material information where
applicable.

2

o MR R B

TEGHBERE (8)
21 HHEEGE
(a) FHE (&

RIBE=ZMNEEITE&EH
% NEXEEREmAEEE
BLETEPRSEKRRSGE
BRBWHNABNKE  ZF
RN AREBETEAS AR
308 BT ; M(2)NEXE H
ATE_=F=H_+/N\H
FAENL274 B BRAAFE
7 TBABANRELI4EE
7T » LIS EEIINEXE B SRR
B RN S =F
+ZA=+—HHZAI5E
BY o BN > NEXEE B [ =3 8
NEXEBEFEMNA4605 5K
KAB RS (B1F EXXFE Q)
TEFTAL AT 274 B B R AN AE
B&1RD) YEANEXAS B RYIE IR &
B EREEGRHAEEDN

—+ AL
AEER ©

KRB AEBBEEBRS
R B2 5 48 i Fe A A B) 48 1k
EMATHNAEN AERR
RAFBERB B EEAE
RANFFEEREN > 8
BRERRAEEZERNT
BB WER) °

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JtntREREIBE A BR A H]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —-% — “4E4EH)

155



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A e I B PR b

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Changes in Accounting Policy and
Disclosures

() Amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022

In the current year, the Group has
applied for the first time the following
amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the
Group’s operations and effective for the
Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022:

Amendments to Property, Plant and
HKAS 16 Equipment —
Proceeds before
Intended Use
Amendments to Onerous Contracts —

HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract
Amendments to Reference to the
HKFRS 3 Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to Covid-19-Related
HKFRS 16 Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June
2021

Amendments to  Annual Improvements

HKFRSs to HKFRS
Standards 2018-
2020
Accounting Merger Accounting for
Guideline 5 Common Control
(Revised) Combinations

The adoption of these amended HKFRSs
had no material impact on how the
results and financial position for the
current and prior periods have been
prepared and presented.
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2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these
consolidated financial statements,
certain new and amended HKFRSs have
been published but are not yet
effective, and have not been early
adopted by the Group.

Amendments to Disclosure of
HKAS 1 and Accounting
HKFRS Practice Policies?*
Statements 2

Amendments to Definition of

HKAS 8 Accounting
Estimates?
Amendments to Deferred Tax related
HKAS 12 to Assets and

Liabilities arising
from a Single
Transaction*
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
and Related
Amendments?

Amendments to Lease Liability in a
HKFRS 16 Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to  Classification of

HKAS 1 Liabilities as
Current or Non-
Current and
Related
Amendments to
Hong Kong
Interpretation 52
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A e I B PR b

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures

(Continued)
(ii)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities
HKAS 1 with Covenants?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution
HKFRS 10 and of Assets between

HKAS 28 an Investor and its
Associate or Joint

Venture®
& Effective for annual periods beginning

on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024

8 Effective date not yet determined
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2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b)

Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

(i)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies”

The amendments to HKAS 1 require
entities to disclose material accounting
policy information instead of significant
accounting policies in its financial
statements. The amendments also
provide some guidance on how material
policy information are being identified
and provide some examples of when
accounting policy information is likely to
be material.

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Making
Materiality Judgements” to provide
entities with non-mandatory guidance on
how to make materiality judgements
when preparing their general purpose
financial statements in accordance with
HKFRS. HKFRS Practice Statement 2
was subsequently revised to provide
guidance and examples on how to apply
the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

(i)

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JtntREREIB A PR H]

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies” (Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 1 are
effective for annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and are applied prospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. Except for the
disclosures of accounting policies in
Note 2 to consolidated financial
statements may need to be revised to
cope with the above changes, the Board
expect that the amendments have no
other material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of
Accounting Estimates”

The amendments clarify how entities
should distinguish changes in
accounting policies from changes in
accounting estimates by introducing a
definition for accounting estimates,
which is now defined as “monetary
amounts in the financial statements that
are subject to
uncertainty”.

measurement
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b)

Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

(i)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of
Accounting Estimates” (Continued)

Besides, the amendments also clarify
the relationship between accounting
policies and accounting estimates by
specifying that an entity develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the
objective set out by an accounting
policy. Accounting estimates typically
involve the use of judgements or
assumptions based on latest available
reliable information. A change in
accounting estimate that results from
new information or new development is
not correction of an error. Therefore, the
effects of a change in an input or a
measurement technique used to develop
an accounting estimate are changes in
accounting estimates if they do not
result from the correction of prior period
errors. In addition, two illustrative
examples are added to illustrate how to
apply the new definition of accounting
estimates.

The amendments are effective for
annual reporting period beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and are applied
prospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. The Board expect that the
amendments have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

(i)

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JtntREREIB A PR H]

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 and Amendments to
HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)

The amendments provide further
guidance to clarify how to classify debt
and other liabilities as current or non-
current which are summarised as
follows:

It clarifies that a liability is non-
current if an entity has a right
(instead of unconditional right as
stated before the amendments) to
defer settlement of the liability for
at least twelve months from the
end of the reporting period. This
right has to be existed at the end
of the reporting period, regardless
of whether the lender tests for
compliance at the date or at a
later date;

Any expectations about events
after the reporting period do not
impact the assessment made at
the end of the reporting period as
to the classification of the liability;
and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

(i)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 and Amendments to
HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

“Settlements” are newly defined as
a transfer to the counterparty that
results in the extinguishment of
the liability. The transfer could be
of cash, other economic resources
(e.g. goods or services), or entity’s
own equity instruments. Thus, if
the counterparty conversion option
is classified as liability under
HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments:
Presentation”, the transfer of
equity instruments by exercising
the conversion option constitute
settlement of liability for the
purpose of current or non-current
classification of liabilities. One
exception to the definition is that
if the counterparty conversion
option is classified as equity in
accordance with HKAS 32, the
transfer of equity instruments by
exercising the conversion option
does not constitute settlement of
liability and would be disregarded
when determining whether the
liability is current or non-current.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

(i)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 and Amendments to
HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

2022 Amendments issued in 2022
clarified that only covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, which
an entity must comply with on or before
the reporting date (even if the covenant
is only assessed after the reporting
date) affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Those
covenants to be complied with after the
reporting date do not affect the
classification of loan arrangements as
current or non-current at the reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

(i)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 and Amendments to
HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)

(Continued)

Besides, the 2022 Amendments
required an entity to provide additional
disclosure when a liability arising from a
loan agreement is classified as non-
current and the entity’s right to defer
settlement is contingent on compliance
with future covenants within twelve
months. The information provided should
enable users of financial statements to
understand the risk that the liability
could become repayable within twelve
months of the reporting period,
including;:

the carrying amount of the related
liabilities;

information about the covenants
(including the nature of the
covenants and when the entity is
required to comply with them);
and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures
(Continued)

(i)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 and Amendments to
HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

facts and circumstances, if any,
that indicate that an entity may
have difficulty complying with
covenants. Such facts and
circumstances could also include
the fact that the entity would not
have complied with the covenants
based on its circumstances at the
end of the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also deferred
the effective date of the 2020
Amendments to the annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024, in which both amendments are to
be applied as a package and apply
retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. The Board expect that the
amendments have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity where
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity
(held by the Group and others) are
considered. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the
Group (Note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains and losses on transactions
between group companies are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

2

o MR R B

FEGHBERME (7)
22 AHRARESEHEE

(a)

Hi/& 28]
MEBASISAAEEERE
HREHN—)EE (BEGERIE
BiE) - EXREEMASHEZ
B B2 A K 75T L A £ 0] 3R K
ZREBIAENSFARD
W WAEEHBBHENER
AN T EREEARMOR
B RIRERZERZERE -
EFLEEENERESHE
BEREAOR  EERARER
BEAREH (AEERKREM
BEFRFEE) - B ATMRE
BB EAEE BIES
BirE AR EEERIER
IEEEAIE -

NEBRBWE S AR E
BEaHAR (MFs£2.3) °

EBARNREBERS &
kR ZARER W MR
HEREREGYHRRE
Hif - RERBBETIH
HoERXZAEEREEATE
HEEEHRBERRR -
MEARMNESHERERSR
FERFHARE  MUERE
REBEFTIRMEER—2R ©

Bt /BB A B F AR K am FRYIF
ERE@Z DN GEEED
X -RFEEEERZR &FE
EmEEHRREETHRR
RPEBEY -

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JtntREREIBE A BR A H]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —-% — “4E4EH)

167



168

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JEntREIRBIRE R A PR AT
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —% . “4E4EH;

Associates and Joint Ventures

Associates are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not control
or joint control. This is generally the case
where the Group holds between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting (see (c) below), after
initially being recognised at cost.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of
the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when
decisions relating about relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

Equity Method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from
associates and joint ventures are recognised
as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

2

EESTBEREE (8)

22 EHRAKREDGEE (B

(b)

(c)

BERAREELE
BMENREAEENHEAE
REENETHERER#N

HEZEGEN—ERE &8
BERLTY AEBEFHE20%
ES0%H I ZHE o R L &2
AR RBERQABN

RERERZSTE(BETX
(c)) AR ©
EETtEL—TBEETH

RIL - R Z L P RES]
BN HHEREARER
HFEFEE - HEEHIRETE
J%’ﬂﬁ%mf—(?ﬁ%ﬁ“ﬁ% ’
ERERESRARAEHRE
ZERENE S -—BEENE
R EIE e

1%

REBEEDEsHE RER
WA HERERELU
RiGEEmREIEERE
HREHRKBRIEF HE
B WREES 2 E W m & E
BEEEREREHRHAh
2EWmAEE - EUWEIE
WEE AR REEEFENR
BRESAREREENR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Equity Method (Continued)

Where the Group’s share of losses in an
equity-accounted investment equals or
exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates and joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note
2.9.

Changes in Ownership Interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control as transactions with equity
holders of the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between the
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount of the adjustment to
non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting
(Continued)

(d)

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JtntREREIB A PR H]
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —-% —. “4E4EH

Changes in Ownership Interests (Continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss. This fair value
becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in the other
comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in the other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or
transferred to another category of the
consolidated statement of changes in equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or
an associate is reduced but joint control or
significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Acquisitions of Subsidiaries

(a)

Business Combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for all business combinations,
regardless of whether equity instruments or
other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred

liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquired business

equity interests issued by the Group

fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, and

fair value of any pre-existing equity
interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s
net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR R B

2

BEIJING ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDING CO., LTD. JEntREIRBIRE R A PR AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

Business Combinations (Continued)

The excess of the:
consideration transferred,

amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity, and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
those amounts are less than the fair value of
the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference, after reassessment,
is recognised directly in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Where the consideration the Group
transferred in a business combination
includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consider